# THE MALAYSIAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES Volume 16, No. 4 ISSN 13-94-195X e-ISSN 2180-4303 2009



Penerbit Universiti Sains Malaysia



## THE MALAYSIAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

#### Editor

Jafri Malin Abdullah

Assistant Editor Irfan Mohamad

#### **Production Editor**

Wan Ilma Dewiputri Wan Burhanuddin

#### **Editorial Board Members**

Zabidi Azhar Mohd. Hussin, *Paediatric Sciences* Ab. Rani Samsuddin, *Dental Sciences* Asma Ismail, *Medical Biotechnology* Gregory Y.H Lip, *Cardiovascular Medicine* Harbindarjeet Singh, *Physiology* Syed Hatim Noor, *Statistical Editor* Steven Frank Morris, *Surgical Sciences* Alister Craig, *Tropical Medicine* Bello B. Shehu, *Surgical Sciences* Saxby Pridmore, *Psychiatry* 

#### **Advisory Board Members**

Khairul Anuar Abdullah, *Malaysia* Mustaffa Embong, *Malaysia* Tatsuo Yamakawa, *Japan* Clive S. Cockram, *Hong Kong* Shunichi Araki, *Japan* Kam Chak Wah, *Hong Kong* 

#### Production

Wan Ilma Dewiputri Wan Burhanuddin Siti Nor Qamariah Ismail

#### Publisher

PENERBIT USM Bangunan D34, Universiti Sains Malaysia 11800 USM, Pulau Pinang

© Penerbit Universiti Sains Malaysia, 2009

Zainul Fadziruddin Zainuddin, Medical Biotechnology Wan Mohamad Wan Bebakar, Endocrinological Sciences Rusli Nordin, Community Medicine Mohd. Razali Salleh, Psychological Medicine Rogayah Ja'afar, Medical Education Rahmah Nordin, Parasitology Azlisham Mohd. Nor, Cerebrovascular Sciences Armando Acosta, Vaccinology Maria Elena Sarmiento, Tropical Molecular Medicine

Pratap Chand, USA Mafauzy Mohamed, Malaysia David H Lawson, United Kingdom Brendan Gerard Loftus, Ireland Timothy M.E. Davis, Australia Aw Tar Choon, Singapore

Opinions expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Editorial Board. The MJMS Editorial Board assumes no liability for any material published therein.

## LIST OF REVIEWERS - 2009

MJMS would like to acknowledge the people listed below for their contribution as reviewers during 2009. Their efforts tremendously help to improve the quality of submitted manuscripts.

No.	Name	Institution	Country
1	Jennifer Abbey	University of Tasmania	Australia
2	Azian Abdul Aziz	International Islamic University Malaysia	Malaysia
3	Faraizah Abdul Karim	National Blood Center	Malaysia
4	Abu Bakar Abdul Majeed	Universiti Teknologi MARA	Malaysia
5	Noran Abdul Majid	Univeristy College Sedaya International	Malaysia
6	Noor Azman Abdul Rahman	Hospital Sultanah Aminah	Malaysia
7	Suhaimi Abdul Wahab	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
8	Hasmah Abdullah	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
9	Asma Abdullah	Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia	Malaysia
10	Baharudin Abdullah	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
11	Gaurav Agarwal	Sanjay Gandhi Postgraduate Institute of Medical Sciences	India
12	Tahir Ahmad	Universiti Teknologi Malaysia	Malaysia
13	Rashidi Ahmad	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
14	Atif Ahmed	Children's Mercy Hospitals, Missouri	USA
15	Shamim Ahmed Khan	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
16	Ibrahim Hussein Al-Ayed	King Saud University	Saudi Arabia
17	Murat Alemdar	Sakarya Yenikent State Hospital	Turkey
18	Mamdouh Moawad Ali	National Research Center, Cairo	Egypt
19	Hanan Al-Kadri	King Saud Abdulaziz University	Saudi Arabia
20	Mazita Ami	Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia	Malaysia
21	Gerhard Andersson	Linköping University	Sweden
22	M Archontaki	General Hospital of Rethymnon	Greece
23	Priti Arun	Government Medical College & Hospital Chandigarh	India
24	Zamzil Amin Asha'ari	International Islamic University Malaysia	Malaysia
25	Daniel Athanazio	Federal University of Bahia	Brazil
26	Le Le Aung	National University of Singapore	Singapore
27	Muhterem Aydin	University of Firat	Turkey
28	David Baguley	Cambridge University Hospital	United Kingdom
29	Alan G Barnard	Queensland University of Technology	Australia
30	Ashok Bedi	The Carl C. Jung Institute, Chicago	USA
31	Moncef Berhouma	Pierre Wertheimer Hospital	France Malauria
32	Biswa Mohan Biswal Manal Bawhaimad	University Sains Malaysia	Malaysia Kunnait
33	Manal Bouhaimed	Kuwait University	Kuwait Croatia
34 25	Nada Bozina Monique Brink	Zagreb University School of Medicine Radboud University Nijmegen	Croatia Netherlands
35	Caroline Brown	University of California San Diego	USA
36 37	Mulazim H Bukhari	King Edward Medical University	DSA Pakistan
37 38	Anna Capasso	University of Salerno	Italy
30 39	Angelo Carpi	University of Pisa	Italy
39 40	Ding-Chen Chan	National Taiwan University	Taiwan
40 41	Pimlak Charoenkwan	Chiang Mai University	Thailand
42	Pongparadee Chaudakshetrin	Mahidol University	Thailand
43	Fadzli Abdullah Cheah	KPJ Ipoh Specialist Hospital	Malaysia
44	Samuel Chong	National University of Singapore	Singapore
45	Seema Chopra	Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education & Research, Chandigarh	India
46	Peggy Sau Kwan Chu	Tuen Mun Hospital	Hong Kong
47	Tock Hing Chua	Monash University Malaysia	Malaysia
48	Kevin Couper	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine	United Kingdom
49	Jeremy Crew	Churchill Hospital Oxford	United Kingdom
50	David Croser	Dental Protection London	United Kingdom
51	José das Neves	University of Porto	Portugal
52	Kamaliah Daud	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
53	Fernando L. Dias	Instituto Nacional de Cancer	Brazil
54	Guang-Hui Ding	Shanghai Tenth People`s Hospital	China
55	Kazem Djavadkhani	Loh Guan Lye Specialist Centre	Malaysia
56	Vita Dolzan	Institute of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Ljubljana,	Slovenia
57	Erik Driessen	Universiteit Maastricht	Netherlands
58	Prahlad Duggal	Sri Guru Ram Das Institute of Medical Sciences & Research	India

No.	Name	Institution	Country
59	Zulfi Engindeniz	Acibadem Bursa Hospital	Turkey
60	Gokhan Eraslan	Universiti of Erciyes	Turkey
61	Mohd Ariff Fadzil	Universiti Teknologi MARA	Malaysia
62	Supan Fucharoen	Khon Kaen University	Thailand
63	Minoru Fujiki	Oita University	Japan
64	Alena Gabelova	Cancer Research Institute of the Slovak Academy of Sciences	Slovakia
65	Paul Gallagher	St. James's Hospital	Ireland
66	Rajendra Kumar	Gandhi Medical College and Associated Kamla Nehru and Hamidia	India
6-	Ghritlaharey James L. Glazer	Hospitals Maine Medical Center	USA
67 68			Israel
69	Doron Gothelf Leigh Hale	Tel Aviv University University of Otago	New Zealand
70	Che' Wan Aminuddin Hashim	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
71	Mohamed Osama Hegazi	Al-Adan Hospital	Kuwait
72	Olof Heimburger	Karolinska Institute	Sweden
73	Alison Heru	University Colorado	USA
74	Anna Hielm-Bjorkman	Helsinki University	Finland
75	Yee Yee Hla	International Medical University	Malaysia
76	James F. Holmes	University California Davis	USA
77	Sandra Hopkins	Curtin University	Australia
78	Ben (Bixing) Huang	Queensland Health, Forensic and Scientific Services	Australia
79	Musheer Hussain	Ninewells Hospital and Tayside Children's Hospital	Scotland
80	Gabriel Ianosi	University of Medicine and Pharmacy of Craiova	Romania
81	Zamzuri Idris	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
82	Ilina Isahak	Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia	Malaysia
83	Noor Azina, Ismail	Universiti Malaya	Malaysia
84	Hairuszah Ithnin	Universiti Putra Malaysia	Malaysia
85	Yasuhiro Ito	Kuma Hospital	Japan
86	Hasnan Jaafar	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
87	Muhammad Farid Johan	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
88	Khalid Kadir	Monash University Malaysia	Malaysia
89	Shriprakash Kalantri Uillal Kanti Dal	Mahatma Gandhi Institute of Medical Science	India Malausia
90 01	Hillol Kanti Pal Michael Kanlan	Universiti Sains Malaysia Shaare Zedek Medical Center	Malaysia Israel
91 02	Michael Kaplan Masayuki Karaki	Kagawa University	Japan
92 93	Ravindran Katheerayson	Pantai Hospital Penang	Malaysia
93 94	Phil Keeling	South Devon Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust	United Kingdom
94 95	Joon Joon Khoo	Monash University Malaysia	Malaysia
90 96	Eser Kilic	Erciyes University	Turkey
97	Niels K. Kjaer	University of Southern Denmark	Denmark
98	Dean Chi-Siong Koh	National University Hospital	Singapore
99	Juraj Koppel	Slovak Academy of Sciences	Slovakia
100	Michael Koukourakis	Democritus University of Thrace	Greece
101	Juergen Kropf	University Hospital Marburg	Germany
102	Raghavendra Kulkarni	BLDEA's College of Pharmacy	India
103	Umah Rani Kuppusamy	Universiti Malaya	Malaysia
104	Bostjan Lanisnik	University Clinical Center, Maribor	Slovenia
105	Fatimah Lateef	Singapore General Hospital	Singapore
106	Way Seah Lee	University of Malaya	Malaysia
107	Chee-Onn Leong	International Medical University	Malaysia
108	YiLi	Peking Union Medical College Hospital	China
109	Yau Yan Lim	Monash University Malaysia	Malaysia
110	Lynne HY Lim	National Universiti Singapore	Singapore
111	Gregory YH Lip	University of Birmingham	United Kingdom
112	Adhemar Longatto-Filho Maa Laa Looj	University of Braga UKM Medical Melandar Biology Institute	Portugal Malaucia
113 114	Mee Lee Looi Nurahan Manina	UKM Medical Molecular Biology Institute Hospital Paia Parampuan Zainah	Malaysia Malaysia
114 115	Nurahan Maning Madhavan Manoharan	Hospital Raja Perempuan Zainab Saveetha Medical College	Malaysia India
115 116	Abdul Halim Mansar	Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia	Malaysia
117	Nadja Maric	Institute of Psychiatry, Belgrade	Serbia
117	Tal Marom	Edith Wolfson Medical Center	Israel
119	Carlos Martinez	Universidade São Francisco	Brazil
120	Scott McLean	Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh	Scotland
121	Brendan McMullan	Sydney Children's Hospital	Australia
		-	

List of Reviewers - 2009

No.	Name	Institution	Country
122	Mohd Aznan Md Aris	International Islamic University Malaysia	Malaysia
123	Mohd Khairi Md Daud	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
124	Malek Md. Abdul	Bangladesh Atomic Enegry Comission Center	Bangladesh
125	Sharifudin Md. Shaarani	Universiti Malaysia Sabah	Malaysia
126	Dennis L. Merritt	University of California Berkeley	USA
127	Amal Mitra	The University of Southern Mississippi	USA
128	Mohamed Ashraf Mohamed Daud	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
129	Muhammad Shamsir Mohd Aris	Universiti Malaysia Sarawak	Malaysia
130	Norazmi Mohd Nor	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
132	Azlisham Mohd Nor	Plymouth Hospital	United Kingdom
131	Norazah Mohd Suki	Labuan School of International Business & Finance	Malaysia
133	Norhafizah Mohtaruddin	University Putra Malaysia	Malaysia
134	Elyazid Mouhsine	University Hospital of Lausanne	Switzerland
135	Ioannis Moumoulidis	University of Cambridge Addenbrookes Hospital Clinic	United Kingdom
136	Mahiran Mustafa	Hospital Kota Bharu	Malaysia Damahili a ƙƘasara
137	Aziz Mustafa	University Clinical Center of Kosova	Republic of Kosova
138 190	Samarendra Singh Mutum Rakesh Naidu	Universiti Sains Malaysia Monach Universiti Malaysia	Malaysia Malaysia
139 140	Venkatesh R Naik	Monash Universiti Malaysia Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia Malaysia
140 141	Jagdeep Nandra Singh	Prince Court Medical Center	Malaysia Malaysia
141	Tim D. Noakes	University of Cape Town	South Africa
14 <u>2</u> 143	Syed Hatim Noor	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
144	Rahmah Noordin	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
145	Temidayo Oladiji	University of Ilorin	Nigeria
146	Siti Zawiah Omar	Universiti Malaya	Malaysia
147	Khairul Osman	Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia	Malaysia
148	Nor Hayati Othman	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
149	Fauziah Othman	Universiti Putra Malaysia	Malaysia
150	Alvisa Palese	Udine University	Italy
151	Vijayachari Paluru	Indian Council of Medical Research	India
152	Esther Paran	Soroka University Hospital	Israel
153	Astrid Paulitsch	Wetsus Centre of Excellence for Sustainable Water Technology	Netherlands
154	Janaki Putran	Colchester General Hospital	United Kingdom
155	Raja Ahmad Raja Lope Ahmad	International Islamic University Malaysia	Malaysia
156	Philip Rajan	Hospital Raja Permaisuri Bainun Ipoh	Malaysia
157	Rasoloherimampiononiaina M Rampanjato	University Teaching Hospital of Kigali	Rwanda
158	Sandra Sacre	Queensland University of Technology	Australia
159	Nilay Sahin	Selcuk University	Turkey
160	Rosdan Salim	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
161	Simone Scheithauer	University Hospital Aachen	Germany
162 163	Amanda Elena Schwint Shamala Devi Sekaran	National Atomic Energy Commission Universiti of Malaya	Argentina Malaysia
163 164	Juwita Shaaban	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia Malaysia
164 165	Aymaan Shaamash	Kingkhalid College of Medicine	Saudi Arabia
165	Sanket Shah	Seth GS Medical College	India
167	Md Salim Shakur	Bangladesh Institute of Child Health	Bangladesh
168	David M Shaw	Universiti of Glasgow	United Kingdom
169	Carmen Sheridan	Dublin Dental School & Hospital	Ireland
170	Prabin Shreshta	Norvic International Hospital	Nepal
171	Rosalind Simon	Hospital Raja Permaisuri Bainun	Malaysia
172	Harvinder Singh	Hospital Raja Perempuan Bainun	Malaysia
173	Gurmit Singh	Penang Hospital	Malaysia
174	Chandrashekhar Sreeramareddy	Melaka Manipal Medical College	Malaysia
175	Edwin Stephen	Christian Medical College, Vellore	India
176	Jamie R Stevens	University of Exeter	United Kingdom
177	Dietmar Steverding	University of East Anglia	United Kingdom
178	Sethu Subha	University Putra Malaysia	Malaysia
179	Zaharah Sulaiman	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
180	Siti Amrah Sulaiman	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia

No.	Name	Institution	Country
181	Syed Hassan Syed Abdul Aziz	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
182	Olaniyi Olufemo Taiwo	Regional Center for Oral Health Research and Training Initiatives	Nigeria
183	Peng Chiong Tan	Universiti Malaya Medical Center	Malaysia
184	Thean Yen Tan	Changi General Hospital	Singapore
185	Thai Lian Tan	Tan Tock Seng Hospital Singapore	Singapore
186	Thuan Tong Tan	Singapore General Hospital	Singapore
187	Puthiaparampil Thomas	Universiti Malaysia Sarawak	Malaysia
188	Charng Jeng Toh	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
189	So Har Ton	Monash University Malaysia	Malaysia
190	Juan Antonio Tovar	Hospital Universitario La Paz	Spain
191	Nujaimin Udin	Hospital Raja Permaisuri Bainun	Malaysia
192	Cila Umat	Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia	Malaysia
193	Hans van Rostenberghe	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
194	Roger K Verbeeck	Rhodes University	South Africa
195	Lena von Koch	Karolinska Institut	Sweden
196	Wan Amir Nizam Wan Ahmad	Universiti of Glasgow	United Kingdom
197	Wan Shah Jihan Wan Din	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
198	Wan Hazabbah Wan Hitam	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
199	Wan Nazaimoon	Institute for Medical Research	Malaysia
	Wan Mohamud		
200	John Waye	McMaster University Medical Centre	Canada
201	Richard P Wedeen	The New Jersey Medical School	USA
202	Albert Wong	Sarawak General Hospital	Malaysia
203	Teck Yee Wong	National University Hospital	Singapore
204	Nik Soriani Yaacob	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
205	Chwei Shiun Yang	Cathay General Hospital	Taiwan
206	Eric Yeoh	Royal Adelaide Hospital	Australia
207	Rohaizan Yunus	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
208	Muslim Yurtcu	Selcuk University Meram	Turkey
209	Zurkurnai Yusoff	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia
210	Zurina Zainuddin	Universiti Putra Malaysia	Malaysia
211	Rahimah Zakaria	Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia

# CONTENTS

## Editorial

It's Time for Doctors to Speak Out on Climate Change Graham McALL	1
Original Articles	
Identification of Dengue-specific B-Cell Epitopes by Phage-display Random Peptide Library	
Amin N, Aguilar A, Camacho F, Vázquez Y, Pupo M, Ramírez Jc, Izquierdo L, Daphni F, Stott D, Pérez Ем, Acosta A	4
A Study of Learning Environments in the Kulliyyah (Faculty) of Nursing, International Islamic University Malaysia Nurumal Mohd Said, Jaafar Rogayah, Arzuman Hafizah	15
Prognostic Factors of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury Outcome in Children Aged 2-16 Years at A Major Neurosurgical Referral Centre Choon Hong Kan, Mohd Saffari, Teik Hooi Кноо	25
Superselective Embolisation in Acute Lower Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage: A Single Institution Experience Ahmad Razali MD RALIB, Rozman ZAKARIA, Zahiah Mohamad, Ahmad Sobri Muda	34
Special Communication	
Dreams in Jungian Psychology: The Use of Dreams as an Instrument for Research, Diagnosis and Treatment of Social Phobia Siamak Khodarahimi	42
Brief Communication	
Challenges in the Management of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma: A Review Baharudin Abdullah, Azila Alias, Shahid Hassan	50
Retrospective Review of Outcomes of a Multimodal Chronic Pain Service in a Major Teaching Hospital: A Preliminary Experience in University Sains Malaysia	
Nizar Abdul Jalil, Zaharah Sulaiman, Mohamed Saufi Awang, Mohamarowi Omar	55
Case Report	
Alum Irrigation for the Treatment of Intractable Haematuria Christopher Chee Kong Ho, Zulkifli Md Zainuddin	66

Calcification of the Alar Ligament Mimics Fracture of The Craniovertebral Junction (CVJ): An Incidental Finding From Computerised Tomography of the Cervical Spine Following Trauma	
Siti Kamariah Che Mohamed, Azian Abd. Aziz	69
Acute Tonsillitis With Concurrent Kikuchi's Disease as a Cause Of Persistent Lymphadenopathy	07
Halimuddin Sawali, Primuharsa Putra Sabir Husin Athar, Mazita Ami, Nor Hasni Shamsudin, Gopalan Nair	73
Letter to the Editor	
Non-detection of Acute Angiography-induced Cerebral Vasospasm by Transcranial Doppler Sonography amongst Patients with Subarachnoid Haemorrhage in Kelantan	
Rozaimah Jamal, Mohd Shafie Abdullah, Nik Azhar Nik Jit	77
Guidelines For Authors	79
Authorship Agreement Form	83
Patient Consent Form	85
Copyright Transfer Form	87

#### **EDITORIAL**

# It's Time for Doctors to Speak Out on Climate Change

Graham McALL Devonshire Green Medical Centre, United Kingdom

There is no doubt now. Climate change is the biggest threat to human health this century (1). Initially it is the poor who are suffering most, but even wealthy nations are not escaping the consequences. The air we breathe, the water we drink, the weather we experience, and even the depth and acidity of the oceans are changing. Climate change is increasing the incidence of weather-related disasters and acting as an amplifier for many diseases. Action to reduce anthropogenic green house gases (GHG) is urgent, especially because the full effects of the present levels have yet to work their way fully through the global system. Even if we reduce GHG levels now we will still experience considerable global temperature rises, but if we fail to act then we face global climatic catastrophe. Carbon dioxide is the most important green house gas and latest figures from the Mauna Loa observatory in Hawaii (2) confirm that the global CO<sub>2</sub> level continues its inexorable rise.

The heat gain in the 20th century was 0.76 °C and is now accelerating. The International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) reported in 2007 that they were unable to predict the effect of glacial and polar ice melt on the sea level rise (3). With this proviso the IPCC warned that a sea level rise of 18–59 cm could be expected by 2100 by thermal expansion of the oceans. The expected rise for 2008 had been 1.8 mm, but actual measurement showed a rise of 3.1 mm, so in March 2009 the prediction of sea level rise was revised to 28-79 cm by 2100 (4). Even this scenario seems optimistic. The observations on temperature, ice melt and sea level rise have been consistently at the high end of the predicting models. A sea-level rise of 1 m in the Bay of Bengal would put 17% of the coastal land of Bangladesh underwater, creating many millions of climate refugees (5).

According to Munich Re, the multinational insurance company, the number of great weatherrelated disasters increased from an average of less than two a year in 1950 to more than six in 2007 (6). Increasingly powerful storms and typhoons wreak havoc. In wealthy countries the effect is not as catastrophic initially as in poorer countries.

Compare for example Hurricane Ike in September 2008 with Cyclone Nargis in the same year. The death toll from Ike was 194 dead and 43 missing, but from Cyclone Nargis the final death toll was approximately 140 000 with 2.5 million made homeless. Whilst no one storm can be specifically blamed on climate change the increasing frequency and severity of storms can be. If it is the carbonemitting nations who have caused the problem, it is the poor who are bearing the brunt of the consequences and are suffering now. Increasingly, sudden floods and mudslides are taking a huge toll, especially in poorer areas. The loss of fresh water sources is becoming a major problem for coastal dwellers because of the salination and depletion of aquifers; and for the millions who rely on glacial melt waters as glaciers dwindle.

Previous progress in reducing global malnutrition has gone into reverse in the last year. According to the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) in 2007 about 800 million people had calorie-deficient diets. In June the projected number exceeded 1 billion (7). Whilst the rise in food price has been partially attributed to the switch to bio-fuels in the USA and unstable oil prices, another major component has been unpredictable weather such as the drought in Australia. Continuing growth in the world's human population (1.5 million people each week) is another pressure on the global carbon footprint and food supplies.

Human beings are steadily displacing other species with our voracious appetite for limited resources. Species extinctions are running at about 1 000–10 000 times the natural background rate (8). Much of our pharmacological knowledge is derived from other animal and plant species. The rapid destruction of species-rich rainforest for cropping not only releases more carbon dioxide; it has been described as the equivalent of burning our best pharmacological library after only reading a few of the books.

There is some reduction from cold deaths in temperate countries as temperatures rise, but this is outweighed by heat wave deaths. Heat islands—



the phenomenon of localized areas of extreme heat due to the surface characteristics of the built environment in cities-tend to worsen air pollution by the addition of the dangers of ground level ozone to airborne particulate matter as experienced in haze conditions. Particulate matter and ozone are associated with increases in mortality and admissions from respiratory, cardiovascular, cerebrovascular and allergic diseases. Vectorborne and infectious diseases will alter their range. Malaria, dengue and Chikungunya are among those that will extend their frequency and range as temperatures increase. Malaysia recorded 24 543 cases of dengue in the first six months of 2009 with 62 deaths (9). It is known that Stegomyia aegypti is very sensitive to humidity, temperature and cloud cover and it is suggested that by 2080 about 6 billion people in the world will be exposed to risk of dengue compared with 3.5 billion if the climate had remained unchanged (10).

Doctors must not remain silent. The medical profession is a trusted bridge between science and humanity and so doctors have a key role in communicating the dangers of climate change and the urgency of action to both patients and politicians. There are four main areas to address: mitigation, adaptation, education and research. A first and simple act is to read and sign the pledge at http://www.climateandhealth.org/. This will give the politicians meeting at the United Nations Climate Change Conference ('COP15') in Copenhagen in December 2009 the support for the challenging decisions they face.

The medical profession should be leading mitigation at personal, corporate and community levels. The personal example involves adopting lower carbon lifestyles. Generally the medical profession is well paid and has choices that may not be available to others in eco-friendly living. Secondly doctors should help our hospitals, clinics and communities identify carbon reduction strategies. Much investment is offset by savings in energy consumption and expensive waste management. There is already a great body of shared experience from across the world available on the internet.

As climate changes threaten, we need to consider what adaptive strategies in health care will be needed. Education inside and outside the health community is urgent, and this will include the continued empowerment of women with education and access to good contraception. There is a need to engage in our faith communities whose critical role is encouraging commitment to the stewardship of God's creation for our neighbours and future generations. Finally, as ever, more research is needed. The World Health Organisation has clear priorities for research into climate change, (11) and certainly our knowledge of the health effects is still in its infancy.

It would be an irony if the medical profession contributed to a major deterioration in the health of the global community by its own carbon emissions and inactivity in the face of this global challenge.

#### Acknowledgements

I am grateful for the support and encouragement of PR Harvey and Partners, Sheffield; A Rocha International; The Climate and Health Council, UK; Pusat Pengajian Sains Perubatan, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Kota Bharu, Malaysia.

#### Correspondence

Dr Graham McAll MA, MB, BChir (Cantab), FRCS(Ed), MRCGP(UK) General Medical Practitioner Devonshire Green Medical Centre 126, Devonshire Street Sheffield, S3 7SF United Kingdom Tel:+441 142 305046 Email: grahammcall@doctors.org.uk

#### References

- Costello A, Abbas M, Allen A, Ball S, Bell S, Bellamy R, et al. Managing the health effects of climate change. *Lancet*. 2009;**373**:1693–1733.
- Tans P. Trends in Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide Mauna Loa. National Oceanic Atmospheric Administration/ ESRL 2009. [Internet]. 2009. (cited 2009 August 17). Available from: http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/ trends/
- 3. Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Averyt K, Tignor MMB, Le Roy Miller H Jr, et al. The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 2007.
- Richardson K, Steffen W, Schellnhuber HJ, Alcamo J, Barker T, Kammen DM, et al. Synthesis Report from Climate Change: Global Risks, Challenges & Decisions. 2nd Edition. [Internet]. Denmark: University of Copenhagen; 2009. (cited 2009 August 20). Available from: http://www.climatecongress.ku.dk.
- 5. Ali SI, Huq S. International Sea Level Rise: National Assessment of Effects and Possible Response for Bangladesh. College Park: University of Maryland Center for Global Change. 1989.

- 6. Munich RE. Natural catastrophes 2007: analyses, assessments, positions. Munich. 2008.
- World Food Programme. 1.02 Billion People Hungry. [Internet]. 2009. (cited 2009 August 25). Available from: http://www.wfp.org/news/news-release/102billion-people-hungry
- 8. World Wildlife Fund. How many species are we losing. [Internet]. 2008. (cited 2009 August 25). Available from:http://www.panda.org/about\_our\_earth/ biodiversity/biodiversity/
- 9. Log PR. Dengue Fever has killed 62 people this year in Malaysia. [Internet]. 2009. (cited 2009 August 25). Available from: http://www.prlog.org/10280274dengue-fever-has-killed-62-people-this-year-inmalaysia.html
- Hales S, de Wet N, Maindonald J, Woodward A. Potential effect of population and climate changes on global distribution of dengue fever: an empirical model. *Lancet*. 2002;**360**:830–834.
- Campbell-Lendrum D, Bertollini R. Protecting health from climate change: Global research priorities. Public Health and Environment Department. World Health Organisation. [Internet] 2009. (cited 2009 August 25). Available from: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/ publications/2009/9789241598187\_eng.pdf

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

## Identification of Dengue-specific B-Cell Epitopes by Phage-display Random Peptide Library

Nevis Amin<sup>1</sup>, Alicia Aguilar<sup>1</sup>, Frank Chamacho<sup>1</sup>, Yaime Vázquez<sup>2</sup>, Maritza Pupo<sup>2</sup>, Juan Carlos Ramirez<sup>1</sup>, Luis Izquierdo<sup>1</sup>, Felix Dafhnis<sup>1</sup>, David Ian Stott<sup>3</sup>, Ela Maria Perez<sup>1</sup>, Armando Acosta<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Molecular Virology Department, Research Vicepresidency, Finlay Institute. Ave 27, No 19805, Havana City, Cuba

<sup>2</sup> Laboratory of Arbovirus. Department of Virology. Pedro Kourí Institute (IPK)

<sup>3</sup> Glasgow Biomedical Research Centre. University of Glasgow, 120 University Place, Glasgow G12 8TA, Scotland, U.K

Submitted: 28 May 2009 Accepted: 30 Aug 2009

#### Abstract

*Background:* Dengue is the most important human viral disease transmitted by arthropod vectors. The availability of random peptide libraries (RPL) displayed on phage has provided a powerful tool for selecting sequences that mimic epitopes from microorganisms that are useful for diagnostic and vaccine development purposes. In this paper, we describe peptides that resemble the antigenic structure of B-cell epitopes of dengue virus identified from a phage-peptide library using human sera containing polyclonal antibodies against dengue virus.

*Materials and Methods:* Eighteen phage clones were isolated from the phage-display peptide library, J404, by affinity selection using human antisera against dengue virus type 3. These clones were tested for reactivity by ELISA with a panel of hyperimmune ascitic fluids (HAFs) containing antibodies either against all four dengue serotypes, West Nile virus (WNV) or Eastern equine encephalitis virus (EEEV) with control ascitic fluid (NAF) used as a negative control.

*Results:* Eight clones were recognized by HAFs against the four dengue serotypes, of which four significantly inhibited binding of anti-dengue antibodies to the virus. Two peptides with similar sequences to regions of NS3 and NS4B non-structural dengue virus proteins were identified.

*Conclusion:* Our results suggest that these peptides could be used for the development of diagnostic tools for the detection of dengue virus infection and for a potential vaccine against this pathogen.

Keywords: medical sciences, virology, dengue, epitopes

#### Introduction

Dengue is the most important human viral disease transmitted by arthropod vectors. Annually, it is estimated that 100 million cases of dengue fever (DF) occur in tropical and subtropical regions, of which 500 000 result in dengue haemorrhagic fever (DHF) and 25 000 cases result in death. DF and DHF are caused by the four dengue viruses, DEN 1, 2, 3, and 4, which are closely related antigenically. Dengue virus belongs to the Flaviviridae family whose members are enveloped, positive-sense, single-stranded RNA viruses, such as those that cause Yellow fever, Japanese encephalitis, West Nile fever and hepatitis C (1). The flaviviral genome is translated as a single polypeptide that is post-

translationally processed by cleavage into three structural proteins (C, M, and E) and seven nonstructural proteins (NS1, NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, and NS5) (2). The E protein is considered to be the immunodominant protein (3). C-prM and prM proteins are able to induce an immune response and long lasting antibodies (4). The presence of antibodies against some non-structural proteins has also been demonstrated (5–9).

Prevention and control of DF and DHF has become more urgent with their expanding geographic distribution and increased disease incidence (10). Active laboratory-based surveillance and effective use of vaccines should be

components of disease prevention programs (11). Dengue diagnosis based on antibody identification has emerged as the most practical approach (1). Most methods of antibody detection rely on the use of whole dengue virus antigens produced in tissue culture or in suckling mouse brain. The use of such material is expensive and production costs associated with virus cultivation are generally high (12). Commercial kits are available for serological dengue diagnosis, but they still need careful evaluation. Although dengue diagnosis has improved, better tools are still needed for early, rapid, specific, sensitive and inexpensive diagnosis (13). One of the major difficulties associated with the development of a dengue virus vaccine is attributed to observations that most cases of DHF occur in individuals experiencing a secondary viral infection by a different dengue virus serotype, which therefore requires a safe and effective tetravalent vaccine (14). The absence of a suitable animal model, poor understanding of the pathogenesis of the disease, poor financial support and several other problems need to be solved before effective

and safe dengue vaccines become available (13). The availability of RPL displayed on bacteriophage has provided a powerful tool for selecting peptide sequences that mimic epitopes of infectious agents (15). Peptides mimicking epitopes of dengue virus proteins present in an RPL could be an alternative source of antigens for the development of diagnostic assays, and selection of peptides mimicking immunologically relevant B- and T-cell epitopes of dengue virus could be useful for disease prevention. B-cell epitopes of dengue proteins have been previously identified using mouse monoclonal antibodies (16–19). In the present work using human polyclonal antibodies against dengue virus, we report the identification of peptides capable of mimicking antigenic determinants of dengue virus non-structural proteins that could be useful in the development of a diagnostic kit or a potential antigen for vaccine production.

#### Human sera

The serum samples used in the study were obtained from the collection of the Arbovirus Laboratory, Department of Virology, "Pedro Kourí" Tropical Medicine Institute, Havana City, Cuba. All of the sera were tested for dengue virus-specific IgM and/or IgG antibodies (20) and by plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT) (21). A panel of 21 sera was used, including 8 negative sera for IgM and IgG antibodies to dengue virus and 13 positive sera of dengue infection with DEN 1 (n=1), DEN 3 (n=11), and DEN 4 (n=1). All of the serum samples were classified as primary infection and showed IgG antibodies

**ORIGINAL ARTICLE** - Dengue-specific B-cell epitopes

# Affinity selection: Reactivity of phage clones with hyperimmune ascitic fluids (HAFs) and a dengue anti-complex monoclonal antibody (H3/6).

The methodology used to identify dengue virus epitopes using polyclonal antisera is essentially similar to that described by Larralde et al. (22). The J404 bacteriophage-display peptide library (PDPL) (kindly donated by Dr. Jim Burritt, Montana State University, USA) (23), human serum samples positive for dengue virus type 3 antibodies and sera collected from healthy donors (negative controls) were used.

Clones derived from the affinity selection were immune-screened by slot blot with three positive sera against dengue virus type 3 and three negative sera as follows: serial dilutions of the phage sample were performed in LB broth and 100 µL of each dilution was mixed with melted soft agar, followed by the addition of TG1 Escherichia coli cells in stationary phase. This mixture was poured onto a solid LB agar plate followed by an overnight incubation at 37 °C. Isolated clones were picked using a Pasteur pipette, transferred to tubes containing 1 mL of LB broth and incubated overnight at 37 °C with gentle mixing. The supernatant was then transferred into a new tube and centrifuged at 6000 g for 30 min at 4 °C. Supernatants from phage clones and M13K07 (negative control) were titred and their concentrations were adjusted to 7.5x10<sup>7</sup> pfu/mL. Fifty microlitres of each sample was applied onto a nitrocellulose membrane in a slot blot apparatus. The membranes were blocked with PBS containing non-fat dry milk (PBSNM) for 2 h at room temperature (RT) with four buffer changes. Three positive sera against dengue virus type 3 and three negative sera were pre-adsorbed with TG1 Escherichia coli extract and UVinactivated M13K07 phage for 2 h at RT. The preadsorbed sera were added to the nitrocellulose discs

and incubated overnight at 4 °C with gentle mixing, followed by 10 washes with PBS/0.1% NP40. The washed membranes were incubated with alkaline phosphatase-conjugated goat anti-human IgG (Sigma, 1:5000 in PBSNM) for 4 h at 4 °C, washed and developed in NBT/BCIP chromogen for 2-5 min.

To confirm their specific reactivity with dengue virus antibodies, the selected phage clones were evaluated with HAF either against the four dengue serotypes, West Nile virus (WNV) or Eastern equine encephalitis virus (EEEV), and a control ascitic fluid (NAF) using an indirect ELISA. Briefly, multiwell plates (Nunc Maxisorp F8, Life Technologies Limited, Paisley, UK) were coated with 100 µL of anti-M13 monoclonal antibody (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK) (10 µg/mL in 50 mM NaHCO3, pH 9.6). Plates were incubated overnight at 4 °C, washed three times with PBS/0.05 % Tween 20 (v/v) (PBS-T) and blocked with PBS-T/5 % nonfat dry milk (w/v) for 1 h at 37 °C. Phage clones and wild-type phage (as controls) were added (100 µL/well) and incubated for 4 h at RT. Plates were washed three times with PBS-T and test serum was added (1/100, pre-adsorbed with TG1 E. coli extract and UV-inactivated M13K07 phage, for 4 h at RT). Plates were washed four times with PBS-T, incubated for 4 h at 37 °C with 100 µL/well of goat anti-human IgG/alkaline phosphatase conjugate (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) diluted 1:5000. They were then washed and developed with p-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate. The absorbance at 405 nm was recorded by an automated ELISA reader (Dynex Technologies, UK). For each serum sample, the average results from two independent experiments were evaluated. Values were considered positive when the ratio of absorbance of phage clones over absorbance of phage M13K07 (wild-type control) (P/N) was >2 and was more than twice the NAF. Phage clones with a P/N ratio of >2 in relation to NAF were discarded due to nonspecific reactions. Data were further analysed statistically by principal component analysis, cluster analysis and exploratory data analysis.

The ability of phage clones to be recognized by H3/6, a dengue anti-complex monoclonal antibody (25), was evaluated by the following ELISA: multiwell plates (Nunc Maxisorp F8, Life Technologies Limited, Paisley, UK) were coated with 10  $\mu$ g/mL of H3/6 monoclonal antibody. Plates were incubated overnight at 4 °C, washed three times with PBS-T and blocked with PBS-T/5 % non-fat dry milk (w/v) for 1 h at 37 °C. Phage clones and wild-type phage (as controls) were added (100  $\mu$ L/well) and incubated for 4 h at RT. Plates were washed four times with PBS-T, incubated for 4 h at 37 °C with 100  $\mu$ L/well of goat anti-human IgG/alkaline phosphatase conjugate (Sigma Aldrich, UK) diluted 1:5000. The plates were then washed and developed with p-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate. The absorbance at 405 nm was recorded by an automated ELISA reader (Dynex Technologies, UK). Phage clones generated with the dengue anticomplex monoclonal antibody H3/6 (unpublished data) were used as positive control. Values were considered positive when the ratio of absorbance of phage clones over absorbance of phage M13K07 (wild-type control) (P/N) was >2.

#### *Competitive inhibition assay*

The ability of peptides displayed in the phage clones to compete with dengue virus for binding to antibodies present in the sera from dengue patients was evaluated by an inhibition ELISA (20). Sera positive for antibodies against DEN 1, 3 and 4 and negative sera were tested with and without pre-incubation with phage clones and M13K07 (109 phage particles). The percent inhibition of anti-dengue virus antibodies by the phage clones was estimated:

 $\frac{\%}{inhibition} = 1 - \frac{0.D \text{ serum sample without}}{0.D \text{ serum sample with}} \times 100$ 

#### DNA sequencing and similarity search

Selected phages were used to infect exponentially growing TG1 Escherichia coli cells. Infected cells were grown overnight in LB agar plates containing kanamycin (Sigma Aldrich, UK) at 75  $\mu$ g/mL. Single colonies were picked and grown in LB broth containing kanamycin at the same concentration as above, and phage DNA was purified (QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit, Qiagen, USA). The phage DNA was sequenced using a geneIIIspecific primer, which anneals to 50 nucleotides from the 27-mer insert, as described Burrit et al. (26). Amino acid sequences were deduced using the GENERUNNER program. The phage-displayed peptide sequences were ran against the proteomes of the four dengue serotypes using the stand-alone BLAST program (27).

#### Results

Affinity selection: Reactivity of phage clones with hyperimmune ascitic fluids (HAFs) and a dengue anti-complex monoclonal antibody

Eighty-four phage clones were obtained after affinity selection of the RPL with a human serum sample containing a high titre of anti-dengue virus antibodies. Supernatants of the 84 isolated phages were tested by immunodot assay and ELISA, against three positive sera and also against three sera from non-infected individuals, resulting in the selection of 18 phage clones. These clones did not react with the negative sera. The reactivities of these 18 phage clones with different HAFs, as measured by ELISA, are shown in Table 1. Clones Ph2, Ph15, Ph24, Ph34, Ph35, Ph37, Ph79, and Ph84 showed the strongest antibody binding against serotype 2 and serotype 3. Clones Ph8, Ph26 and Ph64 were excluded because they reacted with NAF, suggesting a nonspecific reaction. The statistical analysis allowed the segregation

of the phage clones into two clusters. Cluster 1 is comprised of the phage clones Ph2, Ph24, Ph34, Ph37, Ph79, and Ph84 and Cluster 2 is comprised of clones Ph15, Ph16, Ph26, Ph27, Ph27, Ph35, and Ph64 (Fig. 1A). The best recognition was obtained with HAF against dengue virus 3. Differences in the recognition of phage clones included in both clusters were not found by the HAF against WNV, EEEV, and the NAF negative control (Fig. 1B). None of the phage clones were recognized by the H3/6 monoclonal antibody (data not shown).

#### Competitive inhibition assay

The reaction of the eight previously selected phage clones with anti-dengue virus type 3 antibodies is shown in Table 2 as the percent inhibition of binding of anti-dengue 3 to dengue virus compared with the unabsorbed sera. Clones Ph2, Ph15, Ph35, and Ph37 inhibited the binding of anti-dengue 3 antibodies to the virus. The same clones were also evaluated with antisera against

Phage				HAF			
clone	D1	D2	D3	D4	WN	EEE	NAF
Ph2	1.23	3.00	3.36	0.88	0.61	1.20	1.28
Ph4	0.61	1.37	1.53	0.43	0.94	1.14	1.09
Ph5	0.59	1.15	1.32	0.50	1.15	1.30	1.11
Ph6	0.72	1.54	1.58	0.49	0.67	1.14	1.16
Ph8 <sup>a</sup>	1.70	5.80	6.56	1.95	2.05	1.31	2.08
Ph15	1.18	2.32	2.76	0.90	1.03	1.04	1.00
Ph16	1.15	1.43	1.28	0.47	0.97	1.29	1.03
Ph24	1.42	2.78	3.92	0.93	1.42	1.37	1.73
Ph26 <sup>a</sup>	1.09	1.23	2.07	0.80	1.89	1.40	2.08
Ph27	1.14	1.62	1.76	0.57	1.49	1.39	1.24
Ph34	1.31	4.10	5.75	1.37	1.42	1.09	1.55
Ph35	1.31	2.42	3.21	0.78	1.34	1.31	1.48
Ph37	1.24	2.82	3.91	0.84	1.21	1.36	1.85
Ph64 <sup>a</sup>	1.22	2.29	2.99	0.78	1.32	1.35	2.23
Ph78	1.22	2.26	2.69	0.70	1.16	1.63	1.68
Ph79	2.69	3.10	5.17	2.56	1.21	1.15	1.70
Ph84	1.57	3.46	4.30	1.48	1.81	1.38	1.71

**Table 1:** ELISA reactivity of HAFs to phage clones

Results are expressed as the ratio of absorbance of phage clones over absorbance of wild-type phage (P/N). Values were considered positive when (P/N) > 2 and differed by more than twice the NAF value. Shaded cells indicate positive results.

<sup>a</sup> Discarded by reactivity with NAF



**Figure 1A:** Reactivity of phage clones by HAFs against DEN serotypes 1 to 4. Cluster 1 (Ph2, Ph24, Ph34, Ph37, Ph79, and Ph84) and Cluster 2 (Ph4, Ph5, Ph6, Ph15, Ph16, Ph26, Ph27, Ph35, and Ph64)



Figure 1B: Reactivity of phage clones by HAFs against WNV, EEEV and NAF.

	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	nhibition (%)					
Phage clones	Positive sera DEN 3						
ciones	Serum1 Serum 2		Serum 3				
Ph2	21.73	4.55	9.86				
Ph15	6.37	4.08	7.98				
Ph24	1.34	1.01	0				
Ph34	1.17	0.67	3.2				
Ph35	4.24	8.99	3.58				
Ph37	16.61	13.80	9.36				
Ph79	-8.90	-13.79	0.81				
Ph84	-5.57	-9.92	-2.54				
M13	0.84	-14.02	-8.52				

**Table 2:** Inhibition of binding of anti-dengue 3 antibodies to dengue virus by phage clones

<sup>a</sup>Inhibition of binding was calculated as: % inhibition = 1–(O.D. without serum sample absorption by phages/O.D. with serum sample absorption by phages) x 100. M13 = wild-type phage M13K07. Phage clones with the highest percent inhibition of binding of antibodies to the virus were selected for the next experiment.

DEN 1, 3, and 4 (Table 3). Each of the clones inhibited each anti-serotype by approximately 13 to 46 %. Negative percent of the inhibition of binding of anti-dengue antibodies to dengue virus by phage clones were considered negative.

#### DNA sequencing and similarity search

The deduced amino acid sequences of clones Ph2, Ph15, Ph35, and Ph37 have a range of similarity from 50% to 70% with regions of the NS3 and NS4B dengue proteins of the four dengue serotypes. Figures 2A and 2B show the comparison of these peptides with NS3 and NS4B proteins of DEN serotype 3. The BLAST results were similar for all dengue serotypes. The peptide sequence, FERVPGEVT, was found in Ph2, Ph15, and Ph35 and exhibited several amino acids at the same position as the NS4B protein in residues 164-172 (dengue 1, 2 and 3), and 161-168 (dengue 4). Peptide RRALPPVSS from Ph37 showed a high similarity with two regions of the NS3 protein of the four dengue serotypes in regions corresponding to residues 425-432 and 537-544.

#### Discussion

Recent studies have shown that phagedisplayed peptides selected using antibodies raised against pathological antigens can be important tools for both diagnosis and disease prevention (28-36). This approach has previously been used to identify serotype-specific epitopes of dengue virus using mouse monoclonal antibodies (16-19). In this work, peptides that resemble the antigenic structure of B-cell epitopes of dengue virus were identified from a phage-peptide library using human polyclonal antisera from patients who had recovered from dengue virus infection. Eighteen phage clones were isolated by the following procedure: affinity selection of the random peptide library with a positive serum containing a high titre of anti-dengue antibodies; screening by slot blot with a panel of antisera (three positive and three negative sera); ELISA using three positive and three negative sera. Assessing the reactivities of these 18 phage clones with different HAFs by ELISA facilitated the selection of eight dengue virusspecific phagotopes. The fact that they reacted only with HAFs against dengue and did not react with HAFs against WNV, EEEV, or NAF suggests that they do not share epitopes with these arboviruses. Clones Ph8, Ph26, and Ph64 were rejected based on their reactivity with other HAFs, so as to minimise the possibility of enriching for "false positive" clones which may display unrelated target peptides.

ciones								
-1	Inhibition (%) <sup>a</sup>							
Phage clones	Po	ositive se	era	Negative sera				
ciones	DEN 1	DEN 3	DEN 4	M30	<b>M3</b> 7			
Ph2	39.0	27.08	13.3	1.033	1.069			
Ph15	36.9	33.12	13.8	-7.20	-9.0			
Ph35	46.01	35.5	35.9	2.04	8.81			
Ph37	44.06	32.9	25	0.13	0.757			
M13	1.05	1.80	1.08	0.59	0.23			

Table	3:	Inhibition	of	binding	of	of anti-de	
		antibodies	to	dengue	virus	s by	phage
		clones					

<sup>a</sup>The inhibition of binding of anti-dengue antibodies to dengue virus is expressed as the percent inhibition compared to M13 (wild-type phage M13K07)

#### (A)

```
>YP_001531175|NS4B
                   Length = 248
       Score = 12.7 bits (21), Expect = 4.9
Identities = 4/8 (50%), Positives = 6/8 (75%), Gaps = 0/7 (0%)
                    FERVPGEV 8
      Query: 1
                    FE+ G+V
      Sbjct: 164 FEKQLGQV 171
(B)
      >YP_001531172|NS3
                   Length = 619
       Score = 14.2 bits (26), Expect = 1.6
Identities = 5/7 (71%), Positives = 5/7 (71%), Gaps = 0/7 (0%)
      Query 1
                      RRALPPV
                                  7
                      RR L PV
      Sbjct 426
                      RRCLKPV
                                 432
```

Score = 10.0 bits (16), Expect = 30 Identities = 5/8 (62%), Positives = 5/8 (62%), Gaps = 2/8 (25%) Query 1 RRA-LPPV 7 RR LP V Sbjct 538 RRGDLP-V 544

**Figure 2:** Deduced amino acid sequences of mimotopes by BLAST search against the dengue virus serotype 3 proteome. (A) Pairwise alignment of peptide FERVPGEVT displayed on Ph2, 15 and 35 with NS4B protein. (B) Pairwise alignment of peptide RRALPPVSS displayed on Ph37 with NS3 protein. The BLAST results were similar for all dengue serotypes

Phage panning is a very dynamic process that is influenced by affinity, avidity, the nature of target and the combined impact of multiple experimental parameters (29). The serological diagnosis of dengue virus infection is complicated by the existence of cross-reactive antigenic determinants shared by all four dengue serotypes and some other flaviviruses (38). The absence of cross-reactivity between HAFs against WNV and the selected phage clones makes these phage-peptides very attractive for diagnostic purposes. The use of antidengue 3 sera in the selection process could explain the optimal recognition of phage clones included in both clusters by HAFs against dengue 3. H3/6 has been characterized as a dengue anti-complex monoclonal antibody specific to the E protein that is non-reactive with other flaviviruses (25). The fact that none of the phage clones was recognized by this monoclonal antibody suggests that they do not display peptides mimicking the epitope of the E protein recognized by this monoclonal antibody.

Competition ELISAs with the original antigen are necessary to ensure that the phage clones are specific for the antigen binding site of the antibody (29). Inhibition of the reaction of the human sera positive for dengue virus antibodies after absorption with the phage clones supports the hypothesis that the peptides mimic dengue virus epitopes and block the reaction of serum antibodies with the virus. Differences in absorption of the antibodies by the different phage clones can be explained by differences in the concentrations of antibodies against the corresponding epitope and the affinity of the antibodies for the mimotope. Only four phage clones were able to compete with the virus for binding to dengue virus antibodies. Peptides exposed on these clones could mimic specific dengue mimotopes. Competitive assays are particularly useful in cases in which a large panel of sera containing antibodies of the studied entity is not available or when it is not possible to sequence all of the selected clones.

Two peptides mimicking B-cell epitopes of the NS3 and NS4B non-structural proteins of the four dengue virus serotypes were identified. Three phage clones (Ph2, Ph15, and Ph35) displayed peptides with the same amino acid sequence (FERVPGEVT). This peptide shares partial homology with the NS4B dengue protein. Although NS4B has not been previously reported as one of the principal proteins involved in dengue virus antibody responses, consistent antibody responses to NS4B were recently found in a study of 100 sera samples from dengue patients that were tested against recombinant NS4B by ELISA (9). Phage clone Ph37 displays a peptide that is similar to two

regions of the NS3 protein of the four serotypes. This peptide shares five residues with the amino acid region 537-547. The NS3 amino acid region 537-547 is highly conserved with at least 80% identity between a total of 44 strains from the four serotypes (39). In the same study, this sequence was not shared with 64 other flaviviruses, suggesting that this sequence is dengue virus-specific, which corroborated the results obtained for reactivity with HAFs. It has been proposed that this peptide could possibly function in cell attachment (39). The peptide expressed on clone Ph37 also exhibited similarity with five residues in the NS3 region (amino acids 421-481). This sequence has been reported as a strong inducer of T-cell responses in dengue virus-infected patients (40). Although the NS3 protein induces a strong T-cell response, and a preponderance of T-cell epitopes have been identified (41), the functional significance of antibody responses against this protein remains to be elucidated (5-9). Further studies should be performed to determine the participation of the selected peptides in T-cell responses. There have been several reports of the identification of B-cell epitopes of dengue virus using serotype-specific monoclonal antibodies of dengue virus (16-19). In our work, two peptides were selected using serum samples of confirmed dengue patients, suggesting this method could be used to develop a reagent for the diagnosis of dengue patients.

During a primary infection, individuals develop IgM after 5–6 days and IgG antibodies after 7–10 days. During a secondary infection, high levels of IgG are detectable even during the acute phase and they rise considerably over the next two weeks. IgM levels are lower and, in some cases, absent during secondary infection. The presence of IgM antibodies suggests a recent infection, although they are still present after 2–3 months. High titres of IgG are a criterion of secondary infection (13). The ability of the phage-displayed peptides to bind to IgG antibodies from dengue patients could be potentially useful to discriminate between primary and secondary infection.

Several studies have been conducted on antibody responses to non-structural proteins (9). A comparison of the amino acid sequences of the selected clones showed similarity with NS3 and NS4B proteins of dengue virus. Further investigations are needed to evaluate the immunogenicity of these peptides as experimental anti-dengue subunit vaccines. Synthetic peptide vaccines are relatively cheap, safe to produce, and heat stable. The antibody dependent enhancement (ADE) hypothesis emphasizes the importance of the immune response in the development of DHF/ Dengue Shock Syndrome (DSS). Therefore it is necessary to determine if antibodies against these peptides can enhance dengue virus infection and study its possible role in the immune-amplification phenomenon.

In the present study, two B-cell epitopes of dengue virus were identified using a phage-display peptide library and polyclonal anti-dengue virus antibodies. Our results suggest that these two peptides are immunologically important and could be used for the development of diagnostic systems and a potential vaccine against this pathogen.

#### Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Dr. Jim Burritt for his generous gift of the phage-peptide library J404 PDPL. Part of this work was supported by a short-term travel grant from The Royal Society, UK.

#### Author's contributions

Conception and design: NA

Data analysis and interpretation: NA, AA, FC, JCR, EMP Data collection and assembly , drafting of the article:

NA, AA Critical revision of the article: FC, MP, DIS, EMP, A.Acosta

Provision of study materials or patients: FC, YV, MP Statistical expertise: LI Obtaining of funding: FD, DIS

Final approval of article: A.Acosta

#### Correspondence

Dr. Nevis Amin Blanco MD, MSc Molecular Virology Department Research Vicepresidency, Finlay Institute Ave. 17, No. 19801. b/198 y 200 AP. 16017, Cod 11600, Havana City, Cuba Tel: +537 271 6911 Email: namin@finlay.edu.cu

#### References

- 1. Gubler DJ. Dengue and dengue hemorrhagic fever. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1998;**11**:480–496.
- Lidenbach BD, Rice CM. Flaviviruses. In: Knipe DM, Howley PM editors. *Fields Virology*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. 2001;p.991–1041.
- 3. Roehrig JT. Antigenic structure of flavivirus proteins. *Adv Virus Res.* 2003;**59**: 141–175.
- 4. Se-Thoe SY, Ng MM, Ling AE. Retrospective study of Western Blott profiles in immune sera of natural dengue virus infections. *J Med Virol.* 1999;**57**:322–330.
- 5. ChurdboonchartV, BhamarapravatiN, Peampramprecha S, Sirinavin S. Antibodies against dengue viral proteins in primary and secondary dengue hemorrhagic fever. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1991;**44**:481–493.
- Valdés K, Alvarez M, Pupo M, Vázquez S, Rodríguez R, Guzmán MG. Human dengue antibodies against structural and nonstructral proteins. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* 2000;7:856–857.
- 7. Cortés LM, Barth OM, Pantoja JR, Alves CR. Comparative immunological recognition of proteins from new Guinea "C" dengue virus type 2 prototype and from a dengue virus type 2 strain isolated in the State of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* 2003;**98**:331–334.
- 8. dos Santos FB, Miagostovich MP, Nogueira RM, Schatzmayr HG, Riley LW, Harris E. Analysis of recombinant dengue virus polypeptides for dengue diagnosis and evaluation of the humoral immune response. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2004;71:144–152.
- Lázaro L, Mellado G, García J, Escobar A, Santos L, Gutiérrez B, et al. Analysis of antibody responses in human dengue patients from the Mexican coast using recombinant antigens. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis.* 2008;**8**:69–79.
- 10. Gubler DJ. Dengue hemorrhagic fever: its history and resurgence as a global public health problem. In: Gubler DJ, Kuno G editors. *Dengue and dengue hemorrhagic fever*.. London, UK: CAB International. 1997;p.1–22.
- 11. Gubler DJ, Casta-Velez A. A program for prevention and control of epidemic dengue and dengue hemorrhagic fever in Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. *Bull Pan Am Health Organ.* 1991;**25**:237–247.
- AnandaRao R, Swaminathan S, Fernando S, Jana AM, Khanna N. Recombinant multiepitope protein for early detection of dengue infections. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*. 2006;**13**:59–67.
- 13. Guzmán MG, Kourí G. Dengue: an update. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2001;**2**:33–42.

- 14. Rothman AL. Dengue: defining protective versus pathologic immunity. *J Clin Invest*. 2004;**113**:946–951.
- Folgori AT, Felici R, Galfre F, Cortese G, Monaci R, Nicosi A. A general strategy to identify mimotopes of pathological antigens using only random peptides libraries and human sera. *EMBO J.* 1994;13:2236– 2243.
- Yao ZJ, Kao M, Loh KC, Chung M. A serotype-specific epitope of dengue virus 1 identified by phage displayed random peptide library. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* 1995;**127**:93–98.
- 17. Wu HC, Huang Yl, Chao TT, Jan JT, Huang JL, Chiang HY et al. Identification of B-cell epitopes of dengue virus type 1 and its application in diagnosis of patients. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2001;**39**:977–982.
- Wu HC, Jung MY, Chiu CY, Chao TT, Lai SC, Jan JT et al. Identification of a dengue virus type (DEN-2) serotype specific B cell epitope and detection of dengue 2 immunized animal serum samples using an epitopes based peptide antigen. J Gen Virol. 2003;84:2771– 2779.
- 19. Chen YC, Huang HN, Lin CT, Chen YF, King CC, Wu HC. Generation and characterization of monoclonal antibodies against dengue virus Type 1 for epitope mapping and serological detection by epitope-based peptide antigens. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*. 2007;**14**:404– 411.
- 20. Vazquez S, Bravo JR, Perez AB, Guzman MG. Inhibition ELISA. Its utility for classifying a case of dengue. *Rev Cubana Med Trop.* 1997;49:108–112.
- 21. Russell PK, Nisalak A, Sukhavachana, Vivona S. A plaque reduction test for dengue virus neutralizing antibodies. *J Immunol.* 1967;**99**:285–290.
- 22. Larralde O, Stott D, Martinez R, Camacho F, Amin N, Aguilar A et al. Identification of hepatitis A virus mimotopes by phage display, antigenicity and immunogenicity. *J Virol Meth.* 2007;**140**:49–58.
- 23. Burritt JB, Bond CW, Doss KW, Jesaitis AJ. Filamentous phage display of oligopeptide libraries. *Anal Bioche*. 1996;**238**:1–13.
- 24. Sambrook J, Russell DW. Molecular Cloning. A Laboratory Manual, 3rd ed. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. 2001.
- Hermida C, Pupo M, Guzmán MG, González MC, Marcet R. Use of a dengue anti-complex monoclonal antibody in viral purification. *Rev Cubana Med Trop.* 1992;44:376– 396.
- 26. Burritt JB, Quinn MT, Jutila MA, Bond C, Jesaitis AJ. Topological mapping of neutrophil cytochrome b epitopes with phage-display libraries. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;**270**:16974–16980.

- Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ. Basic local alignment search tool. J Mol Biol. 1990;215:403–410.
- Delmastro P, Meola A, Monaci P, Cortese R, Galfre G. Immunogenicity of filamentous phage displaying peptide mimotopes after oral administration. *Vaccine*. 1997;15:1276–12785.
- 29. Menendez A, Scott JK. The nature of target-unrelated peptides recovered in the screening of phage-displayed random peptide libraries with antibodies. Anal. *Biochem.* 2005;**336**:145–157.
- 30. Wang LF, Yo M. Epitope identification and discovery using phage display libraries: applications in vaccine development and diagnostics. *Curr Drug Targets*. 2004;5:1–15.
- 31. Yang WJ, JF Lai, Peng KC, Chinag HJ, Weng CN, Shivan D. Epitope mapping of mycoplasms hyopneumniaue using phage displayed peptide libraries and the immune responses of the selected phagotopes. J Immunol Methods. 2005;304:15–29.
- 32. Lanzillotti R, Coetzer TL. Phage display: a useful tool for malaria research? *Trends Parasitol*. 2008;**24**:18–23.
- 33. Yu H, Jiang LF, Fang DY, Zheu JJ, Zhou JM, Liang Y, et al. Selection of SARS-coronavirus specific B cell epitopes by phage peptide library screening and evaluation of the immunological effect of epitope based peptides on mice. *Virology.* 2007; **359**: 264–274.
- 34. Yang G, Gao Y, Dong Y, Xue Y, Fang M, Shen B et al. A novel peptide isolated from phage library to substitute a complex system for a vaccine agaisnt staphylococci infection. *Vaccine*. 2006;**24**:1117–1123.
- 35. Irving MB, Pan O, Scott JK. Random-peptide libraries and antigen-fragment libraries for epitope mapping and the development of vaccines and diagnostics. *Curr Opin Chem Biol.* 2001;**5**:314–324.
- 36. Zhang WY, Wan Y, Li DG, Tang Y, Zhou W. A mimotope of pre-S2 region of surface antigen of viral hepatitis B screened by phage display. *Cell Res.* 2001;11:203–208.
- 37. Beckmann C, Brittnacher M, Ernst R, Mayer-Hamblett N, Miller SI, Burns JL. Use of phage display to identify potential Pseudomonas aeruginosa gene products relevant to early cystic fibrosis airway infections. *Infect Immun.* 2005;**73**:444–452.
- Henchal EA, Putnak JR. The dengue viruses. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1990;3:376–396.
- 39. Khan AM, Miotto O, Nascimento E, Srinivasan KN, Heiny AT, Zhang GL et al. Conservation and variability of dengue virus proteins: Implications for vaccine design. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2008;**2**:e272.

Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences, Vol. 16, No. 4, October - December 2009

- 40. Appanna R, Huat TL, Chai See LL, Tan PL, Vadivelu J, Devi S. Cross reactive T cell responses to the nonstructual regions of dengue viruses among dengue fever an dengue hemorrhagic fever patients in Malaysia. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* 2007;**14**:969–977.
- 41. Lobigs M, Arthur CE, Mullbacher A, Blanden RV. The flavivirus nonstructural protein NS3 is a dominant source of cytotoxic T cell peptide determinants. *Virology*. 1994;**240**:169–174.

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# A Study of Learning Environments in the Kulliyyah (Faculty) of Nursing, International Islamic University Malaysia

Nurumal Mohd Said<sup>1</sup>, Jaafar Rogayah<sup>2</sup>, Arzuman Hafizah<sup>2</sup>

' Kulliyyah(Faculty) of Nursing, International Islamic University Malaysia (IIUM), P.O. Box 141, 25710 Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia

<sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Education, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Jln Raja Perempuan Zainab II, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

Submitted: 13 Jun 2009 Accepted: 14 Sep 2009

#### Abstract

*Background:* In a nursing programme, the main objective is to produce nursing graduates who can provide comprehensive care and treatment to the community. A good approach to the systematic design of a learning environment can lead to positive outcomes for graduates. The learning environment is more than student-teacher interaction, teaching and learning activities. Good physical structures and facilities provided by the university are important, too. Furthermore, the university must also be concerned about meeting students' psychosocial and emotional needs. The aim of this study is to measure the learning environment by administering the Dundee Ready Educational Environment Measure (DREEM) questionnaire to students across the four years of the Bachelor of Nursing programme at the Faculty of Nursing, IIUM, and to identify areas for change that may contribute to a more meaningful student learning experience.

*Methods:* The DREEM questionnaire was administered to 105 Bachelor of Nursing students at IIUM.

*Results:* The total mean score on the 50-item DREEM inventory was 120.12 out of a maximum of 200. Student perceptions of learning and their teachers, their academic self, social self and their perception of the atmosphere were all positive. Eight items with low mean scores (less than two) on the DREEM questionnaire were identified as requiring remediation.

*Conclusion:* The implications include the need to create and maintain a supportive environment, in addition to designing and implementing interventions to remedy unsatisfactory elements of the learning environment if effective and successful teaching and learning are to be realised. Thus, specific remedial steps to improve the student learning environment of the Faculty of Nursing, IIUM are described.

Keywords: learning environment, curriculum, nursing and DREEM, health sciences

#### Introduction

The learning environment is not limited to student-teacher interaction, teaching and learning activities, but also includes having good physical structures and facilities provided by the university (1). The university has to be concerned about students' psychosocial and emotional needs as well. By providing all these features, the university has the potential to offer a productive learning environment. Studying the learning environment is important in improving the quality of an educational programme (2). Many universities use a basic approach to determine students' needs by viewing students as main stakeholders in their own education (3).

In nursing education, teachers have paid particular attention to student perceptions of the learning environment (4). Moreover, students' perceptions of the learning environment should be studied over time. This is because of changes in student-body composition and the teacher population. Sometimes new innovative educational approaches can also give rise to different student perceptions.

#### The concept of the learning environment

Learning environment issues in higher education can be viewed through many perspectives. Each school has its own understanding about its learning environment. However, the concept of the learning environment must come from someone who is an expert in the education field. This is because historically, the learning environment is derived from educational practise. Therefore, in order to implement a good and appropriate learning environment, we need to understand the concept of the learning environment and implement it in our school appropriately. The concept of learning has been well-recognised in the educational literature but is a relatively new concept in nursing education (5-7).

Bloom (5) described the educational or learning environment concept as "the conditions, forces, and external stimuli which challenge on the individual. These forces may be physical, social, as well as intellectual forces and conditions". He conceived a range of environments from the most immediate social interactions to the more remote cultural and institutional forces. He regarded the environment as providing a network of "forces and factors which surround, engulf, and play on the individual". Therefore, it can be said that the learning environment is an interactive network of forces within the teaching and learning activities that influence students' learning outcomes. Specifically, in nursing education, the learning environment has to be integrated between theory and clinical practise in order to obtain balanced learning outcomes (6–8).

The DREEM instrument is able to assess both components—theory and clinical practise. It also includes all aspects involving teaching and learning in both the medical or health professional schools that are synonymous with the clinical environment. Although the learning environment is a subtle and intangible concept, considerable progress has been made over the last quarter of the twentieth century in its conceptualisation. The development of assessment inventories enables student perceptions of the learning environment to be quantified and compared, either longitudinally within a single health care institution or between institutions (9).

A British study clearly recognised the existence of a learning environment and identified several areas of importance in the characterisation of that environment. Organisational and attitudinal characteristics were major predictors of the learning environment. Organisational issues identified included: the ward routine, patient care, the structuring of teaching, and the matching of

clinical and classroom procedures (curriculum). A ward attitude that recognises and values the students as learners provides a superior learning environment (8). Therefore, ward staff are the most influential participants, apart from the students themselves, in the learning environment. They are the gate keepers and guides to learning opportunities, and the students' most consistent link between the educational and workplace demands of the learning environment (10).

#### Kulliyyah (Faculty) of Nursing, IIUM

The Kullivvah of Nursing, the most recently established of the International Islamic University Malaysia (IIUM) kulliyyahs, admitted its first class of undergraduate degree programme students in June, 2004. The curriculum of the nursing kullivvah at IIUM, as in all nursing schools in Malaysia, is still a mix of innovative and conventional practises that have been in existence for more than a decade. Although the nursing programme has changed from a hospital-based to a university-based education, the teaching styles remain the same. The main approach in teaching and learning activities is teacher-centred, in which information is provided via lecture to a large number of students, and the students fully depend on the information gathered in their lectures. In tutorial and practical sessions, students participate more actively but still expect their teachers to continue providing information. Interestingly, most of the nursing schools in Malaysia are now introducing some innovative approaches in their programmes, such as problembased learning through subject-oriented practise. However, the goals of these approaches are difficult to achieve due to subject-based practises in the curriculum. For instance, problem-based learning is only effective if it is used with a multidisciplinary approach that is integrated into the curriculum (11).

As one of the newest faculties at IIUM, the Kullivyah of Nursing aims to produce highly competent nursing graduates by introducing sophisticated teaching and learning environments. Hence, this study aims to determine nursing students' perceptions of the learning environment in their undergraduate nursing programme and identify areas for change. The objective is to use this information to critically evaluate the learning environment, with a view to enhancing the learning experience, after four years of running the programme. Therefore, the findings of this study will be used as baseline information for the curriculum review committee to inform changes to the current curriculum that will improve the quality of student life on campus, including

areas such as social atmosphere and effective administration. Moreover, the study findings may assist in developing guidelines to help teachers improve their teaching skills in relation to students' perceptions.

As at the commencement of the 2007/2008 academic year, the focus of the Kulliyyah's teaching activities are on the conduct of Years One, Two, Three and Four of its four-year undergraduate programme, which leads to the award of the Bachelor of Nursing (Honours) degree. This programme has been designed to prepare nurses for entry-level professional practise and, at the same time, provide a strong basis for postgraduate study. The programme is four years long and incorporates a substantial amount of guided clinical practice in hospitals and health care settings as well as a range of campus-based theoretical and laboratory-based teaching and learning activities. The objectives of this study are:

• to identify the overall score of nursing students' for the learning environment of the IIUM nursing programme

• to identify any differences between mean scores on the learning environment survey across the various years of the nursing programme

#### Materials and methods

This research used a quantitative, crosssectional survey design. All nursing students from years one to four (n = 107) were eligible to participate as study respondents. The study took place at the Kulliyyah of Nursing, IIUM. The researchers sought ethical approval from the Kullivvah of Nursing. IIUM and the Centre of Medical Education, Dundee University. The questionnaire was distributed each year of the Bachelor of Nursing programme. Participants provided their consent prior the completion of the questionnaire, after reading a summary of information regarding the purpose of the survey, and their confidentiality and anonymity were assured on at the front page. The total time required to answer the 50-item questionnaire was estimated at approximately 20 minutes. Participant return the completed questionnaire in the sealed box provided.

#### Instrument

The Dundee Ready Education Measure (DREEM) is an internationally validated, nonculturally specific inventory that provides medical and health profession educators with a diagnostic tool to measure the state of their school's learning and teaching climate (2). It can produce global readings and diagnostic analyses of an undergraduate learning environment in medical schools and other health profession institutes. It allows quality assurance comparisons between courses and even between components of a particular course. The items in DREEM are of such a nature that it is the environment of the entire curriculum is being assessed.

Roff et al. (12) developed the 50-item DREEM using a standard methodology utilising grounded theory and a Delphi panel of nearly 100 health profession educators from around the world, with validation by over 1 000 students in countries as diverse as Scotland, Argentina, Bangladesh and Ethiopia. Participants were asked to measure 'diagnose' the undergraduate learning and environments for the health professions. The instrument was designed to be a non-culturally specific instrument and was used in several settings including the Middle East, Oman, Thailand, Nepal, Nigeria, United Kingdom, Canada, Ireland, Indonesia, Malaysia, Norway, Sweden, Venezuela, the West Indies, Sri Lanka, and Yemen (13).

DREEM was used as an instrument to measure students' perceptions of their learning environment and allowed quality assurance comparisons between years as well as within the theoretical and clinical components of a particular programme. The response options for items on the DREEM inventory are: 4 for Strongly Agree (SA), 3 for Agree (A), 2 for Uncertain (U), 1 for Strongly Disagree (SD). However, nine of the 50 items (numbers 4, 8, 9, 17, 25, 35, 39, 48, and 50) are negative statements and therefore reverse coding is required. The 50 DREEM items add up to a maximum score of 200, which would be an 'ideal learning environment'. A score of o is the minimum and would be a worrying result for any medical or health institution. The instrument contains five domains, which are as follows (12):

- 1. Student perception of learning (SPoL) 12 items / maximum score = 48
- 2. Student perception of teaching (SPoT) 11 items / maximum score = 44
- 3. Student academic self-perception (SASP) 8 items / maximum score = 32
- 4. Student perception of atmosphere (SPoA) 12 items / maximum score = 48
- 5. Student social self-perception (SSSP) 7 items / maximum score = 28

SPSS (version 12.0.1) was used to analyse the data in this study. Data were coded, entered, checked for data entry errors, explored and cleaned. The researcher used alphas of 0.05 and confident intervals of 95%. Frequencies for each items score were tabulated, and any missing records verified. Statistical assumptions were tested prior to running the analyses, and all variables were found to satisfy the assumptions for the normal distribution, homogeneity of variance and independence of observations.

#### **Participants**

The response rate among the Bachelor of Nursing students at IIUM was 98.13%; 105 out of 107 students returned the completed survey forms. Eighteen (17.10%) were males and 87 (82.90%) were females. Ages ranged from 19 to 23 years, with a mean age of 21.18 (SD = 1.01) years. Year One students represented the largest cohort, making up (45.70%) of respondents. This was followed by Year Two (22.90%) and Year Three (20.00%) respondents. The lowest number of respondents was from the Year Four nursing students (11.40%), representing the first batch of nursing students to commence study at IIUM, in 2004 (Table 1). All the respondents underwent matriculation at the IIUM foundation centre prior to enrolling in the nursing bachelor program and were staying together in the same hostel accommodation provided by IIUM on campus.

#### Results

#### Total DREEM score for Bachelor of Nursing, IIUM

Table 1 shows the overall mean DREEM scores for IIUM Bachelor of Nursing respondents. The mean total score was 120.12 out of 200 for the 50 items, and this total score was in the range for 'positive' (rather than 'negative') learning environments. Eight items had mean scores of less than two, with an average of one to two items in each domain. The highest mean score was 3.18 (item 2), and the lowest mean score was 1.56 (item 12). Only three items had a real positive perception, from the respondents' point of view. A total of 39 items had aspects of the learning environment climate that could be enhanced.

# Total of each domain score for the Bachelor of Nursing, IIUM

Table 2 illustrates the total mean scores for each of the five domains in the DREEM inventory. The total mean score for domain 1 was 28.54 out of 48.00. The highest score was 31.43, from Year One. The overall total score for this domain represents a 'positive' perception of the learning environment. For domain 2, the maximum attainable score was

**Table 1:** Single item mean scores for learning environment of the IIUM nursing students in each year, and overall scores.

Item	Year One (n=48)	Year Two (n=24)	Year Three (n=21)	Year Four (n=12)	Overall (n=105)
Students' perception of learning (SPoL)					
1. I am encouraged to participate in class	2.94	2.92	2.90	3.08	2.94
7. The teaching is often stimulating	3.05	2.25	2.48	2.42	2.69*
13. The teaching is student-centred	2.29	1.71	1.57	1.67	1.94*
16. The teacher is sufficiently concerned about developing my competence	2.85	2.08	1.86	1.92	2.37*
20. The teaching well-focused	2.60	2.08	1.90	1.92	$2.27^{*}$
22. The teacher is sufficiently concerned about developing my confidence	2.81	2.08	1.71	1.92	2.32*
24. The teaching is put to good use	2.98	2.37	2.19	2.25	2.60*
25. The teaching is over-emphasised, compared with factual learning	1.92	1.83	2.14	1.83	1.93
38. I am clear about the learning objectives of the course	2.65	2.63	2.43	2.42	2.57
44. The teaching strategies encourage me to be an active learner	2.69	2.04	2.14	2.08	2.36*
47. Long-term learning is emphasised over short- term learning	2.58	2.83	2.71	2.17	2.62
48. The teaching is too teacher-centred	2.08	1.96	1.76	1.50	2.00

Students' perception of teaching (SPoT)					
2. The teachers are knowledgeable	3.77	2.50	2.86	2.75	3.18*
6. The teachers are patient with patients	3.11	2.37	2.67	2.33	$2.77^{*}$
8. The teachers ridicule the students	3.19	2.29	2.33	2.17	$2.70^{*}$
9. The teachers are authoritarian	1.50	1.79	1.57	1.50	1.58
18. The teachers have good communication skills with patients	3.04	2.17	2.81	2.25	2.70*
29. The teachers are good at providing feedback to students	2.92	1.79	1.57	2.17	2.30*
32. The teachers provide constructive criticism here	2.63	2.21	2.24	2.50	2.44
37. The teachers are approachable	2.96	2.46	2.48	2.50	$2.70^{*}$
39. The teachers get angry in class	3.08	1.92	1.76	2.08	2.44*
40. The teachers are well-prepared for their classes	3.06	2.13	2.38	2.67	2.67*
50. The students irritate the teachers	2.71	2.75	2.67	2.25	2.66
Student academic self -perception (SSAP)	0.01	1.00		- <b>-</b>	
5. Learning strategies which worked for me before continue to work for me now	2.21	1.83	2.14	2.50	2.14
10. I am confident about passing this year	2.94	2.75	3.10	2.58	2.89
21. I feel I am being well-prepared for my profession	2.56	1.87	1.52	1.58	2.09*
26. Last year's work has been a good preparation for this year's work	2.29	2.25	1.52	1.92	2.09*
31. I have learned a lot about empathy in my profession	3.12	3.17	3.33	2.50	3.10*
41. My problem-solving skills are being well- developed here	2.60	2.29	2.19	2.17	2.40
45. Much of what I have to learn seems relevant to a career in nursing	3.21	2.88	2.86	2.83	3.02
27. I am able to memorise all I need	1.90	1.62	1.48	1.42	1.70
Students' perception of atmosphere (SPoA)					
12. This kulliyyah is scheduled well	2.46	1.13	0.48	0.75	1.56*
17. Cheating is a problem in the kulliyyah	2.19	3.04	1.90	2.58	$2.37^{*}$
23. The atmosphere is relaxed during lectures	2.77	2.13	2.24	1.92	2.42*
<b>30.</b> There are opportunities for me to develop interpersonal skills	3.23	2.96	2.67	2.50	2.97*
33. I feel comfortable in class, socially	2.94	2.79	2.67	2.17	2.76*
34. The atmosphere is relaxed during teaching sessions and tutorials	2.83	2.29	2.38	1.92	2.51*
35. I find the experiences disappointing	2.58	2.13	2.14	2.00	2.32
36. I am able to concentrate well	2.10	1.96	1.81	2.00	2.00
42. The enjoyment outweighs the stress of studying nursing	2.46	2.17	2.57	1.50	2.30*
43. The atmosphere motivates me as a learner	2.81	2.38	2.29	2.00	$2.51^{*}$
49. I feel confident to ask the questions I want	2.12	2.38	2.10	2.33	2.20
11. The atmosphere is relaxed during the ward teaching	2.44	1.08	1.52	1.50	1.84*

Note: * D < O OF					
OVERALL	132.06	112.20	110.05	105.83	120.12
3. There is a good support system for students who become stressed	2.19	1.71	1.52	1.58	1.88*
46. My accommodations are pleasant	2.50	2.58	2.76	2.50	2.57
28. I seldom feel lonely and friendless	1.85	1.88	2.19	2.50	2.00
19. My spiritual and social life are good	2.94	2.75	2.48	2.58	2.76
15. I have good peers in this kulliyyah	3.37	3.08	2.90	2.67	$3.13^{*}$
14. I am rarely bored of this course	1.40	1.79	1.86	1.67	1.61
4. I am too tired to enjoy this course	2.60	2.17	2.29	1.33	$2.30^{*}$
Student social self-perception (SSSP)					

Note: \* P < 0.05 Negative items are in italics

44, with 11 items included. This domain scores suggest that the respondents had a favourable impression of their teachers. For domain 3, there was not much difference in scores across years, and the mean overall scores fell to 19.42. Scores on domain 4 reveal positive perceptions of the atmosphere; the total mean score was 27.78. Lastly, domain 5 scores suggest that the respondents' social self-perceptions were in the category of average with the total mean of 16.23. This domain illustrates the students could tolerate their social environment, incorporate with their teaching and learning activities in the campus.

# Differences of means in learning environment in the Bachelor of Nursing programme

Table 3 describes the mean differences in learning environment by year of study. The null hypothesis is rejected at the 5% significance level because a Bonferroni post hoc test shows a significant mean difference between mean Year One and mean Year Two scores [19.85 (9.33 – 30.38)], three [22.01 (11.00 – 33.03)] and four scores [26.22 (12.64 – 39.82)].

#### Discussion

The survey results suggest that the Kulliyyah of Nursing, IIUM has achieved a more positive than negative status, which is just a level below the highest category of achievable scores. Students of the innovative curricula tend to show more satisfaction with their educational environments, compared to students of the traditional curricula (13). Higher DREEM scores tend to indicate more student-centred curricula, while those offering conventional curricula commonly score less than 120 out of 200 (13). Even though the IIUM's total mean scores are above 200, many students perceive that IIUM does not have a studentcentred approach; scores were low (mean = 1.93) for item 13 (The teaching is student-centred). This is possibly because there is no integration between subjects, which may cause them much difficulty in utilising available learning resources effectively. An integrated curriculum is one of the strategies that could be introduced to enhance student-centred education (1). In another study, it was found that among three medical schools in the Middle East (King Faisal University (KFU) in Saudi Arabia, which has a traditional curriculum; and Arab Gulf University (AGU) in Bahrain and United Arab Emirate University (UAE), which have innovative curricula) students at AGU and UAE perceived their learning environment as more satisfactory compared with students at KFU. This was reflected in the mean total DREEM scores of 127.00 for AGU, 125.00 for UAE and 111.00 for KFU respectively.

In the present study, the overall DREEM score is 120.12 out of a maximum 200, from four groups of nursing students at the Kullivyah of Nursing, IIUM. The Year One group had the highest score, with a mean of 132.06. The Year Two, Three and Four group students' overall mean DREEM scores were in the range of 105.83 to 112.20. The findings are in line with those of Hla et al. (14), who noted a trend for reduced scores in the senior years. It was suggested that this trend could be due to the fact that students genuinely believed that the learning environment was deteriorating, and thus were psychologically tired of being a student and looking forward to leaving student life. The students' perceptions in Year One could have been high initially, and dissatisfaction may have crept in as the novelty of joining a nursing student body wore off.

Domain 2         Students' Perception of Teaching (SPoT) – 11 items       1       (48)       31.98 (3.629)         2       (24)       24.38 (4.490)         3       (21)       25.33 (5.072)         4       (12)       25.12 (3.157)         Overall: 28.13 / 44.00       4       (12)         Domain 3         Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items       1       (48)       20.83 (3.117)         2       (24)       18.67 (4.498)       3       (21)       18.14 (3.610)         4       (12)       17.50 (2.393)       0verall: 19.42 / 32.00       4       (12)       17.50 (2.393)         Domain 4         Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SP0A) – 12 items       1       (48)       30.94(4.304)         2       (24)       26.42(5.241)       2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         3       (21)       24.76(5.029)       4       (12)       23.17(2.552)	Domain	Year	(n)	Mean (SD)
Students' Perception of Learning (SPoL) – 12 items 1 (48) 31.43 (3.994) 2 (24) 26.79 (5.500) 3 (21) 25.48 (4.966) 4 (12) 25.17 (3.857) Overall: 28.54 / 48.00 Domain 2 Students' Perception of Teaching (SPoT) – 11 items 1 (48) 31.98 (3.629) 2 (24) 24.38 (4.490) 3 (21) 25.33 (5.072) 4 (12) 25.12 (3.157) Overall: 28.13 / 44.00 Domain 3 Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items 1 (48) 20.83 (3.117) 2 (24) 18.67 (4.498) 3 (21) 18.14 (3.610) 4 (12) 17.50 (2.393) Overall: 19.42 / 32.00 Domain 4 Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items 1 (48) 30.94(4.304) 2 (24) 26.42(5.241) 3 (21) 24.76(5.029) 4 (12) 23.17(2.552) Overall: 27.78 / 48.00 Domain 5 Students' Social Self - Perception (SSSP) – 7 items 1 (48) 16.85(3.390) 2 (24) 15.96(4.154) 3 (21) 16.00(3.178) 4 (12) 14.83(2.125)	Domain 1			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1	(48)	31.43 (3.994)
3 (21) 25.48 (4.966) 4 (12) 25.17 (3.857) Overall: 28.54 / 48.00 Domain 2 Students' Perception of Teaching (SPoT) – 11 items 1 (48) 31.98 (3.629) 2 (24) 24.38 (4.490) 3 (21) 25.33 (5.072) 4 (12) 25.12 (3.157) Overall: 28.13 / 44.00 Domain 3 Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items 1 (48) 20.83 (3.117) 2 (24) 18.67 (4.498) 3 (21) 18.14 (3.610) 4 (12) 17.50 (2.393) Overall: 19.42 / 32.00 Domain 4 Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items 1 (48) 30.94(4.304) 2 (24) 26.42(5.241) 3 (21) 24.76(5.029) 4 (12) 23.17(2.552) Overall: 27.78 / 48.00 Domain 5 Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items 1 (48) 16.85(3.390) 2 (24) 15.96(4.154) 3 (21) 16.00(3.178) 4 (12) 14.83(2.125)		2		
4       (12)       25.17 (3.857)         Overall: 28.54 / 48.00       1       (48)       31.98 (3.629)         2       (24)       24.38 (4.490)         3       (21)       25.33 (5.072)         4       (12)       25.12 (3.157)         Overall: 28.13 / 44.00         Domain 3         Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items         1       (48)       20.83 (3.117)         2       (24)       18.67 (4.498)         3       (21)       18.14 (3.610)         4       (12)       17.50 (2.393)         Overall: 19.42 / 32.00       2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPOA) – 12 items       1       (48)       30.94(4.304)         2       (24)       26.42(5.241)       3       (21)       24.76(5.029)         A       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00         Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items       1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21) </td <td></td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td></td>		3		
Overall: 28.54 / 48.00 Domain 2 Students' Perception of Teaching (SPoT) – 11 items 1 (48) 31.98 (3.629) 2 (24) 24.38 (4.490) 3 (21) 25.33 (5.072) 4 (12) 25.12 (3.157) Overall: 28.13 / 44.00 Domain 3 Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items 1 (48) 20.83 (3.117) 2 (24) 18.67 (4.498) 3 (21) 18.14 (3.610) 4 (12) 17.50 (2.393) Overall: 19.42 / 32.00 Domain 4 Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPOA) – 12 items 1 (48) 30.94(4.304) 2 (24) 26.42(5.241) 3 (21) 24.76(5.029) 4 (12) 23.17(2.552) Overall: 27.78 / 48.00 Domain 5 Students' Social Self - Perception (SSSP) – 7 items 1 (48) 16.85(3.390) 2 (24) 15.96(4.154) 3 (21) 16.00(3.178) 4 (12) 14.83(2.125)				
Students' Perception of Teaching (SPoT) – 11 items 1 (48) 31.98 (3.629) 2 (24) 24.38 (4.490) 3 (21) 25.33 (5.072) 4 (12) 25.12 (3.157) Overall: <b>28.13 / 44.00</b> <b>Domain 3</b> Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items 1 (48) 20.83 (3.117) 2 (24) 18.67 (4.498) 3 (21) 18.14 (3.610) 4 (12) 17.50 (2.393) Overall: <b>19.42 / 32.00</b> <b>Domain 4</b> Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items 1 (48) 30.94(4.304) 2 (24) 26.42(5.241) 3 (21) 24.76(5.029) 4 (12) 23.17(2.552) Overall: <b>27.78 / 48.00</b> <b>Domain 5</b> Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items 1 (48) 16.85(3.390) 2 (24) 15.96(4.154) 3 (21) 16.00(3.178) 4 (12) 14.83(2.125)	Overall: 28.54 / 48.00	·		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Domain 2			
$\begin{array}{c ccccc} 3 & (21) & 25.33 (5.072) \\ 4 & (12) & 25.12 (3.157) \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Students' Perception of Teaching (SPoT) – 11 items	1	(48)	31.98 (3.629)
4       (12) $25.12$ ( $3.157$ )         Overall: $28.13 / 44.00$ Domain 3         Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items       1       (48) $20.83$ ( $3.117$ )         2       (24) $18.67$ ( $4.498$ )       3       (21) $18.14$ ( $3.610$ )         4       (12) $17.50$ ( $2.393$ )       0         Overall: $19.42 / 32.00$ Domain 4         Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items       1       ( $48$ ) $30.94(4.304)$ 2       ( $24$ ) $26.42(5.241)$ 3       ( $21$ ) $24.76(5.029)$ Overall: $27.78 / 48.00$ Domain 5         Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items       1       ( $48$ ) $16.85(3.390)$ 2       ( $24$ ) $15.96(4.154)$ 2       ( $24$ ) $15.96(4.154)$ 3       ( $21$ ) $16.00(3.178)$ 4       ( $12$ ) $14.83(2.125)$		2	(24)	24.38 (4.490)
Overall: 28.13 / 44.00         Domain 3         Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items       1       (48)       20.83 (3.117)         2       (24)       18.67 (4.498)         3       (21)       18.14 (3.610)         4       (12)       17.50 (2.393)         Overall: 19.42 / 32.00       4       (12)       17.50 (2.393)         Overall: 19.42 / 32.00       2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         3       (21)       24.76(5.029)       2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         3       (21)       24.76(5.029)       4       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00       2       (24)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)       2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)       2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)       4       (12)       14.83(2.125)		3	(21)	25.33 (5.072)
Domain 3         Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items       1 $(48)$ $20.83$ ( $3.117$ )         2 $(24)$ $18.67$ ( $4.498$ )       3 $(21)$ $18.14$ ( $3.610$ )         3 $(21)$ $18.14$ ( $3.610$ )       4 $(12)$ $17.50$ ( $2.393$ )         Overall: 19.42 / 32.00         Domain 4         Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items       1 $(48)$ $30.94(4.304)$ 2 $(24)$ $26.42(5.241)$ 3 $(21)$ $24.76(5.029)$ A $(12)$ $23.17(2.552)$ Overall: $27.78 / 48.00$ Domain 5         Students' Social Self - Perception (SSSP) – 7 items       1 $(48)$ $16.85(3.390)$ 2 $(24)$ $15.96(4.154)$ Students' Social Self - Perception (SSSP) – 7 items       1 $(48)$ $16.85(3.390)$ 2 $(24)$ $15.96(4.154)$ 3 $(21)$ $16.00(3.178)$ 4 $(12)$ $14.83(2.125)$		4	(12)	25.12 (3.157)
Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items 1 (48) 20.83 (3.117) 2 (24) 18.67 (4.498) 3 (21) 18.14 (3.610) 4 (12) 17.50 (2.393) Overall: 19.42 / 32.00 Domain 4 Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPOA) – 12 items 1 (48) 30.94(4.304) 2 (24) 26.42(5.241) 3 (21) 24.76(5.029) 4 (12) 23.17(2.552) Overall: 27.78 / 48.00 Domain 5 Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items 1 (48) 16.85(3.390) 2 (24) 15.96(4.154) 3 (21) 16.00(3.178) 4 (12) 14.83(2.125)	Overall: 28.13 / 44.00			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Domain 3			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Student Academic Self – Perceptions (SASP) – 8 items	1	(48)	20.83 (3.117)
4       (12)       17.50 (2.393)         Overall: 19.42 / 32.00       7       1       10         Domain 4       1       (48)       30.94(4.304)         2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         3       (21)       24.76(5.029)         4       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00       1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)       3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)       1       14.83(2.125)       1		2	(24)	18.67 (4.498)
Overall: 19.42 / 32.00         Domain 4         Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items       1       (48)       30.94(4.304)         2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         3       (21)       24.76(5.029)         4       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00       1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)       3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)       1       14.83(2.125)		3	(21)	18.14 (3.610)
Domain 4         Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items       1 $(48)$ $30.94(4.304)$ 2 $(24)$ $26.42(5.241)$ 3 $(21)$ $24.76(5.029)$ 4 $(12)$ $23.17(2.552)$ Overall: $27.78 / 48.00$ Domain 5         Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items         1 $(48)$ $16.85(3.390)$ 2 $(24)$ $15.96(4.154)$ 3 $(21)$ $16.00(3.178)$ 4 $(12)$ $14.83(2.125)$		4	(12)	17.50 (2.393)
Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items       1       (48)       30.94(4.304)         2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         3       (21)       24.76(5.029)         4       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00         Domain 5         Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items         1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)	Overall: 19.42 / 32.00			
Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items       1       (48)       30.94(4.304)         2       (24)       26.42(5.241)         3       (21)       24.76(5.029)         4       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00         Domain 5         Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items         1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)	Domain 4			
2 (24) 26.42(5.241) 3 (21) 24.76(5.029) 4 (12) 23.17(2.552) Domain 5 Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items 1 (48) 16.85(3.390) 2 (24) 15.96(4.154) 3 (21) 16.00(3.178) 4 (12) 14.83(2.125)	Students' Perception of Atmosphere (SPoA) – 12 items	1	(48)	30.94(4.304)
3       (21)       24.76(5.029)         4       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00         Domain 5         Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items         1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)		2	(24)	
4       (12)       23.17(2.552)         Overall: 27.78 / 48.00       1       12         Domain 5       1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)		3		
Overall: 27.78 / 48.00         Domain 5         Students' Social Self - Perception (SSSP) – 7 items       1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)				
Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items       1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)	Overall: 27.78 / 48.00			
Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items       1       (48)       16.85(3.390)         2       (24)       15.96(4.154)         3       (21)       16.00(3.178)         4       (12)       14.83(2.125)				
$\begin{array}{ccccc} 2 & (24) & 15.96(4.154) \\ 3 & (21) & 16.00(3.178) \\ 4 & (12) & 14.83(2.125) \end{array}$	-			
$\begin{array}{cccc} 3 & (21) & 16.00(3.178) \\ 4 & (12) & 14.83(2.125) \end{array}$	Students' Social Self -Perception (SSSP) – 7 items			
4 (12) 14.83(2.125)				
		4	(12)	14.83(2.125)

**Table 2:** Total of each domain score across all years of the Bachelor of Nursing programme at IIUM

		0		U U
Variable	(n)	Mean (SD)	F stat (df)	P-value
Year One	48	132.06 (14.18)		
Year Two	24	112.20 (19.40)	17.61(3, 103)	<0.001
Year Three	21	110.05 (16.89)		
Year Four	12	105.83 ( 9.27)		

**Table 3:** Mean differences in learning environment by year of study

Two local studies assessing students' learning environments using the DREEM questionnaire were from the International Medical University, which recorded a mean score of 129.30 (14), and the Dental Training Institute of Malaysia, which cited a mean DREEM score of 121.50 (15). A study of final year medical students in Trinidad reported an overall mean DREEM score of 109.9 (16). A large-scale study, involving medical students from both final and earlier undergraduate training years, showed a mean DREEM score of 118.00 in a Nigerian medical school and 129.00 in a Nepalese medical school. Interestingly, the Nigerian study had been analysed according to gender and academic year and was found to have statistically significant differences for gender and academic vear (17). One of the largest samples (n = 968)reported an overall mean DREEM score of 128.80 for medical students in the UK (18).

There are also a few studies which have demonstrated higher overall mean DREEM mean scores. In Malaysia, a study by Intan (19) reported a high mean DREEM score of 134.42. Intan's study was carried out in one of the private nursing colleges in Kota Bahru. In a series of UK learning environment studies, Miles and Leinster (20) recorded the highest mean DREEM score-142.91. Their study measured medical students' perceptions of the learning environment by asking about their expected and actual perceptions. Interestingly, the expected mean DREEM mean score was much higher (152.46) when compared to the actual DREEM mean score. Roff et al. (17) reported (in another study in the UK which attempted to measure whether the learning environment perceived by students varied at different teaching hospital centres) a relatively high mean DREEM score of 139.00.

#### Differences of means in the learning environment

It is interesting to note that from the overall DREEM score in the study, we can summarise that there are significant differences between the DREEM scores across the four-year nursing programme at IIUM. Mean responses of the four groups were compared to determine which yeargroups significantly differed from one another. The results of these comparisons indicated large differences between all the years (mean differences were in the range of 19.85 to 26.22). Obvious differences were clearly seen between Year One and Year Four. It is possible that Year One students' scores were influenced by their expectations and knowledge that they were coming to a new nursing school (20). First year students' scores might have been higher due to the fact that they had only been at the Kulliyyah of Nursing for six months when they were asked to complete the questionnaire and they had therefore not yet experienced many stressful aspects of the learning environment, such as relating theoretical knowledge to the clinical practise environment. Moreover, the apparent differences in how the different groups experienced the learning environment at the institution highlight differences in their degree of experience in both the institution and the curriculum. For instance, it is possible to identify some stress points among final year students due to their more challenging teaching and learning activities (17).

This feedback from our students will inform a revised curriculum aimed at enhancing the quality of the learning environment in this Bachelor of Nursing programme. Issues will be addressed by the Curriculum Review Committee in 2010. Notwithstanding, a short-term strategic plan has been implemented in order to deliver an optimally conducive learning environment for junior nursing students at all year levels.

The researchers would like to investigate students' insights relating to the items that were scored as unsatisfactory by conducting focus groups in the near future. The focal elements are those items with a mean score of less than two. This is because any items with a mean of less than two represent poor learning environments, and by conducting focus groups, we may learn what the main problems are and how they might be addressed

#### Recommendations

Nursing students in the Kulliyyah of Nursing value theory and clinical practise and the possibilities they offer in the process of becoming a nurse and a professional. First and foremost, it is important to recognise and accept the negative viewpoints of the students, with regard to features of their learning environment. The Kulliyyah should be able to provide a suitable, conducive and harmonious learning environment at the right time, so that theory and practice can complement each other.

Based on the study findings, we suggest specific plans of action in order to provide a quality learning environment for Bachelor of Nursing students. The recommendations are as follows:

- 1. Prepare detailed documentation for the Curriculum Committee on the findings of the DREEM inventory as baseline information for the next curriculum review.
- 2. Provide information on student perceptions of their learning environment to each Kulliyyah member. This will potentially influence each member in facilitating the planning and implementation of student-centred (rather than teacher-dominated) curriculum.
- 3. Plan and implement a strategic faculty development programme to focus on student-centred learning for academic staff members.
- 4. Provide strong student support facilities for counselling, sporting and cultural activities on the campus. The Kulliyyah should be aware that students need to not only focus on their studies but should also have the opportunity to experience extra-curricular activities and meaningful experiences on campus.
- 5. Improve scheduling so students are kept informed and prepared for their learning activities.
- 6. Create a harmonious learning environment during students' clinical postings and provide them with detailed, clinical learning objectives.
- 7. Stimulate and facilitate students' efforts at integrating theory components with practice and help them to approach learning as a lifelong process, rather than as mere factual learning.
- 8. Reward teachers for excellence in teaching and leadership so that they are motivated in their careers.

#### Conclusion

This small study has provided useful information on student perceptions of their learning environment by using the DREEM inventory. The study identified mean overall DREEM scores of 120.12/200 from four groups of IIUM Bachelor of Nursing students. Although the overall learning environment score of this Kulliyyah was observed to be just one step below 'excellent', there were eight items out of the 50 that showed mean scores of less than 2.00 that should be examined more closely, as they indicate problem areas. Subsequently, a focus group discussion should be performed as a follow-up to explore further the actual learning environment problems in the Kullivyah of Nursing. These findings need to be interpreted with caution, as the size of the sample from each year was quite different, as previously discussed. The recommendations arising from this DREEM study at IIUM include the need for the creation of a supportive environment, in addition to designing and implementing interventions to remedy unsatisfactorily elements of the learning environment for more effective and successful teaching and learning.

#### Acknowledgements

This study has received a grant from the International Islamic University Malaysia. We are grateful to Professor Dr. Kamaruzaman Wan Su, who supported our study, Ms. Sue Roff, from Dundee University, who consented to our use of the DREEM questionnaire, and Ms. Atika Masni Abd Malek, Ms. Azlina Daud, Ms. Sanisah Saidi, Ms. Norhafizah Ab Manan and to the all the respondents for assisting and participating in the study. Also, I would like to extend my warmest gratitude to the all reviewers of MJMS for providing advice and editorial support for this manuscript.

#### Author's contributions

Conception and design, data collection, analysis and interpretation, drafting of article, obtaining funding: NMS

Critical revision and final approval of the article: JR, HA

#### Correspondence

Mohd Said Nurumal Dip.Nrsg (UM), BNS(Hons) (Dublin), MMEd (USM) Kulliyyah(Faculty) of Nursing P.o Box 141 25710 Kuantan Pahang, Malaysia Tel: +609-513 3710 Fax: +609-513 3615 Email: mohdsaid@iiu.edu.my

#### References

- 1. Harden R. The learning environment and the curriculum. *Med Teach.* 2001;**23**: 335–336.
- 2. Pimparyon P, Roff S, McAller S, Poonchai B, Pemba S. Educational environment, student approaches to learning and academic achievement in a Thai nursing school. *Med Teach*. 2000;**22**:359–364.
- Genn J. AMEE Medical Education Guide No 23(Part1): Curriculum, environment, climate, quality and change in medical education—a unifying perspectives. *Med Teach.* 2001;23:337–344.
- Chan D. Combining qualitative and quantitative methods in hospital learning environment. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2001;**38**:447–459.
- 5. Bloom BS. Stability and change in human characteristics. John Wiley & Sons: New York; 1964.
- 6. Biggs J. Student approaches to learning and studying. Australian Council for Educational Research: Melbourne; 1987.
- 7. Hart G. The clinical learning environment nurses' perceptions of professional development in clinical settings [doctoral thesis]. Sydney: University of New South Wales; 1992.
- Dunn SV, Burnett P. The development of a clinical learning environment scale. J Adv Nurs. 1995;22:1166– 1173.
- Awdah AH, Adulmonem AH, Roff S. Perception of the educational environment of the medical school in King Abdul Aziz University, Saudi Arabia. *Med Teach*. 2004a;**26(6)**:570–573.
- Dunn SV, Hansford B. Undergraduate nursing students' perception of their clinical learning environment. JAdv Nurs.1996;25:1299–1306.
- Dent J, Harden R. A practical guide for medical teacher. 2nd ed. Edinburgh: Elsevier Churchill Livingstone; 2005.
- Roff S, McAleer S, Harden R, Al-Qahtani M, Ahmed A, Deza H, Groenen G, Pimparyon P. Development and validation of the Dundee Ready Education Environment Measure (DREEM). *Med Teach*. 1997;19(4):295–299.

- Awdah AH, Raniah Z, Abdulmonem A, Nageeb H, Abdallah G, Gominda P, Indika K, Roff S, McAleer S, Davis M. Educational environment in traditional and innovative medical schools: A study in four undergraduate medical schools. *Educ Health.* 2004b; 17:192–203.
- 14. Hla YY, Arokiasamy C, Fang K, Raben R. IMU Through Students' Eyes: The IMU REEM. [Unpublished]. Kuala Lumpur: International Medical Univesity; 2007.
- Zamzuri AT, Azli NA, Roff S, McAleer S. How do students at Dental Training College Malaysia perceived their educational environment. *Malaysian Dent J*. 2004;25:15–26.
- Bassaw B, Roff S, McAller S, Roopnarinesingh S, Lisle JD, Teelucksingh S, Gopaul S. Students' perspectives on educational environment, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Trinidad. *Med Teach*. 2003;25:522–526.
- Roff S, McAleer S, Ifere OS, Bhattacharya S. A global diagnostic tool for measuring educational environment: Comparing Nigeria and Nepal. *Med Teach*. 2001;23:378–382.
- Whittle S, Whelan B, Murdoch-Eaton DG. DREEM and beyond: studies of the educational environment as a means for its enhancement. *Educ Health*. 2007;2:1–9.
- 19. Intan ID. A study of stressor and coping strategies among first year nursing students in the college of Polytech Mara, Kota Bahru Kelantan [master's thesis]. Kubang Kerian: Universiti Sains Malaysia; 2007.
- 20. Miles S, Leinster S. Medical students' perceptions of their educational environment: expected versus actual perceptions. *Med Educ.* 2007; **41**:265–272.

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Prognostic Factors of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury Outcome in Children Aged 2-16 Years at A Major Neurosurgical Referral Centre

Choon Hong KAN<sup>1,2</sup>, Mohd SAFFARI<sup>1,2</sup>, Teik Hooi KHOO<sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Hospital Kuala Lumpur, Jalan Pahang, 50586 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

<sup>2</sup> Department of Neurosciences, Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia, Jln Raja Perempuan Zainab II, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

<sup>3</sup> Department of Anaesthesiology, Hospital Pulau Pinang, Jalan Residensi, 10990 Penang, Malaysia

Submitted: 30 Jun 2009 Accepted: 20 Aug 2009

#### Abstract

*Background:* Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI) in children has been poorly studied, and the literature is limited. We evaluated 146 children with severe TBI (coma score less than 8) in an attempt to establish the prognostic factors of severe TBI in children.

*Methods:* The severity of TBI was assessed via modified Glasgow Coma Score for those more than 3 years old and via Children Coma Score for those under 3 years old. Clinical presentations, laboratory parameters and features of Computerised Tomography brain scans were analyzed. Outcomes were assessed at 6 months with the Pediatric Cerebral Performance Categories Scale; the outcomes were categorised as good or poor outcomes. Correlations with outcome were evaluated using univariate and multivariate logistic models.

*Results:* A low coma score upon admission was independently associated with poor outcome. The presence of diabetes insipidus within 3 days post-TBI (OR: 1.9), hyperglycaemia (OR: 1.2), prolonged PT ratio (OR: 2.3) and leukocytosis (OR: 1.1) were associated with poorer outcome.

*Conclusion:* Knowledge of these prognostic factors helps neurosurgeons and neurocritical care specialists to manage and improve outcome in severe TBI in children.

**Keywords:** severe traumatic brain injury (TBI), children, prognostic factors, Pediatric Cerebral Performance Categories Score, neurosciences

#### Introduction

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is one of the leading causes of death and disability in the paediatric age group. In developed countries, paediatric trauma mortality still represents more than half of all childhood fatalities: 18 times more common than brain tumours (1). However, many aspects of paediatric neurotrauma still remain unclear as the literature focusing on the paediatric population per se is very limited. In fact, guidelines for management of paediatric TBI were mainly derived from adult guidelines (2).

The fact that paediatric TBI patients are more prone to develop brain swelling support the idea that maturing brain reacts to insult in a different way (3). Several prognostic factors, such as age group, gender, pupillary reactivity, Glasgow Coma Score (GCS) on admission, serum glucose level, total white blood cell (TWBC) counts, platelet counts, coagulation derangement, computerised tomography (CT) scan features and grading, have been validated in various studies to predict outcome in adult neurotrauma. However, the impacts of these factors are poorly understood in paediatric TBI. The predictive value of GCS was reported to be low in one local paediatric TBI study (4). Not infrequently, those with GCS scores of 3 to 5 upon admission may still recover with independent function (5).

The role of glucose level is somewhat controversial in the paediatric neurotrauma literature (6). Parish et al. reported that hyperglycaemia was not a poor prognostic factor in paediatric TBI, as is true in the adult population (7). However, Michaud et al. later demonstrated that hyperglycaemia was associated with poor neurological outcome in a larger series (8). Cochran et al. observed that paediatric severe TBI patients with admission serum glucose levels > 300 mg/ dL (16.65 mmol/L) were uniformly more prone to death (9).

Chiaretti et al. found that delayed activated partial prothrombin Time (aPTT), low platelet count, elevated fibrin-fibrinogen degradation products (FDP) and low fibrinogen were associated with poor outcome in their paediatric TBI series, which consisted of 60 patients. Kuo et al. however, demonstrated that only FDP > 1000  $\mu$ g/mL upon admission to the hospital in children with GCS scores of 7–12 was associated with a poor outcome (10).

Most subjects in the series on prognostic factors were from developed countries with sophisticated systems of regional organization coupled with experienced trauma centres, which allowed for rapid evacuation, monitoring and treatment of these patients (11,12,13). Experienced staff and equipment such as ventilators and intracranial monitoring are still luxury items in Malaysia.

The aim of this study is to identify factors associated with the outcome of paediatric severe TBI that can be identified early, during the first few hours after admission. We hope to use these findings to predict the outcome of severe TBI to guide treatment strategies in Malaysia.

#### **Materials and Methods**

We performed a cross-sectional analysis investigating children aged between 2 to 16 years presenting with severe TBI treated in Kuala Lumpur Hospital (HKL) from January 2001 until December 2006. Patients were managed according to a standard departmental protocol that includes artificial ventilation and sedation with midazolam/ morphine infusions. Patients were positioned in the supine position with the head elevated 30 degrees. The following parameters were kept within the desired ranges: temperature < 37.0 °C; partial pressure of carbon dioxide (paCO<sub>2</sub>) 35-45 mmHg; intracranial pressure (ICP) < 20 mmHg; cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) within 60-70 mmHg. We also performed surgical evacuation and decompression for lesions with mass effects and decompressive craniectomy for refractory intracranial hypertension. Data regarding initial coma score, pupillary reactivity, motor score, presence of hypotension (defined as less than the 5th percentile according to age-appropriate systolic blood pressure [AASBP]) and development of diabetes insipidus (DI) within 3 days were retrieved from hospital notes. Laboratory results for serum glucose, prothrombin time (PT) and aPTT ratio, international normalized ratio (INR), platelet counts and TWBC upon admission were recorded. CT scans were graded according to the Marshall classification, the presence of brain swelling, traumatic subarachnoid haemorrhage and intraventricular haemorrhage. Peak ICP and lowest CPP were recorded for those patients who had undergone ICP-CPP targeted therapy. Outcomes at 6 months were assessed with the Pediatric Cognitive and Performance Categories (PCPC) scale. Patients were categorised as having a "good outcome" or a "poor outcome". Data entry and analysis were done using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 12.0. We used logistic regression to develop a model of risk factors for poor outcome from paediatric severe TBI. Independent variables were entered into the logistic model in a stepwise fashion with a significance cut-off of P < 0.25. We interpreted a *P*-value of less than 0.05 as significant at a 95% confidence interval (CI). Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit testing established the best modelforward likelihood. The research protocol was approved by the ethical committee of Universiti Sains Malaysia in 2006.

#### Results

One hundred and sixty-seven children with severe TBI were admitted to HKL neurosurgical intensive care unit (ICU) between January 1 2001 and December 31, 2006, after exclusion criteria applied. Only 146 patients out of 167 were included in the study as the rest were lost upon follow up. The median age of patients was 13 years with a mean of 11.7 years and standard deviation of 4.2 years. The majority of the patients (133, 91.1%) were older than 4 years; 13 patients (8.9%) were less than 4 years; 123 patients (84.3%) were male and 23 (15.7%) were female. The majority of the patients (107, 73.3%) were of Malay origin. Eightynine cases (61%) had good outcomes according to the PCPC scale at 6 months. There were 35 cases of deaths (24%). Most of the cases were referrals from other centres (83.6%); 24 cases (16.4%) were direct admissions. The most common mechanism of injury was road traffic accidents (RTA), which accounted for 118 cases (80.8%); followed by fall from height, 14 cases (9.6%); 8 cases of unknown mechanism (5.5%); 2 cases from contact sports (1.4%) and another 2 cases from assault (1.4%).

Univariate analysis of outcome showed statistically significant differences in AASBP (*P* 

= 0.006), coma score on admission (P = 0.038), motor response (P = 0.007), pupillary reactivity in those with equal and not dilated pupils (P = 0.001), presence of DI (P < 0.001), serum glucose level (P =0.001), TWBC counts (P = 0.043), aPTT ratio (P =0.03), PT ratio (P < 0.001), INR (P = 0.009), peak ICP value (P = 0.028), minimum CPP value (P =0.001), Marshall CT grading (P = 0.025), presence of brain swelling (P = 0.009) and presence of IVH (P = 0.042). ICP monitoring and ICP-CPP directed therapy were only available in 39% of severe TBI in children aged 2–16 years old during the study period. These measures were not included in the logistic model.

The multivariate logistic regression model with the forward LR (likelihood ratio) method concluded that coma score on admission (odds ratio [OR], 2.88; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.04–7.92), presence of DI (OR, 7.16; 95% CI, 1.74–29.50), PT ratio (OR, 23.17; 95% CI, 2.99–179.50), glucose level (OR, 1.19; 95% CI, 1.00–1.42) and TWBC counts (OR,1.08; 95% CI, 1.01–1.61) upon admission were predictors of outcome in paediatric severe TBI.

The odds of having poor outcome are 7.2 times higher in those who develop DI within the first 3 days following TBI (OR, 7.16; 95% CI, 1.74-29.50). The odds of having poor outcome if the admission coma score was 3 to 5 is almost 3 times (OR, 2.88; 95% CI,1.04-7.92) higher than those with admission coma score of 5 to 8. Every increase in PT ratio of 0.1 significantly increases the odds of a poor outcome by almost 2.3 times; the change can be as little as 2.99 and as high as 179.46 at the 95% confidence level. The odds of poor outcome is 1.2 times greater with every increase of 1 mmol/L in glucose level upon admission and the change can be as little as 1.01 and as high as 1.42 (95% CI). Every increase in TWBC by 1 x 103 mm3 increases the odds of a poor outcome by 1.1-fold; the change can be as little as 2.99 and as high as 179.46 (95% CI).

#### Discussion

Sixty-one percent of severe TBI children achieved good outcome at 6 months in our series. This was slightly better than the outcome of adult severe TBI in Singapore, which was reported to be 51.2% (14). Immature brain has greater neuroplasticity as compared to adults, and this property will be lost due to myelination as patients grow (15,16). However, the percentage of good outcomes was reported to be as high as 90% in the literature (17). The higher rate is probably because other studies on TBI in paediatric patients included mild, moderate and severe cases of TBI.

Our analyses did not find any association between age groups and outcome. This finding did not support the classic paediatric neurotrauma paper by Levin et al. (12). A recent study in the Indian population also failed to demonstrate age less than 4 as a factor affecting outcome (18). Poor outcome in those less than 4 years old of Levin's series is probably due to the high occurrence of non-accidental injury (NAI) in that age group. NAI is often associated with poor outcome as reported in the literature (19). There were no cases of NAI during the period of study in children aged 2-16 years old after excluding those less than 2 years old. Furthermore, the four centres involved where Traumatic Coma Data Bank (TCDB) data were collected were actually treating a small percentage of all the paediatric TBI during the study period. Therefore the sample was not truly representative.

We found no significant difference between outcome and gender in our study on severe TBI. Although Kraus et al. have reported 1.75 times greater risk for poor outcome in adult females, they actually included both moderate and severe TBI patients (20). Our findings support the more recent study on gender differences in outcome in an Asian population that included both adult and paediatric groups (21).

The coma scale that we used (Modified Glasgow Coma Scale for those > 3 years old and Children's Coma Scale for those < 3 years old) was reliable in predicting outcome in severe TBI in children. This modified scale is more appropriate in children as the total score for each component was equivalent to that obtained with the GCS, which made comparison with adult literature possible. The reliability of GCS in children with TBI has been questioned from time to time as it has great inter-observer discrepancies (4,5) Motor score upon admission was associated with poor outcome in univariate analysis but not observed in the logistic model after various variables were fixed.

There is no doubt that early hypotension contributes to secondary brain injury and subsequent poor outcome (22). Only eight cases (5.5%) had systolic blood pressure (SBP) less than AASBP upon admission in our series. This is probably due to the fact that most of our patients were referred from other hospitals (84.6%); those who were haemodynamically unstable would have been managed in other hospitals as they were not fit for transportation. Our univariate analysis did show that hypotension (defined as less than the 5th percentile of AASBP by the Brain Trauma Foundation in 2000) was associated with poor outcome; however this was not demonstrated in multivariate analysis.

We suggest that the definition of hypotension in children in the context of TBI should be reconsidered. Vavilala et al. retrospectively reviewed the effect of various AASBP percentiles on outcome in children less than 14 years old and found that those with AASBP < 75th percentile (instead of 5th percentile) were more likely to exhibit poor outcome, even when SBP was more than 90 mmHg. The values of SBP in the National Task Force table have been derived from normal children and were according to their height. The cut-off point for hypotension in children with severe TBI should be set higher, probably at the 50th or 75th percentile of the SBP table by the National Task Force, or should be based on tables with values derived from critically ill or headinjured children. The recently published IMPACT study also called for reconsideration of SBP in the adult guidelines (23). They found that the outcome improved as SBP increased up to 135 mmHg.

ICP monitoring was available in 39% of severe TBI in children aged 2–16 years old during the period of study in HKL. In fact, Morris et al. reported that 59% of total severe TBI (children and adults) received ICP-CPP directed therapy in the UK. There were significant variations in the management of intracranial hypertension (24). From univariate analysis, peak ICP and minimum CPP values were associated with poor outcome at 6 months. The mean ICP of the good outcome group was 26.4 mmHg (*P*-value = 0.028), which is higher than the classical threshold for treatment for intracranial hypertension (20-25 mmHg). Minimum CPP values appeared to be more significant than ICP with P-value of 0.001. Thus, in selected cases, a higher limit of ICP may be acceptable as long as an adequate CPP can be maintained, as has been suggested in the adult guidelines for managing severe TBI by the Brain Trauma Foundation (BTF). There might also be age differences in the specificity of ICP and CPP in association with outcome as pointed out by Chambers et al. (25). Studies on the predictive value of ICP and CPP in terms of outcome can only be done in centres where all the severe TBI patients (coma score <8) are subjected to ICP-CPP directed therapy.

Our study also demonstrated that children with severe TBI who developed DI within 3 days post-trauma have a mortality rate of 71%. Boughey et al. reported a higher mortality rate of 86% in their study on 2014 patients of TBI from all age groups (26). There were 4 patients who developed DI within 3 days post-TBI who eventually exhibited good outcomes. This group might represent those with pure skull base injury or injury to the posterior pituitary instead of flow problems due to elevation in intracranial pressure or restriction of flow to the hypothalamic-pituitary axis due to cerebral oedema (27).

Our study confirms the deleterious effect of glucose on injured paediatric brain. The IMPACT study also demonstrated similar linear associations with outcome in the adult TBI population (28). Studies have shown that hyperglycaemia exacerbates the impact of ischemia and hypoxia in the injured brain, worsening secondary brain damage. The mechanisms involved include hyperosmolarity, lactic acid production, alterations in neuronal pH and increased excitatory amino acids. Researchers have shown substantial reduction in mortality in critically ill patients (non-diabetic) treated with early intensive insulin therapy (29). Further study on the effect of aggressive glucose normalization in the management of children with severe TBI should be carried out.

The importance of coagulopathy in paediatric TBI is increasingly being recognised (11,18,30,31). In view of the high incidence of coagulopathy in paediatric severe TBI, routine laboratory screening of coagulopathy was considered cost effective and has become standard practice in some centres as a component of the initial work-up of paediatric age group TBI (31). Chiaretti et al. suggested that p-dimer, FDP and fibrinogen be included as an initial screening test in paediatric TBI (30). At our centre, baseline coagulation tests were done on those with children with severe TBI. This included PT ratio, INR, aPTT ratio and platelet count. D-dimer, FDP and fibrinogen levels were not routinely available in our centre. Among the coagulation markers in our study, only PT ratio was associated with poor outcome with a high degree of accuracy in the multivariate study. aPTT ratio was associated with poor outcome in univariate analysis but not in the logistic model. PT ratio instead of aPTT ratio is crucial in determining outcome. This is explained by the fact that the coagulation cascade is initiated by the release of thromboplastin from the damaged brain tissue, which primarily activates the extrinsic clotting cascade and not the intrinsic pathway (32). In fact, brain tissues have the highest level of thromboplastin as compared to any other tissue in the body (33).

The IMPACT study in adult TBI demonstrated prognostic effects of PT and platelet count, only among other coagulating factors (28). They also emphasised the importance of correcting coagulopathic syndromes and called for further vigorous study on outcome with treatment of these abnormal values. The pathophysiology of
hypercoagulation state in TBI is multifactorial and rather complex. Blood loss due to systemic or cranial injury may induce bleeding diasthesis by depleting platelet and clotting factors whereas the injured brain may itself induce a hypercoagulation state by releasing the pro-coagulant tissue factor thromboplastin. The fact that platelet counts were not associated with outcome in paediatric TBI is explained by the fact that platelet counts are usually higher in this age group.

Leukocytosis was found to be an independent predictor of outcome in children as reported in the adult literature. This is the first series evaluating the impact of TWBC counts in predicting outcome in children with severe TBI. The adult series also observed a significant correlation between coma score on admission and higher TWBC counts in severe TBI (34). However, the IMPACT study did not include TWBC counts in their analysis of prognostic value of laboratory parameters in adult TBI (28).The fact that TBI in children was associated with decreased cell-mediated immunity further complicates the issue (35). Neutrophil count would probably be a better predictor of outcome in TBI than TWBC counts.

Cerebral swelling (corresponding to Marshall Grade III) was present in 48.6% of the patients during the study period. This figure is similar to that in the paediatric literature, with a range of 26%–44% (36,37). Although the significance of cerebral swelling in paediatric TBI has been controversial, our study demonstrates cerebral swelling was associated with poor outcome in only 44% of patients (32 out of 72 patients). The fact that cerebral swelling was not associated with poor outcome in multivariate analyses supports the notion that the mechanism of cerebral swelling is probably different and less malignant than the mechanism in adults, which has consistently been associated with poor outcome in the literature (38).

Marshall classification did not significantly affect outcome in multivariate analyses. This could be due to the high occurrence of cerebral swelling corresponding to Marshall Grade III in paediatric TBI. The analysis of Marshall classification in our study is limited by the definition of mass and diffuse lesions, especially in those cases with a combination of both. Some surgeons would operate upon diffuse injuries with small components of mass lesions in the critical region. According to the Marshall classification, the grading of mass lesions is performed according to the serial CT scan performed within 12 hours after the surgery. This was not done routinely in all our post-operative patients, mainly because of limited resources. A recent study suggests that combinations of individual CT predictors rather than Marshall classification were more reliable for prognostic purpose in adult TBI (39).

The IMPACT study demonstrated that CT scan characteristics were important predictors of outcome in adult TBI; those characteristics include class III and IV diffuse injury, brain swelling and the presence of traumatic subarachnoid haemorrhage (tSAH) (40). The presence of tSAH and IVH were found not to predict the outcome of paediatric TBI.

#### Conclusion

Our series represents one of the largest series of severe TBI in children in our region and represents the urban Malaysian population. We have concluded from multivariate analyses that low coma score at admission, development of hyperglycaemia, leukocytosis and prolonged PT ratio serve as useful indicators in predicting outcome in children with severe TBI, aged 2-16 years old. The roles of AASBP, Marshall grading, presence of cerebral swelling and IVH were not established in the logistic regression model, although these have shown significance in univariate analysis (Table 1). Age and gender do not affect outcome in severe TBI in children. ICP and CPP could not be included in our analyses as only selected cases received ICP-CPP targeted therapy during the period of this study.

The use of coma scale in children must be according to developmental age and comparable with the adult GCS. The measurement of coma score should be standardised to avoid confusion in analysis of the neurotrauma literature. By using modified GCS for those older than 3 years old and CCS for those younger than 3 years old, we have demonstrated that coma score can predict outcome in children with TBI.

The definition of hypotension in children with TBI based on AASBP should be reconsidered. Values derived from those critically ill or TBI patients should be made available. Coagulation derangement (prolonged PT ratio) predicts outcome better than other laboratory parameters such as glucose and TWBC (odds ratio of 2.3 compared to 1.2 and 1.1), thus full coagulation profiles that include p-dimer, FDP and fibrinogen level should be available during initial work-up in severe TBI patients.

This study demonstrates preliminary evidence of a relationship between the various factors predicting outcome in children with severe TBI. A prospective trial confirming our findings is needed in the future before we can make definitive recommendations regarding patient management.

	Poor	Good	P-value
Demographic, no. (%)			
Age group			0.085 <sup>a</sup>
2 to 4 years	5 (3.4)	8 (5.5)	
5 to 10 years	14 (9.6)	20 (13.7)	
11 to 16 years	38 (26.0)	61 (41.8)	
Gender			<b>0.992</b> <sup>a</sup>
Male	48(32.9)	75(51.4)	
Female	9 (6.2)	14(9.6)	
<u>Clinical, mean (SD)</u>			
SBP (mmHg)	114.0(20.0)	115.7(16.8)	$0.568^{\mathrm{b}}$
<u>Clinical, no.(%)</u>			
AASBP			<b>0.006</b> <sup>a</sup>
<aasbp< td=""><td>7(4.8)</td><td>1(0.7)</td><td></td></aasbp<>	7(4.8)	1(0.7)	
>AASBP	50(34.2)	88(60.3)	
Coma score			0.038ª
3-5	18(12.3)	15(10.3)	
6-8	39(26.7)	74(50.7)	
Motor response			<b>0.00</b> 7 <sup>a</sup>
< 5	38(26.0)	39(26.7)	
5	19(13.0)	50(34.2)	
Pupil reactivity <sup>c</sup>			$0.001^{d}$
Reactive	19(22.1)	62(72.1)	
Non-reactive	5(5.8)	0(0)	
Diabetes Insipidus			<0.001 <sup>a</sup>
Absent	37(25.3)	85(58.2)	
Present	20(13.7)	4(2.7)	
Laboratory, mean (SD)			
Glucose (mmol/L)	9.22(3.163)	7.72(2.13)	$0.001^{\mathrm{b}}$
ГWBC (х 10 <sup>3</sup> mm <sup>3</sup> )	17.93(6.38)	15.79(5.70)	$0.043^{b}$
Platelet counts (x 10 <sup>3</sup> mm <sup>3</sup> )	97.4(13.8)	88.0(9.5)	$0.627^{b}$
aPTT ratio	1.30(0.72)	1.05(0.18)	$0.003^{\mathrm{b}}$
PT ratio	1.39(0.28)	1.23(0.17)	<0.001 <sup>b</sup>
INR	1.46(0.41)	1.29(0.23)	<b>0.009</b> <sup>b</sup>
Intracranial pressure monitor			
Peak ICP value (mmHg)	37.3(23.2)	26.4(9.4)	$0.028^{\mathrm{b}}$
Minimum CPP value (mmHg)	48.6(12.4)	58.5(9.0)	<b>0.001</b> <sup>b</sup>

**Table 1:** Univariate analysis of prognostic factors of severe TBI in children aged 2 to 16years old in HKL from 2001 to 2006

	Poor	Good	P-value
<u>Radiological, no. (%)</u>			
Marshall Classification			$0.025^{a}$
Grade I & II	19(20.0)	40(42.1)	
Grade III & IV	20(21.1)	16(16.8)	
Brain swelling/cerebral oedema			<b>0.009</b> <sup>a</sup>
Absent	20(13.7)	51(34.9)	
Present	37(25.3)	38(26.0)	
IVH			
Absent	47(32.2)	83(56.8)	
Present	10(6.8)	6(4.1)	
tSAH			
Absent	51(34.9)	82(56.2)	
Present	6(4.1)	7(4.8)	

**Table 1:** Univariate analysis of prognostic factors of severe TBI in children aged 2 to 16<br/>years old in HKL from 2001 to 2006 (cont.)

<sup>a</sup>Chi-square test

<sup>b</sup>Independent t-test

° Pupil reactivity in equal and not dilated pupil

<sup>d</sup> Fisher exact test

of severe 1 bi in emilaten aged 2 to 10 years old freated in 11kL from 2001 to 2000				
	В	Adjusted OR (95%CI)	<i>P</i> -value	
Diabetes insipidus				
Absent	-	1		
Present	1.969	7.161(1.738–29.497)	0.006	
Coma score on admission	l			
3-5	1.056	2.875(1.044–7.915)	0.041	
6-8	-	1		
PT ratio	3.143	23.172(2.992–179.459)	0.003	
Glucose level	0.178	1.194(1.001–1.424)	0.048	
TWBC	0.079	1.082(1.008–1.161)	0.029	

**Table 2:** Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors with binary logistic regression model of severe TBI in children aged 2 to 16 years old treated in HKL from 2001 to 2006

11120

Constant = -0.349 B: Beta coefficient

OR: odds ratio, CI: confidence interval

Forward LR stepwise multiple logistic regression model applied.

Final model was tested with Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test

(*P*-value=0.455)

Overall percentage correct = 74%

PT= prothrombin time

TWBC= total white blood cell

Our results have the potential to impact future patient management protocols in severe TBI in children, as well as to aid in the design of neuroprotective trials. If prospective trials confirm our findings on hyperglycaemia and coagulopathy, then aggressive and early control of glucose level with insulin and normalization of PT ratio with fresh frozen plasma would become standard practice in children with severe TBI.

#### Author's contributions

Collection and assembly of data, provision of study materials or patients: CHK, MS All authors have contributed equally to the conception and design, critical revision of the article.

#### Correspondence

Dr Kan Choon Hong Department of Neurosciences School of Medical Sciences Universiti Sains Malaysia 16150 Kubang Kerian Kelantan, Malaysia Tel: +609-7676 300 Fax: +609-764 8613 Email: kanchoonhong@yahoo.co.uk

#### References

- Aldrich EF, Eisenberg HM, Saydjari C, Luerssen TG, Foulkes MA, Jane JA et al. Diffuse brain swelling in severely head-injured children. A report from the NIH Traumatic Coma Data Bank. *J Neurosurg*. 1992;76:450-454.
- 2. Adelson PD, Bratton SL, Carney NA, Chesnut RM, Du Coudray HE, Goldstein B, et al. Guidelines for the acute medical management of severe traumatic brain injury in infants, children, and adolescents. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* 2003;4:S49–52.
- 3. Bruce DA, Alavi A, Bilaniuk L, Dolinskas C, Obrist W, Uzzell B, et al: Diffuse cerebral swelling following head injuries in children: the syndrome of "malignant brain oedema". *J Neurosurg.* 1981;**54**:170–178.
- Ong L, Selladurai BM, Dhillon MK, Atan M, Lye MS. The prognostic value of the Glasgow Coma Scale, hypoxia and computerised tomography in outcome prediction of pediatric head injury. *Pediatr Neurosurg*. 1996;**24**:285–291.
- Lieh-Lai MW, Theodorou AA, Sarnaik AP, Meert KL, Moylan PM, Canady AL, et al. Limitations of the Glasgow Coma Scale in predicting outcome in children with traumatic brain injury. *J Pediatr*. 1992;120:195– 199.

- Chiaretti A, De Benedictis R, Langer A, Di Rocco C, Bizzarri C, Iannelli A, et al. Prognostic implications of hyperglycaemia in paediatric head injury. *Childs Nerv* Syst. 1998;14:455–459.
- Parish RA, Webb KS. Hyperglycemia is not a poor prognostic sign in head-injured children. J Trauma. 1988;28:517-519.
- Michaud LJ, Rivara FP, Longstreth WT Jr., Grady MS. Elevated initial blood glucose levels and poor outcome following severe brain injuries in children. *J Trauma*. 1991;**31**:1356–1362.
- 9. Cochran A, Scaife ER, Hansen KW, Downey EC: Hyperglycemia and outcomes from pediatric traumatic brain injury. *J Trauma*. 2003;**55**:1035–1038.
- 10. Kuo JR, Chou TJ, Chio CC. Coagulopathy as a parameter to predict the outcome in head injury patients analysis of 61 cases. *J Clin Neurosci*. 2004;**11**:710–714.
- 11. Feickert HJ, Drommer S, Heyer R. Severe head injury in children: impact of risk factors on outcome. *J Trauma*. 1999;**47**:33–38.
- 12. Levin HS, Aldrich EF, Saydjari C, Eisenberg HM, Foulkes MA, Bellefleur M et al. Severe head injury in children: experience of the Traumatic Coma Data Bank. *Neurosurgery*. 1992;**31**:435–443; discussion 443–434.
- 13. Ono J, Yamaura A, Kubota M, Okimura Y, Isobe K. Outcome prediction in severe head injury: analyses of clinical prognostic factors. *J Clin Neurosci* 2001;**8**:120–123.
- 14. Lee KK, Seow WT, Ng I: Demographical profiles of adult severe traumatic brain injury patients: implications for healthcare planning. *Singapore Med J.* 2006;**47**:31–36.
- 15. Francel PC PT, Shaffrey ME: Diagnosis and tretment of moderate and severe head injury in infants and children. *Neurol Surg.* 1996;1730–1766.
- 16. Kochanek PM: Pediatric traumatic brain injury: quo vadis? *Dev Neurosci*. 2006;**28**:244–255.
- Bruce DA, Schut L, Bruno LA,Wood JH, Sutton LN : Outcome following severe head injuries in children. J Neurosurg. 1978;48:679–688.
- Suresh HS, Praharaj SS, Indira Devi B, Shukla D, Sastry Kolluri VR. Prognosis in children with head injury: an analysis of 340 patients. *Neurol India*. 2003;**51**:16–18.
- 19. Bruce DA, Zimmerman RA: Shaken impact syndrome. *Pediatr Ann.* 1989;**18**:482–484, 486–489, 492–494.
- 20. Kraus JF, Peek-Asa C, McArthur D: The independent effect of gender on outcomes following traumatic brain injury: a preliminary investigation. *Neurosurg Focus*. 2000;**8**:e5.
- 21. Ng I, Lee KK, Lim JH, Wong HB, Yan XY. Investigating gender differences in outcome following severe traumatic brain injury in a predominantly Asian population. *Br J Neurosurg*. 2006;**20**:73–78.

- 22. Chesnut RM, Marshall LF, Klauber MR.The role of secondary brain injury in determining outcome from severe head injury. *J Trauma*. 1993;**34**:216–222.
- 23. Butcher I, Maas AI, Lu J, Murray GD, Mushkudiani NA, McHugh GS. Prognostic value of admission blood pressure in traumatic brain injury: results from the IMPACT study. *J Neurotrauma*. 2007;**24**:294–302.
- 24. Morris KP, Forsyth RJ, Parslow RC, Tasker RC, Hawley CA. Intracranial pressure complicating severe traumatic brain injury in children: monitoring and management. *Intensive Care Med.* 2006;**32**:1606–1612.
- 25. Chambers IR, Stobbart L, Jones PA, Kirkham FJ, Marsh M, Mendelow AD. Age-related differences in intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure in the first 6 hours of monitoring after children's head injury: association with outcome. *Childs Nerv Syst.* 2005;**21**:195–199.
- 26. Boughey JC, Yost MJ, Bynoe RP. Diabetes Insipidus in the Head-Injured Patient. *Am Surgeon*. 2004;**70**:500.
- 27. Saborio PTG, Chan JCM: Diabetes Insipidus. *Pediatr Rev.* 2000;**21**:122–129.
- 28. Van Beek JG, Mushkudiani NA, Steyerberg EW, Butcher I, McHugh GS, Lu J. Prognostic value of admission laboratory parameters in traumatic brain injury: results from the IMPACT study. *J Neurotrauma*. 2007;**24**:315–328.
- 29. Van de Berghe GWP, Weekers F, Verwaest C, Bruyninckx F, Schetz M, et al.: Intensive insulin therapy in critically ill patients. *N Eng J Med.* 2001;**345**:1359–1367.
- 30. Chiaretti A, Pezzotti P, Mestrovic J, Piastra M, Polidori G, Storti S: The influence of hemocoagulative disorders on the outcome of children with head injury. *Pediatr Neurosurg*. 2001;**34**:131–137.
- 31. Keller MS, Fendya DG, Weber TR: Glasgow Coma Scale predicts coagulopathy in pediatric trauma patients. *Semin Pediatr Surg.* 2001;10:12–16.
- 32. Goodnight SH KG, Rapaport SI, Patch MJ, Lee JA, Kurze T: Defibrination after brain tissue destruction. *N Engl J Med.* 1974;**290**:1043–1047.
- 33. Astrup E: Assay and content of tissue thromboplastin in different organs. *Thromb Haemost*. 1965;**14**:401–416.
- 34. Rovlias A, Kotsou S: The blood leukocyte count and its prognostic significance in severe head injury. *Surg Neurol.* 2001;**55**:190–196.
- 35. Meert KL, Long M, Kaplan J, Sarnaik AP: Alterations in immune function following head injury in children. *Crit Care Med.* 1995;**23**:822–828.
- 36. Berger MS, Pitts LH, Lovely M, Edwards MS, Bartkowski HM : Outcome from severe head injury in children and adolescents. *J Neurosurg.* 1985;**62**:194–199.

- 37. Tomberg T, Rink U, Pikkoja E, Tikk A. Computerized tomography and prognosis in paediatric head injury. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 1996;**138**:543–548.
- 38. Lang DA, Teasdale GM, Macpherson P, Lawrence A. Diffuse brain swelling after head injury: more often malignant in adults than children? *J Neurosurg*. 1994;80:675-680.
- 39. Maas AI, Hukkelhoven CW, Marshall LF, Steyerberg EW. Prediction of outcome in traumatic brain injury with computed tomographic characteristics: a comparison between the computed tomographic classification and combinations of computed tomographic predictors. *Neurosurgery.* 2005;**57**:1173–1182.
- 40. Maas AI, Steyerberg EW, Butcher I, Dammers R, Lu J, Marmarou A, et al. Prognostic value of computerized tomography scan characteristics in traumatic brain injury: results from the IMPACT study. *J Neurotrauma*. 2007;**24**:303–314.

## **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Superselective Embolisation in Acute Lower Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage: A Single Institution Experience

Ahmad Razali Md Ralib<sup>1</sup>, Rozman Zakaria<sup>2</sup>, Zahiah Mohamad<sup>2</sup>, Ahmad Sobri Muda<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Radiology, Kulliyyah (Faculty) of Medicine, International Islamic University Malaysia, P.O. Box 141, 25710 Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia

<sup>2</sup> Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Jalan Yaakob Latif, Bandar Tun Razak, 56000 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Submitted: 10 Jul 2009 Accepted: 16 Sep 2009

#### Abstract

*Background:* Superselective embolisation has been recognised as integral in the management of lower gastrointestinal haemorrhage. It has also reduced the need for emergency surgery. The objective of this case series was to describe the lower gastrointestinal haemorrhage cases seen in our centre, its diagnosis and the role of superselective embolisation in patient management.

*Methods:* All patients who underwent superselective embolisation from January 2008 until April 2009 in our centre were analysed. Data were collected from the hospital electronic medical records.

*Results:* Four patients (three males) with a mean age of 81 years were analysed. Multidetector computerised tomography and digital subtraction angiography were positive in all patients. Superselective embolisation with platinum microcoils was performed in all patients (n = 4). Technical success was achieved in all patients (100%).

*Conclusion:* Superselective embolisation in the treatment of lower gastrointestinal haemorrhage is safe and effective with a very high technical success rate.

**Keywords:** gastrointestinal haemorrhage, therapeutic embolisation, spiral computerised tomography, medical sciences

#### Introduction

Massive lower gastrointestinal haemorrhage (LGIH), which is defined as bleeding in the bowel beyond the ligament of Treitz, remains a challenge in its diagnosis and management. It is usually associated with a mortality rate of 5 to 12% and can approach 40% in severe haemorrhage (1).

Diagnosing the cause and site of the active haemorrhage remains a problem. Multiple modalities are available, such as colonoscopy, radionuclide imaging, multidetector computerised tomography (MDCT) mesenteric angiography and digital subtraction angiography (DSA), all of which have their own advantages and disadvantages (2). However, with the recent advancement in CT technology, MDCT mesenteric angiography has become the modality of choice in the detection and localisation of the sites of haemorrhage (3– 5). Emergency surgical interventions in massive LGIH usually are associated with high mortality rates and high re-bleeding rates(1). Bookstein et al. first described intra-arterial embolisation using modified autogenous blood clots for LGIH (6). However, this method suffered criticisms because of its association with ischaemic complications (7).

Recent advancement in technology and the availability of smaller coaxial microcatheters up to 2 F in size and guidewires have made superselective angiography and embolisation of the causative distal bleeding artery technically feasible. This has enabled superselective embolisation (SSE) to be performed safely and with significant reduction in the risk of postembolisation ischaemia. The technical success of SSE is usually around 97 to 100% (8–10). The majority of these patients do not need further interventions after the embolisation (8–10). Long-term follow-up in patients who underwent SSE also yielded favourable results, with less than 20% requiring readmission for further LGIH (11, 12). The objectives of this case series were to describe the LGIH cases seen in our centre, its diagnosis and the role of SSE in patient management.

#### **Materials and Methods**

All patients who underwent SSE for LGIH from January 2008 to April 2009 in Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre were identified retrospectively via the hospital electronic medical record (EMR). Review of the patients' EMR, which included demography, site of haemorrhage and preembolisation examinations, was also performed. All patients with suspected LGIH in our centre were referred to the on-call interventional radiologist (IR) or IR fellow. Since January 2008, all patients with suspected LGIH underwent MDCT mesenteric angiography as a preembolisation examination. The MDCT images were interpreted by the on-call IR, either in the hospital or through the internet from home. Only patients with positive MDCT (with contrast extravasation into the bowel lumen) underwent DSA of the mesenteric arteries with an intention for SSE (Figure 1, 2 and 3). With this information, the angiography team was mobilised. In patients with negative MDCT (no contrast extravasation into the bowel lumen), no DSA was performed. However, if the patient re-bled, a repeat MDCT was urgently performed.

Nuclear scintigraphy, using technetium 99m (99mTc) red blood cell-labelling, is available in our centre. However, this examination was noted to be time consuming and with poor an atomic localisation (13). Yoon et al. (3) had observed that MDCT gives a sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, positive predictive value and negative predictive value of 90.9%, 99%, 97.6%, 95% and 98%, respectively, for detecting acute gastrointestinal haemorrhage. They also showed that the location of contrast extravasation shown on MDCT corresponded exactly with the contrast extravasation on DSA. With this information, nuclear scintigraphy using 99mTc red blood cell-labelling was only reserved for chronic LGIH where other investigations had failed. MDCT was the first choice in acute LGIH.

MDCT was performed with a 64-slice MDCT (Siemens Sensation 64) in multiple phases. DSA was performed with a DSA machine (Single plane Toshiba KXO 200 & Biplane Philips Allura X-Per FD20/10). Coeliac, gastroduodenal, superior mesenteric and inferior mesenteric arteriograms were performed in all patients. A positive DSA was defined when there was active contrast extravasation seen (Figure 1, 2 and 3). In patients with a positive DSA, a coaxial microcatheter with a micro guidewire (FasTracker-325 microcatheter; Boston Scientific) was introduced just proximal to the bleeding site. A superselective arteriogram (SSA) was then performed to further demonstrate the active contrast extravasation (Figure. 1, 2 and 3). Embolisation was then performed with platinum microcoils (Hilal Embolisation Microcoils; Cook) of variable length after consultation with the surgical team. A repeat SSA was performed postembolisation. A technical success was defined when hemostasis was secured with no active contrast extravasation seen in the postembolisation arteriography (Figure 1, 2 and 3).

#### Results

From January 2008 until April 2009, there were 4 patients who presented with LGIH and had SSE performed. The mean age of the patients was 81 (73 to 88) years. There were three males and one female. MDCT of the mesenteric arteries was positive in all patients in which contrast extravasation was seen into the bowel lumen. On MDCT, the location of haemorrhage was seen in the ascending colon (n = 2), descending colon (n = 1) and splenic flexure (n = 1). On DSA, contrast extravasation was seen from the superior mesenteric (n = 2) and inferior mesenteric (n = 2)2) arteries. All embolisation procedures were performed with platinum microcoils (n = 4). There was complete cessation of haemorrhage in all 4 patients postembolisation, with a technical success rate of 100% (Table 1). The time interval between the MDCT and DSA was less than 3 hours, except for in one patient. One patient had a longer time interval of 7 hours between the MDCT and DSA due to some logistical problems.

#### Discussion

Superselective embolisation in the management of acute LGIH has been increasingly accepted in most centres all over the world. This method was noted to be safe and effective in the acute management of LGIH. SSE also played a major role in patients with poor comorbid conditions. It allows for rapid haemostasis of the bleeding arteries, enabling the patient to be resuscitated and stabilised prior to a major surgery. The first known attempt of transcatheter embolisation was described by Bookstein et al. in 1974 using modified autogenous blood clots (6). However, early reports observed a high percentage of bowel necrosis postembolisation (7). This was due to the use of larger catheters (6F Cobra Catheter), which did not allow for a SSE to be performed.

However, with the current technology, especially with the availability of microcatheters, platinum microcoils and polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)



Figure 1A





Figure 1D

An 88-year-old man with massive LGIH. Initial colonoscopy failed to determine the cause due to the presence of blood clots.

- Figure 1A : Axial MDCT showing contrast extravasation in the descending colon (arrows)
- **Figure 1B** : Inferior mesenteric arteriogram showing contrast extravasation from the descending branch of the left colic artery (arrow)
- **Figure 1C** : Superselective arteriogram (SSA) of the descending branch of the left colic artery showing contrast extravasation at the same location (arrows)
- **Figure 1D** : SSE was performed with 2 platinum microcoils (arrows) with no residual contrast extravasation seen postembolisation

particles, a SSE of the bleeding arteries can be performed at the level of the vasa recta or marginal artery of Drummond. Luchtefeld et al. reported a 82% technical success rate with only 6% of patients developing bowel necrosis (14). Funaki et al. also reported a 96% success rate with 7% of patients developing bowel necrosis (15). In the recent literature, the results have been better. Tan et al. reported a 97% technical success rate with only 3% of patients developing postembolisation ischaemia (9). Lipof et al. reported a 97% technical success rate with 7% of patients developing postembolisation ischaemia (8). Koh et al. reported a 100% technical success rate with 5% of patients developing postembolisation ischaemia (10). This is similar to our case series, in which we had achieved a 100% technical success rate.

On long-term follow-up, Ahmed et al. reported that only 4 out of 20 patients were readmitted to the hospital for further acute LGIH at 1, 2, 12 and 16 months (11). Maleux et al. reported that 8 out of 39 patients developed re-bleeding post-SSE, with 6 of them re-bleeding within the first 30 days (12). On long-term follow-up, the estimated survival



**Figure 2A** 





Figure 2C

**Figure 2D** 

An 81-year-old man with end-stage renal failure presented with massive LGIH.

- Figure 2A : Axial MDCT showing contrast extravasation in the ascending colon (arrows)
- **Figure 2B :** Superior mesenteric arteriogram showing contrast extravasation from the distal branches of the middle colic artery (arrows)
- **Figure 2C** : SSA showing more obvious contrast extravasation from the distal branches of the middle colic artery (arrows)
- **Figure 2D :** SSE was performed with 2 platinum microcoils (arrows) with no residual contrast extravasation seen postembolisation

rates of their patients were 70.6%, 56.5%, and 50.8% after 1, 3, and 5 years, respectively.

There are many types of embolic materials that can be used in SSE, such as platinum microcoils, PVA particles, glue and gelfoam (8–12). In the initial days, intraarterial vasopressin infusion was the method of choice in LGIH, which leads to arterial vasoconstriction and bowel contraction. This then leads to a lower blood flow into the affected bowel. However, these patients require intensive care unit (ICU) monitoring due to complications, such as myocardial ischaemia, peripheral ischaemia, hypertension, arrhythmias and hyponatremia (1). Today, intraarterial vasopressin infusion is no longer used, and the other embolic materials mentioned above are used (8–12). In our series, platinum microcoils were used in all patients.

From these case series and literature reviews, we would like to suggest an algorithm for the

management of LGIH, as shown in Figure 4. This algorithm is applicable only in centres with MDCT and IR services. However, in centres without an IR service, MDCT of the mesenteric arteries in multiple phases should be performed to localise the site of the acute LGIH. With the MDCT findings, the patient can be referred to the nearest centre with IR service if the patient is fit and stable. If the patient is not fit and is unstable, the MDCT findings will help the surgeon to localise the site of haemorrhage and perform a segmental colectomy.



Figure 3C

Figure 3D

A 73-year-old man with a 4-day history of fresh rectal bleeding. Colonoscopy showed diverticular disease with extensive blood clots.

- Figure 3A : Axial MDCT showing contrast extravasation in the splenic flexure (arrows)
- **Figure 3B** : Inferior mesenteric arteriogram showing suspicious contrast extravasation from the ascending branch of the left colic artery (arrows)
- **Figure 3C** : SSA of the ascending branch of the left colic artery showing contrast extravasation (arrows)
- **Figure 3D** : SSE was performed with 2 platinum microcoils (white arrows). Note the pooling of contrast in the region of the splenic flexure from the extravasation of the previous arteriograms (black arrows)



Figure 4: Algorithm in the management of LGIH

No.	Age / Sex	Location of c extravasati		Time Interval between CT	Bleeding artery	I reatment	Results	
	Sex	MDCT	DSA	and DSA	artery			
1	88/M	Descending Colon	IMA	2 hours	Left Colic Artery	2 microcoils	Hemostasis secured	
2	81/M	Caecum & Ascending Colon	SMA	7 hours	Middle Colic Artery	2 microcoils	Hemostasis secured	
3	73/M	Splenic Flexure	IMA	2 hours	Left Colic Artery	2 microcoils	Hemostasis secured	
4	83/F	Ascending Colon	SMA	3 hours	Right Colic Artery	2 microcoils	Hemostasis secured	

Table 1: Details of patients and site of haemorrhage

Abbreviations: M=male, F=female, SMA=superior mesenteric artery, IMA=inferior mesenteric artery

#### Conclusion

SSE has a major role in the management of acute LGIH. In centres with IR services, it should be considered as the first choice of treatment. This is due to a very high technical success rate, reaching almost 100%, coupled with a very low incidence of postembolisation ischaemia.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank all the radiologists, radiographers and staff nurses in the CT scan and angiography suite, Department of Radiology, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre for all their contributions in this study and patient management.

#### Author's contributions

Conception and design, final approval of article: ZM, ASM

Data collection: ARMR, RZ, ASM

Data analysis and interpretation: ARMR, RZ, ASM Darfting of the article and critical revision: ARMR, ASM Provision of study materials or patients: ARMR, RZ, ZM, ASM

#### Correspondence

Dr. Ahmad Razali bin Md Ralib MBBS (UM) MMed (Radiology) USM Department of Radiology Kulliyyah (Faculty) of Medicine International Islamic University Malaysia P.o Box 141 25710 Kuantan Pahang, Malaysia Tel: +609-571 6400 Email: arazali@iiu.edu.my

#### References

- 1. Hoedema R, Luchtefeld M. The Management of Lower Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage. *Dis Colon Rectum*. 2005;**48**:2010–2024.
- 2. Laing CJ, Tobias T, Rosenblum DI, Banker WL, Tseng L, Tamarkin SW. Acute Gastrointestinal Bleeding: Emerging Role of Multidetector CT Angiography and Review of Current Imaging Techniques. *Radiographics*. 2007;**27**:1055–1070.
- Yoon W, Jeong YY, Shin SS, Lim HS, Song SG, Jang NG, et al. Acute Massive Gastrointestinal Bleeding: Detection and Localization with Arterial Phase Multi-Detector Row Helical CT. *Radiology*. 2006;239:160– 167.
- 4. Scheffel H, Pfammatter T, Wildi S, Bauerfeind P, Marincek B, Alkadhi H. Acute gastrointestinal bleeding: detection of source and etiology with multi-detectorrow CT. *Eur Radiol.* 2007;17:1555–1565.
- 5. Jaeckle T, Stuber G, Hoffmann M, Jeltsch M, Schmitz B, Aschoff A. Detection and localization of acute upper and lower gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding with arterial phase multi-detector row helical CT. *Eur Radiol.* 2008; **18**:1406–1413.

- Bookstein JJ, Chlosta EM, Foley D, Walter JF. Transcatheter hemostasis of gastrointestinal bleeding using modified autogenous clot. *Radiology*. 1974;113:277–285.
- Rosenkrantz H, Bookstein JJ, Rosen RJ, Goff WB. Postembolic colonic infarction. *Radiology*. 1982;**142**:47–51.
- Lipof T, Sardella WV, Bartus CM, Johnson KH, Vignati PV, Cohen JL. The efficacy and durability of super-selective embolisation in the treatment of lower gastrointestinal bleeding. *Dis Colon Rectum*. 2008;51:301–305.
- Tan K, Wong D, Sim R. Superselective Embolisation for Lower Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage: An Institutional Review Over 7 Years. World J Surg. 2008;32:2707– 2715.
- 10. Koh DC, Luchtefeld MA, Kim DG, Knox MF, Fedeson BC, Van Erp JS, et al. Efficacy of transarterial embolisation as definitive treatment in lower gastrointestinal bleeding. *Colorectal Dis.* 2009;11:53–59.
- 11. Ahmed TM, Cowley JB, Robinson G, Hartley JE, Nicholson AA, Lim M, et al. Long term follow up of transcatheter coil embolotherapy for major colonic haemorrhage. *Colorectal Dis.* 2009. Apr 13. [Epub ahead of print].
- Maleux G, Roeflaer F, Heye S, Vandersmissen J, Vliegen AS, Demedts I, et al. Long-term outcome of transcatheter embolotherapy for acute lower gastrointestinal haemorrhage. *Am J Gastroenterol.* 2009;**104**:2042– 2046.
- Anthony S, Uberoi R. The current status of imaging in acute gastrointestinal haemorrhage. *Imaging*. 2006;**18**:193–197.
- 14. Luchtefeld MA, Senagore AJ, Szomstein M, Fedeson B, Van Erp J, Rupp S. Evaluation of transarterial embolisation for lower gastrointestinal bleeding. *Dis Colon Rectum.* 2000;**43**:532–534.
- Funaki B, Kostelic JK, Lorenz J, Ha TV, Yip DL, Rosenblum JD, et al. Superselective microcoil embolisation of colonic haemorrhage. *AJR American J Roentgenol.* 2001;177:829–836.

## SPECIAL COMMUNICATION

# Dreams In Jungian Psychology: The use of Dreams as an Instrument For Research, Diagnosis and Treatment of Social Phobia

Siamak Khodarahimi

Islamic Azad University-Eghlid Branch, Eghlid, Fars Province, Iran

Submitted: 21 Apr 2009 Accepted: 19 Aug 2009

#### Abstract

*Background:* The significance of dreams has been explained in psychoanalysis, depth psychology and gestalt therapy. There are many guidelines in analytic psychology for dream interpretation and integration in clinical practice. The present study, based on the Jungian analytic model, incorporated dreams as an instrument for assessment of aetiology, the psychotherapy process and the outcome of treatment for social phobia within a clinical case study.

*Method:* This case study describes the use of dream analysis in treating a female youth with social phobia.

*Results:* The present findings supported the three stage paradigm efficiency in the Jungian model for dream working within a clinical setting, i.e. written details, reassembly with amplification and assimilation. It was indicated that childhood and infantile traumatic events, psychosexual development malfunctions, and inefficient coping skills for solving current life events were expressed in the patient's dreams.

*Conclusion*: Dreams can reflect a patient's aetiology, needs, illness prognosis and psychotherapy outcome. Dreams are an instrument for the diagnosis, research and treatment of mental disturbances in a clinical setting.

Keywords: dream, jungian approach, social phobia, psychotherapy, medical sciences

#### Introduction

Dreams have been traced in mankind civilisation, and Aeppli (1955) noted the dreams are a quite personal aspect of human experiences (1). Freud's pioneering work on the interpretation of dreams extended our knowledge of dreams as a part of clinical practice in psychology (2). Historically, the significance of dreams for clinical interpretation has been considered by psychoanalysis, analytical psychology and gestalt therapy approaches. There are many guidelines in analytic psychology that help therapists to integrate a basic approach to dream interpretation into clinical practice. There are various viewpoints on dream emergence, importance and interpretation in the disciplines of literature, religion, medicine, sociology and psychology (3). As Jung cited, one would do well to treat every dream as though it was a completely unknown project, look at it from all sides, take it in one's hand, carry it around, and let one's imagination play around with it (4).

#### Theoretical and Research Bases

The present article is primarily based on Jung's seminal work, which has been clarified and extended through years of clinical investigation by Hall (5), Whitmont (6) and Whitmont and Perera (7) on the exploration of dreams in the aetiology of mental disorders and psychotherapy prognosis. Guided by a therapist, clients must come to grips with powerful, unconscious archetypical complexes that are in constant and submerged flux. The archetypes of the shadow and the anima-animus are two domains of the principal oppositional and tumultuous unconscious forces that must be reconciled. The therapeutic modality that is most commonly used to bring these and other archetypes to conscious awareness is dream work. Analytical psychotherapy attempts to create a communicative link between the conscious and unconscious and make the unconscious understandable through dialogue, association and interpretation of what may appear to the individual to be quite illogical and completely undecipherable (8). Based on analytical psychology, the goal of a treatment program is to incorporate and clarify the role of dreams as an instrument for the assessment of aetiology, psychotherapy process and treatment outcome in social phobia.

Dreams have two major implications in clinical practice, exploration of the aetiology of mental illness and the resulting therapy trend and outcome. From an aetiological point of view, dreams focus on the important unprocessed mental and emotional issues of the day or during the life span; thus, dream work can quickly bring the most important issues that a person is dealing with on a subconscious level to consciousness. On the other hand, dream work without therapy is not necessarily effective in reducing the emotional and mental disorders that may surface. Dreams process current situations that trigger these mental disturbances and then attempt to reverse the underlying fears and misconceptions through a process called "compensation" (9). Jung observed that dreams are driven by a natural tendency to bring resolution and closure to unfinished emotional and mental problems of the day (10,11,6). When we sleep and dream, episodic memory is disconnected; therefore, we cannot recall the specific event, but the emotional context of that event, if unresolved, comes to the surface to be processed. Those emotions arouse early threat reactions as well as underlying fears and misconceptions that have become part of our internal model of reality in our belief systems. External events that do not fit that internal model become new threats to the model (9). The dream not only illuminates the current issue or threat, but tries to accommodate it by finding a "fit" between the current experience and our internal model. When the internal model is corrupted by old fears and misconceptions, dreams illuminate those barriers and "compensate" by projecting adjustments in order to achieve a "fit" (2,6,9,10,11,12,13). Consistent with natural and necessary expressions of life force, dreams provide access into unconscious areas of life. They convey specific and appropriately timed messages that can assist the dreamer with problem-solving, artistic inspiration, psychological development and spiritual deepening, and they are important for healing (7). Through dreams, a patient's inner aetiology of mental disorder and his or her reaction to psychotherapy may be expressed as symbols, metaphors, analogies and stories that are rooted in personal and collective levels of unconsciousness.

From the therapeutic point of view, the metaphors and analogies are somewhat obvious, but this is not the case with all dreams. Every

dream reveals information about the dreamer's psychological and physical dynamics and spiritual process. Dreams also touch upon relationship issues projected from past, problematic in present or newly emerging situations. Hereby, dreams facilitate the working through of old patterns that impede relationships. Dreams may be about the therapist, others, life's work and need gratification, the unconsciousness, or the Self. Whitmont and Perera (7) discussed the roles of dreams for the reality of the therapist, transference reactions, inner therapist, countertransference dynamics, the process of therapy, and the therapist's dreams about the patient comprehensively. To better understand the patient's dreams for psychotherapy, one should take note of the dream language. The "language" of the dreaming mind is unique; it is how the dreaming brain communicates, and the information being processed is predominantly represented by association, symbol, metaphor and visual imagery (6,9,10,11,12,13). Dreams communicate using image combinations, just as we communicate with word combinations in waking life. Dreams are similar to garlic, which may smell unpleasant but is quite effective for our health. Dreams may be unfavourable in appearance but understanding their latent messages facilitates the healing of individuals' mental health issues and personality enhancement. The mystery of dreams for human mental health accomplishment is more obvious when combined with Jung's notion about human nature. Jungians view humans in a positive sense and believe that they are inherently predisposed to make their individual mark in the world. This individuation process is not accomplished by merely obtaining fame and glory through material achievement or notoriety (14). In fact, dream exploration is a means for individuation and actualisation attainment. Dreams act as the purest form from which to draw on the vast storehouse of the unconscious, and often emerge as the most fruitful source of therapeutic material. Dream work is a fundamental core of analytical therapy (15,16). Despite the importance of dreams for mental illness diagnosis, there is little evidence for their application in the prediction of psychotherapy outcome, and few useful guidelines for the clinical interpretation of a patient's dreams.

#### **Case Presentation**

I would like to present a brief description from my work as the therapist for Lida (a pseudonym). Her treatment was free-of-charge since it was carried out in a community-based Psychological Outpatient Clinic in Ferdowsi University of Meshed, Iran, that offers services to the city inhabitants and outpatients. Treatments are provided to potential patients as brief therapies that are suitable for consultations emerging from their life events or critical situations. Patients assessed initially by a psychoanalyst and a clinical psychologist (who is a supervisor rather than a therapist) for the adequacy of the type of treatment offered for their particular condition and are then provided psychotherapy or referred to a different treatment facility.

### **Presenting Complaints**

The problems that Lida presented were social phobia and public fears. No concerns about mood, other anxiety disorders, or other symptomatology were expressed by Lida or her family and friends. She reported increasing anxiety and worry that included physiological, cognitive, and behavioural symptoms during the course of each semester as classes approached. When I first began to work with Lida, a 22-year-old university student, she was quite anxious and was diagnosed with social phobia based on the DSM-IV. She avoids public talking and her academic performance during the past two semesters particularly declined. Her social phobia is sometimes accompanied by transit panic and depressive symptoms but there was no evidence for a comorbidity disorder. Her problem began in adolescence and increased with entrance to university. She was reared in a family with a history of maladjustment behaviours and did not experience trustful and calm relationships with her parents. She is more avoidant of men than women. Her father was quite rebellious, over demanding and advising alike a clergy, which generally frustrated her. Lida believed femininity to be inferior and was more interested in masculine roles. She did not have satisfactory relationships with women, including her mother. She underestimated the significance of her feminine needs and showed little interest in and a hostile approach to femininity, except seductive behaviours for capturing men. She participated in 30 therapeutic sessions using the Jungian approach.

#### Assessment

Lida's fitness for psychotherapy was evaluated the basis of the DSM-IV diagnosis criteria in the patient sample (17). The presence of subclinical personality disorder features or traits was also recorded and ruled out. Commensurate with university-based samples, the community outpatients in our clinic primarily experienced psychological disorders with a mild to moderate range of severity. This mild to moderate range of impairment was evidenced within the DSM-IV diagnostic categories, clinician rating scales, and self-report measures. Similarly, each patient provided written informed consent to be included in the research program.

### **Case Conceptualisation**

There are more words written on the subject of dreams and their function from a wide variety of different perspectives than on any other subject within depth psychology. This is true for both psychoanalysis and analytical psychology. We know that dreams reflect personal ego strength and know a good deal about how to define dreams, dreams' mechanisms and their myths and symbols in analytic psychology and psychoanalysis; however, there is lack of evidence on their role in psychological aetiology and their contribution to the prediction of psychotherapy outcome and patient prognosis. As Jung noted, a dream never expresses itself in a logically abstract way but always in the language of parable or simile, which is a characteristic feature of primitive language (18). We agree with Whitmont and Perera (7), who noted that images, symbols, allegories, and rebuses are the main languages of dreams in clinical practice. Since dreams operate in an altered state of consciousness, they are a primary process that is beyond of man rational categories for space and time and they integrate potent materials from past, present and future. This information may even come from archetypal levels with which the dreamer is quite unfamiliar. Our perception of dreams may be visual, auditory, proprioceptive or kinesthetic. Such images are also apparent in ancient and sacred pictographic writings. Allegorical aspects of a dream describe objective, or outer, and subjective, or inner, situations that are to be brought to the dreamer's psychological attention. Allegorical refers to rationally understandable facts and psychological dynamics that have been ignored or have been out of reach of the consciousness.

Symbols shows what can be seen only through a glass darkly. In Jung's definition, a symbol is the best description or formula of a relatively unknown fact that is none the less organised or postulated as existing (19). Symbols point to existential or ever superpersonal significance as a basic concern of psychic life. They also express the need for meaning in life that is beyond sensation and instincts. All products of the unconscious that come to awareness have similar functions as symbolic messages. Archetypes are the birthing agents of symbols and these symbols are commonly found in dreams. Dreams are the avenue of egress for the unconscious to gain awareness, and are the axis on which psychotherapy revolves. Jung's symbols are different from Freud's symbols. For Jung, symbols are intuitive ideas that have not yet formed, as opposed to Freud's view that symbols are symptomatic signs released into conscious awareness (18). Finally, a rebus is a representation of a phrase by pictures. These pictures might more or less clearly suggest syllables words or ideas. Hence, the most important aspect of dream work in analytical psychology is its interpretation, which, according to the Jungian conceptualisation, involves three steps in clinical practice (3).

In the first step, the dreamer writes the details of the dreams as quickly as possible after awakening (15). This provides a clear understanding of the exact details of the dreams before the memory of the specifics becomes convoluted, commingled or distorted. In writing the dream content in specific detail, the client attempts to describe and clarify the context of the dreams. Context specification is important because it keeps the therapist from injecting premature associations and attempting to interpret the dreams too early. In this first step, the therapist questions the client incisively to ensure that both client and therapist understand the exact content; sequence of dream events; dreamer's feelings about dream images; whether the dream is a repetition of a previous dream or is one in a series of dreams; and the power, strength, or valence of the dream. A series of dreams allows greater confidence in the interpretations than does one isolated dream. A series of dreams provides a clearer perspective of basic or developing themes (15). The more powerful the dream, the more important the message the dream is attempting to reveal to the dreamer's conscious ego and psychic system.

In the second step, the dream is reassembled with amplifications in mind. The gathering of associations and amplifications in progressive order on one or more of three levels, which include personal, cultural, and archetypal segments, helps to identify the core maxims of the dream images (3). Amplification of a dream is analogous to "peeling" the three layers of a complex: personal associations; images of a more cultural or transpersonal nature; and the archetypal level of amplification (20). In many dreams, the order of events holds much of the secret of the dream. Questions are open-ended and do not focus on the specific questions found in step one. Rather, amplifying questions help the client to discover the larger picture and set the stage for expanded understanding of the dream. Therapist questions during the reassembly/amplification

step could include: "What do you think the dream wants to tell you?", "How do you see the dream now?", and "How do you feel about the dream?" To further amplify the dream, the therapist may use a fairy tale or anecdote that parallels or explains something related to it. Amplification does not involve interpretation but rather adds information to the client's story or reframes it. The purpose of this step is to help the client recognise similarities between his or her personal experience and its archetypal configuration (21).

Finally, in the third step (or the assimilation phase), the therapist and the client make conscious sense of the dream (3). An important aspect of the third step is for the client to come to the point where he or she can answer the therapist's questions regarding dreams conscious attitude against the dream compensation and dreams symbolic attitude in the client's unconscious world (15). In a new paradigm, James and Gilliland (22) specified these steps in written details, reassembly with amplification and assimilation respectively. We suggest that dream interpretation and analysis may be particularly useful in treating social phobia, in which the phobic origins are unconscious and imaginary, such as infantile trauma or archetypal themes. In this context, the present case study describes the use of dreams analysis to treat a female youth with social phobia. The case also highlights the utility of dream as an instrument for diagnosis, aetiology and intervention in clinical psychotherapy.

Analytical therapy typically involves four stages of treatment: confession and catharsis, elucidation, education, and transformation. While each stage seems final and may be sufficient for a return to mental health, none is complete in itself. Even transformation is not an endpoint (18). The treatment provided focuses on the patient's chief complaint and its underlying core conflict. Psychotherapy is guided by explicit goals that the patient and therapist discuss and agree to work upon. In the present study, we used dream interpretation as the foundation of our exploration of Jungian therapy. We assessed patient improvement from pre- to post- treatment with the Comparative psychotherapy process scale (CPPS). The CPPS is a measure of psychotherapy process that is designed to assess therapist activity, process variables, and psychotherapy techniques used during the therapeutic hour (23). The scale consists of 20 items rated on a 7-point Likert Scale ranging from o ("not at all characteristic"), 2 ("somewhat characteristic"), 4 ("characteristic"), through 6 ("extremely characteristic"). The CPPS may be completed by the patient, the therapist,

and/or an external rater. One unique feature of the items on the CPPS is that they were derived from empirical studies that compared and Psychodynamic-Interpersonal contrasted and Cognitive-Behavioural oriented approaches to treatment. This scale consists of two subscales: a Psychodynamic-Interpersonal subscale (PI; 10 items) and a Cognitive-Behavioural subscale (CB; 10 items). The PI subscale measures therapist and patient activity found in empirical research to be emphasised significantly more in a Psychodynamic-Interpersonal oriented treatment than in a CB treatment. Items include

- focus on affect and the expression of patients' emotions
- exploration of patients' attempts to avoid topics or engage in activities that hinder the progress of therapy
- the identification of patterns in patients' actions, thoughts, feelings, experiences, and relationships
- emphasis on past experiences
- · focus on patients' interpersonal experiences
- emphasis on the therapeutic relationship
- exploration of patients' wishes, dreams, or fantasies (23)

Likewise, the CB subscale consists of items that are significantly more characteristic of Cognitive-Behavioural oriented therapy. Items include

- emphasis on cognitive or logical/illogical thought patterns and belief systems
- emphasis on teaching skills to patients
- assigning homework to patients
- providing information regarding treatment, disorder, or symptoms
- direction of session activity
- emphasis on future functioning

Coefficient Alpha for the PI and CB subscales (*N*=101 rated sessions) are both reported as 0.93 (23). Therapy outcomes for the present case were evaluated from two perspectives: patient self-report of social functioning (work, family, and leisure) and therapist ratings on CPPS. In the present study, patient improvement and functioning was assessed during pre- and post- treatment intervals via CPPS by herself, her family, her classmate and the therapist.

# Course of Treatment and Assessment of Progress

We primarily evaluated Lida's series of dreams for exploration of her social phobia aetiology and prognosis of psychotherapy outcome. Her first dream in the initial phase of psychotherapy was as follows:

"My friend and I are sitting in a window that was like the one in our school at university, but my friend seems calm and confident and I fear falling down."

We know that the earth is a symbol for femininity in depth psychology while the issue of femininity is embarrassing for Lida due to earlier disadvantaged experiences. Therefore, fear of falling into the earth in the above dream directly adheres to her core aetiology and basic problem for identity attainment. She has a latent and unconscious paradox toward the femininemasculinity spectrum that primarily originated in her personal unconscious experiences from infancy to adolescence. It is apparent that she is dissatisfied with her feminine self in comparison to other females. This assumption was supported by the associations and dream clarification of her dream. Psychoanalytically, her dream adhered to identification abnormality in early childhood and psychosexual development. Her associations mostly confirmed the feminine nature of the earth symbol rather than a fear of failure in university tasks. This dream highlighted the nodal aetiology and future orientation of her psychotherapy, and dream helped her to follow her confession and catharsis. The dream served as a "guideline for the direction of therapy" and "a prediction of the outcome" in the Jungian sense that most dreams have a forward-looking momentum, a prospective dimension. Therefore, her analytical therapy focused on childhood traumas that explain her phobia, especially sexual abuse at the hands of her brother. These associations helped her to overcome childhood maltreatments and to develop a new attitude toward her masculine and feminine archetypes. Now, we note her dream message after several sessions. Her second dream, in the middle phase of psychotherapy, was as follows:

"I am returning from cemetery and going to my uncle's house, and I have a big dark covering on over of my head. There is no one on the street. I sense someone following me, turn back, and see a male following me. I don't acknowledge him, but I walk more and more quickly and he does as well. I enter a place in row and it is raining, and the big dark cover on over my head is completely wet. I feel the male who is following me wants to hang me. I run and he chases me, but something stops me. I push open a door to run away, but he gets me and begins to strangle me. I think he is the angel of death."

This is a type of combined imagery that portrays her attempt to run from her inner world of silence, aloneness and social avoidance to a prosocial world. The cemetery and dark cover on her head may address innate hopelessness and rigid mental imaginations that severely distressed her. She attempts to change these feelings and also fears from this alteration. Her associations to the uncle showed that he is likeable, rational, religious, flexible, and responsible man who compensates for her father's irresponsibility. The uncle association increases her hope, peace and faith. Furthermore, it shows her tendency for change, which was inhibited by masculine ideas and negative experiences with men in the form of abuse. The present imagery indicates her inner struggle to overcome psychotherapy obstacles that originated in the personal unconscious level. As aforesaid, the clinical interview confirmed a history of abuse by close relatives such as her brother and that escaping from he was not possible. Dream clarification and perception of its emotional amplification with free recall of the above traumatic experiences during sessions primarily helped her in terms of emotional catharsis and stabilisation, and then she moved toward the transpersonal or collective unconscious level. For example, the uncle and rain may highlight the transpersonal levels of masculine and redemption archetypes. The dream served as a "guideline for the direction of therapy" and "a prediction of the outcome" in the Jungian sense. Here, psychotherapy focused on her detailed childhood self-disclosure and attempt to develop more efficient self-protective social skills. The present dream serves as a good means for elucidation and educational goals in treatment. Her third dream, in final phase of psychotherapy, was as follows:

> "I am in an unfamiliar house. An animal like a cat wants to get our chickens, and I am running to get away from it while it attacks me. When it approaches me, I break its back, and the people beside me call for me to try again, until I finally capture it."

In depth psychology, unfamiliar home is an allegory for foreign departments of the intrapsychic world. Her dream shows new insights for the exploration of unconsciousness boundaries in her personality, especially for anima. She attempted to kill a cat, which may indicate her tendency to control her undesirable manners such as anger, hostility and ill-will in the animus and persona sectors. It guides psychotherapy toward necessity of patient balance in introversion-extraversion

spectrum because she was only noticed to people beside her rather than her innate world. Dream was addressed to her shadow, anima and animus for a logical balance in her four psychological functioning and their usefulness for her transformation during the psychotherapy. During dream clarification and interpretation, we discussed all of these archetypes in the therapeutic sessions. This dream operated as a prospective dimension for her psychotherapy. For instance, she was very seductive and had many mysterious sexual impressions and evil-like behaviours toward males in interpersonal relationships that resulting in a context for her abuse. Similarly, she was inattentive to her thoughts, sensations, feeling and intuitions. Otherwise, she primarily followed the masculine stereotypes. This prospective insight helped Lida to monitor seductive behaviours, which threaten her security in social contexts, diminish her animus orientations, and balance her main psychological functioning. Her fourth dream, in the final phase of psychotherapy, was as follows:

"I am in an exam session and a female is that the instructor of the course. She sits in front of me and notices that I am somewhat afraid. As I begin to answer, I see a coin with the word DOCTOR on its surface, but on its other side is written "myself". When I encounter a problem, I immediately look at it to find out "what to do".

This dream involves a symbol that is directive and healing for the patient. Furthermore, it expresses her congruency with feminine nature, sense of internal empowerment and search for meaning with feelings of internal comfort and self-faith. The dream also suggested that the psychotherapy could be terminated. It indicates her transformation, improvement and cure outcome in the reality world that is correspondent to her improvements within external environment. Based on her associations, recordings and homeworks of the four psychic functions, dream clarification and interpretation confirmed the above assumptions. The present dream functioned as "inner healing symbol" exploration in the Jungian sense. It demonstrates a forward-looking momentum for the patient and guides her toward self fulfilment of everyday problem solving tasks as well as the end of treatment.

# Conclusions and recommendations to clinicians

According to the case assessment during preand post-treatment intervals via CPPS by herself, her family, her classmate and therapist, she improved significantly. Analytically, the present essay indicated that rebellion originated in animus and childhood maltreatments, and manifested itself in dreams as male figures in female with social phobia. Childhood and infantile traumatic events, psychosexual development malfunctions, and inefficient coping skills for solving current life events may express themselves as features in a patient's dreams (24,25,26). Dreams as a core regulator of the life force can help patients achieve a balance of anima, animus, persona and shadow archetypes of personality, which is beneficial for a therapist's psychotherapy prognosis (3,27). As Jung (15,18) noted, dream work is a fundamental core of analytical psychotherapy. Dreams can reflect patients' psychological and physiological needs and prognosis or outcome of psychotherapy. Khodarahimi (3) pointed out that the patient's dreams have direct implications for the aetiology of the illness and psychotherapy outcome and prognosis. Dreams' clinical workings tend to divulge to actual reality of the therapist. It exemplifies the transference reactions, the inner therapist, the countertransference dynamics, the process of therapy, and the therapist's dreams about the patient. Dream is an instrument for diagnosis, research and treatment of mental disturbances in a clinical setting. In conclusion, the present findings support Jung's notions of dream significance and its application in four stages of treatment (15,16). However, the present findings are limited as they are from a case study on social phobia. Further research should examine dream roles in aetiology, prognosis and treatment of other psychological disorders at both individual and collective levels in inpatients and outpatients within diverse cultural contexts.

#### Correspondence

Dr Siamak Khodarahimi Clinical Psychologist PhD (Atlantic International University, USA) Islamic Azad University-Eghlid Branch Eghlid, Fars Province Iran Tel: +98-917 152 9587 Email: Khodarahimi@yahoo.com

#### References

- 1. Aeppli E. Les rêves et leur interpretation. Paris: Bon exemplaire propre. 1955.
- 2. Freud S. The interpretation of dreams. New York: Modern Library, Random House. 1959.
- 3. Khodarahimi S. Dream, diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of phobia in analytical psychology and psychoanalysis. [Master's thesis]. Iran: Meshed Ferdowsi University; 1995.
- 4. Jung CG. *Man and his symbol*. New York: Dell Publishing. 1968.
- 5. Hall JA. Clinical uses of dreams: Jungian interpretations and enactments. New York: Grune & Stratton. 1977.
- 6. Whitmont EC. Jungian approach. In *Dream interpretation: A comparative study* by Fosshage JL, Loew CA. New York: Spectrum Publication. 1978.
- 7. Whitmont EC, Perera SB. *Dreams: A portal to the source*. London: Routledge. 1989.
- 8. Kaufmann Y. Analytical psychotherapy. In *Current psychotherapies.* 4th ed. Corsini RJ , Wedding D, editors . Itasca, IL: F. E. Peacock. 1989; p. 118–125.
- 9. Hoss R, Hoss L. *Energy Psychology Meets the Dream World*. presented at the ACEP Conference, 2006.
- 10. Samuels A. Jung and Post-Jungians. London: Routledge & Kegan. 1985.
- 11. Rossi EL. Dreams and growth of personality. Place of publication: Pergamon Press Inc. 1972.
- 12. Jones RM. Dream interpretation. USA: Pellikan Publisher. 1986.
- 13. Pereras B. Dream design: Some operations underlying clinical dream apperception, dreams in analysis. Wilmette, Illinois: Chiron Publication. 1989.
- 14. Jung CG. The stages in life. In *The portable Jung*. Campbell J , editor. New York: Penguin Books, 1971; p. 3–22.
- 15. Jung CG. Modern man in search of a soul. New York: Harcourt, Brace & World. 1933.
- 16. Jung CG. Memories, dreams, reflections. New York: Pantheon Books. 1963.
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*. (4th edition). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association. 1994.
- Jung CG. The spirit in man, art, and literature. Collected works (Vol. 15), Bollingen Series XX, Adler G, Fordham, M, Read H, editors. Hull RFC, translator. New York: Pantheon Books. 1996.

- Jung CG. Psychological types. Collected Works of C.G. Jung, Volume 6. Adler G, Hull RFC, editors. New Jersey: Princeton University Press. 1976.
- 20. Hall JA. Jung: Interpreting your dreams—A guidebook to Jungian dream philosophy and psychology. New York: St. Martin's Press. Cassette/booklet accompanying Audio Renaissance Tapes, Inc., Los Angeles, CA, entitled, *Jung: Interpreting your dreams*, 1989.
- Harris AS. Living with paradox: An introduction to Jungian psychology. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks-Cole. 1996.
- 22. James RK, Gilliland BE. Theories and strategies in counseling and psychotherapy. Fifth edition. Tennessee: University of Memphis. 2002.
- 23. Blagys M, Ackerman S, Bonge D, Hilsenroth M. Measuring Psychodynamic-Interpersonal and Cognitive-Behavioral Therapist Activity: Development of the Comparative Psychotherapy Process Scale. Chicago, IL: Society for Psychotherapy Research. 2000.
- 24. Astor J. Ego development in infancy and childhood. In *Innovations in Analytical Psychology*. Fordham M, editor. London: Routledge. 1995.
- 25. Stein M. Jungian analysis. Shambala:London. 1985.
- 26. Auld F, Marvin H. Resolution of inner conflict: An introduction psychoanalytic therapy. Washington: American Psychological Association. 1997.
- 27. Jung CG. Dream analysis: Notes of the seminar given in 1928–1930. McGuire W, editor, London: Routledge. 1995.

## BRIEF COMMUNICATION

# Challenges in the Management of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma: A Review

#### Baharudin Abdullah, Azila Alias, Shahid Hassan

Department of ORL-HNS, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Jln Raja Perempuan Zainab II, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

Submitted: 29 Aug 2008 Accepted: 2 Sep 2009

#### Abstract

Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) is a non-lymphomatous, squamous cell carcinoma that occurs in the epithelial lining of the nasopharynx, an area that shows varying degrees of differentiation. Although relatively rare worldwide, NPC has substantial incidence and mortality in populations in Southeast Asia and in people with Southern Chinese ancestry. In Malaysia, NPC is a leading cancer type. In the clinic, NPC presents on a very wide spectrum. Therefore, a high degree of suspicion on the part of the clinician and an increased awareness by the patient is essential for the recognition of an early lesion. Early detection of the cancer is important as it affects the patient's prognosis and the mode of treatment. Managing patients with NPC is very challenging as patients usually present late when the cancer is already in an advanced stage. Here, we review the challenges in the management of NPC.

*Keywords:* nasopharyngeal carcinoma, management, challenges, medical sciences

#### Introduction

Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) manifests itself in multiple forms and may present to different medical specialists. Many patients with NPC present with an advanced stage of the disease, resulting in a poor prognosis. Reasons why patients present with such a late stage of NPC include the following: a delay in seeking medical advice; the confusing nature of the presenting symptoms, which are misleading to the clinician; the difficult nature of a clinical examination of the nasopharynx, even for experienced clinicians; and the spread of a silent submucosal lesion with a normal appearance during examination of the nasopharynx.

The average time between the appearance of NPC symptoms and the first consultation is about six months (1). The patient's symptoms often include epistaxis, nasal obstruction, decreased hearing, tinnitus, neck masses, headache, diplopia, facial numbness, hypoaesthesia, trismus, ptosis or hoarseness. NPC is often diagnosed due to Trotter's triad, a combination of conductive deafness, elevation and immobility of the ipsilateral soft palate, together with pain on the side of the head, which represents symptoms of local invasion (1). A study conducted in Hospital University Sains Malaysia (2), found that the most common presentations of NPC in patients are neck masses (commonly unilateral), followed by headache and epistaxis. Other symptoms may include unilateral nasal obstruction, tinnitus, diplopia, otalgia, bilateral deafness, blindness and dysphagia. Besides the above symptoms, cranial nerves are also commonly affected. The most common cranial nerve affected is the sixth, followed by maxillary division of the fifth and twelve nerve palsies.

#### **Diagnosis and screening**

With such a wide spectrum of clinical presentations, it is important to have a high index of suspicion for early diagnoses of NPC. Early identification of NPC is important for patient treatment and prognosis. To establish the correct diagnosis, thorough patient history and physical examination are important. The clinical examination must include a complete examination of the head and neck, including all levels of the neck and cranial nerve function. A nasoendoscopy is mandatory during diagnosis of NPC. The nasoendoscope and postnasal mirror may reveal an exophytic tumour. Unfortunately, many tumours remain submucosal and difficult to diagnose.

Laboratory investigations, including full blood count and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), are essential because repeated epistaxis may cause anaemia and a raised ESR increases the possibility of an underlying lymphoma. In addition, hearing assessment using audiometry may indicate a compromised eustachian tube function due to tumour compression that leads to hearing impairment. Visual test, visual acuity and visual field are also important during diagnosis of NPC, especially for patients presenting with visual symptoms or eye signs.

Radiological examination remains one of the most important approaches for NPC diagnosis, evaluation and staging. The density of NPC tissue is often similar to that of soft tissue. Therefore, detection of a tumour depends on the displacement or erosion of the normal anatomy and the uptake of the iodinated intravenous product by the tumour. Most often, computerised tomography (CT) is the investigation method of choice. CT seems to be better at detecting cortical bone erosion, whereas magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) appears superior at clearly delineating the tumour edge, determining the vascular nature of the lesion and identifying intracranial extension. With the modern spiral CT scan, it is possible to examine the skull base down to the abdomen to visualise the presence of any metastasis (1). As this technology is still not widely available in Malaysia, the other imaging modalities, such as chest X-ray and abdomen ultrasound are sufficient. The tumour can then be staged based on the International Union Against Cancer/American Joint Committee on Cancer (UICC-AJCC) system (1997) (3). Histopathological examination of the biopsy material obtained from the nasopharynx will confirm the diagnosis of Based on histopathological examination, NPC. NPC can be divided into three categories, World Health Organization (WHO) type 1, type 2 and type 3 (WHO classification) (4). All of the above examinations are the standard diagnostic practice locally and internationally.

Several studies have been conducted to determine a screening method for NPC (5–10). In Southern China, where NPC is endemic, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) serology has been used for population screening for NPC. Identification of EBV genomic latent membrane protein-1 (LMP-1) by a nasopharyngeal swab is able to diagnose NPC with an 87.3% sensitivity and a 98.4% specificity (11). Use of an nasopharyngeal brush biopsy has also demonstrated the presence of EBV DNA with a sensitivity of 90% and a specificity of 99% (7). The high cost involved in this diagnosis method means that it is still not justifiable to do in every patient suspected of having NPC. In our centre, we use a nasopharyngeal brush biopsy in situations that are difficult to interpret by other diagnostic modalities.

#### Treatment

The majority of NPC patients are treated radically with the goal of curing the patients in the early stages of the disease. Patients with distant metastases at the time of presentation and those medically unfit for treatment receive palliative treatment and symptomatic care. Radiotherapy is the primary treatment modality for NPC at all disease stages (12). The primary tumour and the neck are treated even in patients without palpable nodal disease. However, the treatment area must be extended to include the base of skull if there is evidence of cranial nerve involvement. Standard radiotherapy doses are more than 7000 cGy. The lower aspect of the neck and supraclavicular region receive 5000 cGy through the use of an anterior field. The brain stem and spinal cord are blocked, so that they do not receive more than 4500 cGy and the optic chiasm does not receive more than 5000 cGv.

Intensity-modulated radiotherapy has achieved excellent locoregional control of NPC (13). A study that prospectively assessed salivary functions confirmed the gradual recovery of parotid function within two years after the completion of intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Satisfactory dosimetric results were also achieved with this treatment approach for recurrent NPC, and the degree of short-term control was encouraging. Other attempts to enhance the biological effects of radiotherapy have been reported. These attempts include accelerated fractionation, accelerated hyperfractionation, and a combination of one or more of these treatment approaches with chemotherapy. However, hyperfractionation radiotherapy for NPC should be used with care. A study of accelerated hyperfractionation by 2D radiotherapy planning reported an increase in radiation damage to the central nervous system without an improvement in tumour control.

Surgical therapy has a secondary role and is generally considered for patients with residual cervical lymphadenopathy after radiation therapy, or for patients that develop cervical metastases after radiation therapy. Due to its location, the nasopharynx has traditionally been considered unresectable. Wei et al. (14) popularised the maxillary swing procedure for nasopharyngectomy in the treatment of recurrent NPC postradiotherapy. This technique is now the current practice locally and worldwide. In this procedure, the maxillary antrum with the hard palate attached to the anterior cheek flap is turned laterally as an osteocutaneous flap. After removal of the recurrent tumour by nasopharyngectomy, the maxilla is repositioned to its original location and anchored by plates and screws.

Alternatively, nasopharyngectomy can be performed via the infratemporal approach (15). For this surgical technique, an extended radical mastoidectomy is initially carried out followed by the transection of the external auditory canal. The facial nerve is displaced inferiorly, and the temporalis muscle is retracted. Bone in the skull base is removed, starting at the glenoid fossa and continuing to the infratemporal fossa, to expose the eustachian tube and the tissue of the parapharyngeal space. The internal carotid artery is exposed from the middle ear to the foramen lacerum, and the middle meningeal artery and the mandibular branch of the fifth cranial nerve are separated. Tumours in the nasopharynx can be removed en bloc, with the surrounding tissue extending to the contralateral nasopharyngeal wall. The mobilised temporalis muscle is used to fill the surgical defect, after which the middle ear cavity and temporal area are filled with abdominal fat.

For patients with advanced locoregional disease (stages III and IV), a combination of chemotherapy and radiation is given. Prasad showed a combination of radiotherapy and CT prolonged the survival rate of patients at a late stage of NPC (16). Chemotherapy can be given neoadjuvantly, concurrently, adjuvantly, or in a combination of these approaches. A study examining the three basic approaches to chemotherapy (neoadjuvant, concurrent, and adjuvant) showed that concurrent chemoradiotherapy is the most efficacious. The chemotherapy agents (anti-neoplastic agents) commonly used to treat NPC patients include cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil.

Residual or recurrent disease in the nasopharynx used to be managed with a second course of external radiotherapy (17). The treatment dosage is normally greater than the initial radiation dose. Although a salvage rate of 32% has been achieved, the cumulative incidence of late sequelae after re-irradiation is 24% with a treatment mortality of 1.8%. To avoid the high incidence of complications resulting from re-irradiation, stereotactic radiotherapy and brachytherapy have been used for patients with small localised tumours

in the nasopharynx where surgery is not warranted, or is undesirable. Stereotactic radiotherapy, when used for the management of a residual or recurrent tumour, is associated with a two year local tumour control rate of 72%. Intracavitary or interstitial bracytherapy may allow a high radiation dose to be delivered to the tumour within the nasopharynx while sparing the normal tissue that would be irradiated beyond tolerance limits by the external beam treatment. Brachytherapy is of little value when the disease extends much beyond the nasopharynx (18).

Circulating free EBV DNA has been reported in patients with NPC (13,19). The quantity of free plasma EBV DNA as measured by real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction is related to the stage of the disease. The number of copies of EBV DNA before and after treatment is significantly related to the rates of overall and disease-free survival (20). A study has reported that the level of post-treatment EBV DNA compared with pre-treatment EBV DNA is a good predictor of progression-free survival (21).

Of note, survivors of NPC have an impaired, health-related quality of life (22). Patients who survive the disease have several late complications, many of which result from the effects of radiation on the dose-limiting organs adjacent to the nasopharynx and neck nodes. The most debilitating sequelae are neurological complications. These complications can include serious disorders, such as temporal lobe necrosis, cranial nerve palsies and dysphagia. Also, less obvious effects include memory loss, cognitive dysfunction and neuropsychological dysfunction. Despite the effectiveness of radiation and chemotherapy on the management of NPC, local or regional failure presenting as a persistent or recurrent tumour still occur. With modern advances in techniques and combined modalities of therapy, these morbidities could be minimised and preferably prevented altogether.

#### Prognosis

As with most tumours, the extent of NPC, as embodied in the TNM staging system, is the most important prognostic factor. A report in 1990 (23) showed that besides the T and N stages, other prognostic factors include the size and degree of fixation of neck nodes, the patient's sex and age, the presence of cranial nerve palsy and ear symptoms at the time of presentation. The size of the lymph node and the extent of the ear symptoms likely suggest the lack of recognition of nodal size and paranasopharyngeal extension

in the T and N staging system used at that time. In 1992, a study (24) reported that the tumour's histological type and the radiotherapy dose and coverage were significant independent prognostic factors. Paranasopharyngeal extension was an independent prognostic factor correlated with adverse local tumour control and increased distant spread (25). A large variation in tumour volume is present in T stages of different staging systems, and primary tumour volume represents an independent prognostic factor of local control. The validity of tumour volume has been confirmed in patients with T<sub>3</sub> and T<sub>4</sub> tumours. There is an increased risk of approximately 1% in local failure for every cubic centimetre increase in the primary tumour volume (26,27).

#### Conclusions

NPC presents clinically on a wide spectrum. Therefore, a high index of suspicion on the part of the clinician and an increased awareness by the patient are essential for recognition of an early lesion. Advances in treatment techniques and combined modalities of therapy are necessary to improve the patient's outcome and prognosis.

#### Author's contributions

All authors contributed equally to the design, data analysis and interpretation, drafting of the article, critical revision and final approval of the article.

## Correspondence

Dr Baharudin Abdullah MBBS (Mal), MMed (ORL-HNS) Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery School of Medical Sciences Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus 16150 Kubang Kerian Kelantan, Malaysia Tel: +609-767 6416 Email: baharudin@kb.usm.my

## References

- 1. Watkinson JC, Gaze MN, Wilson JA. Tumours of the Nasopharynx. In *Stell & Maran Head & Neck Surgery*. Oxford: Butterworth Heinemann; 2000. p.397–408.
- Suzina SAH, Hamzah M. Clinical presentation of patients with NPC. *Med J Malaysia*. 2003;58(4):539– 545.

- Özyar E, Yildiz F, Akyol FH, Atahan II. Comparison of AJCC 1988 and 1997 classifications for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Rad Onc Bio Phy.* 1999; 44:1079–1087.
- Shanmugaratnam K, Sobin L. Histological typing of upper respiratory tract tumors. In *International Histological Typing of Tumors.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 1978; No. 19, p. 32–33.
- 5. Neel HB, Pearson GR, Taylor WF. Antibodies to Epstein–Barr virus in patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma and in comparison groups. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol.* 1984;**93**:447–482.
- Prasad U, Rampal L, Singh J, Pathmanathan R. Aids to diagnosis of NPC. *Med J Malaysia*. 1988;43(2):109– 116.
- 7. Prasad U, Pathmanathan R, Sam CK, Rampal L, Singh J. Early diagnosis of NPC: A Multipronged Approach. In: *Epstein Barr virus and human disease*. Clifton, NJ: Humana Press; 1989. p.385–389.
- 8. Matthew A, Cheng HM, Sam CK, Prasad U. Serum IgA Cross Reactivity between Glycine Alanine Repeat Sequences of EBNA-1 and Keratin or Collagen in NPC. *Clin Immunol Immunop.* 1994;**71(2)**:164–168.
- 9. Cheng HM, Foong YT, Sam CK, Prasad U, Dillner J. Epstein Barr Virus Nuclear Antigen 1 Linear Isotopes that Are Reactive with Immunoglobulin A (IgA) or IgG in Sera from NPC patients of from Healthy Donors. J Clin Microbiol. 1991;**29(10)**:2180–2186.
- 10. Foong YT, Cheng HM, Sam CK Dillner J, Hinderer W, Prasad U. Serum and Salivary IgA Antibodies Against A Defined Epitope of the EBV nuclear Antigen (EBNA) are elevated in NPC. *Int J Cancer* 1990;**45**:1061–1064.
- Hao SP, Tsang NM, Chang KP. Screening Nasopharyngeal carcinoma by detection of the latent membrane protein 1 (LMP-1) gene with nasopharyngeal swabs. *Int J Cancer*. 2003;97(8):1909–1913.
- 12. Prasad U. Overview of the Problems In the Management of NPC. In: Proceedings of the 4th Western Pacific Congress on Chemotherapy and Infectious Diseases (suppl to JAMA Southeast Asia). 1994; p. 240–243.
- 13. Wei WI, Sham JST. Nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Lancet* 2005;**365**:2041–2054.
- 14. Wei WI, Ho CM, Yuen PW, Fung CF, Sham JS, Lam KH. Maxillary swing approach for resection of tumours in and around the nasopharynx. *Arch Otolaryngol Head and Neck Surg.* 1995;**121**:638–642.
- 15. Choi JY, Lee WS. Curative surgery for recurrent nasopharyngeal carcinoma via the infratemporal fossa approach. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2005;**131(3)**:213–216.
- 16. Prasad U. NPC: Controversies surrounding treatment. *Medical progress.* 1998;**25(7)**:11–16.

Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences, Vol. 16, No. 4, October - December 2009

- Lee AW, Law SC, Foo W. Retrospective analysis of patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma treated during 1976-1985: survival after local recurrence. *Int J Oncology*. 1993;26:773–782.
- Huang SC, Lui LT, Lynn TC. Nasopharyngeal cancer: a review of 1206 patients treated with combined modalities. *Int J Oncology*. 1985;11:1789–1793.
- Mutirangura A, Pornthanakasem W, Theamboonlers A, Sriuranpong V, Lertsanguansinchi P, Yenrudi S, et al. EBV DNA in serum of patients with NPC. *Clin Cancer Res.* 1998;4:665–669.
- 20. Lin JC, Wang WY, Chen KY, Wei YH, Liang WM, Jan JS et al. Quantification of plasma EBV DNA in patients with advanced NPC. *N Engl J Med.* 2004;**350**:2461–2470.
- 21. Chan AT, Lo YM, Zee B, Chan LY, Ma BB, Leung SF et al. Plasma EBV DNA and residual disease after radiotherapy for undifferentiated NPC. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2002;**94**:1614–1619.
- 22. Fang FM, Chiu HC, Kuo WR, Wang CJ, Leung SW, Chen HC et al. Health related quality of life for nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients with cancer free survival after treatment. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2002;**53**:959–968.
- 23. Sham JS, Choy D. Prognostic factors of NPC: a review of 759 patients. *Br J Radiol*. 1990;**63**:51–58.
- 24. Perez CA, Devineni VR, Marcial Vega V, Marks JE, Simpson JR, Kucik N. Carcinoma of the nasopharynx: factors affecting prognosis. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 1992;23:271–280.
- 25. Sham JS, Choy D. Prognostic value of nasopharyngeal extension of NPC on local control and short term survival. *Head Neck*. 1991;**13**:298–310.
- 26. Chang CC, Chen MK, Liu MT, Wu HK. The effect of primary tumour volumes in advanced T-staged nasopharyngeal tumors. *Head Neck.* 2002;**24**:940– 946.
- 27. Sze WM, Lee AW, Yau TK, Yeung RM, Lau KY, Leung SK et al. Primary tumour volume of NPC: prognostic significance for local control. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2004;**59**:21–27.

#### **BRIEF COMMUNICATION**

# Retrospective Review of Outcomes of a Multimodal Chronic Pain Service in a Major Teaching Hospital: A Preliminary Experience in Universiti Sains Malaysia

Nizar Abdul Jalil<sup>1</sup>, Zaharah Sulaiman<sup>2</sup>, Mohamed Saufi Awang<sup>3</sup>, Mohamarowi Omar<sup>1</sup>

Submitted: 29 Oct 2008 Accepted: 27 Sep 2009

#### Abstract

*Background:* Chronic pain is a common medical issue. Beside chronic devastating pain, patients also suffer dysfunction more generally, including in the physical, emotional, social, recreational, vocational, financial, and legal spheres. Integrated multidisciplinary and multimodal chronic pain management programmes offer clear evidence for relief of suffering and return to functional lifestyles.

*Materials and Methods:* This retrospective review was performed in order to evaluate one-year outcomes among all newly referred patients of the multimodal chronic pain service at Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia (HUSM). All patients received multimodal pain therapy, including pharmacological, physical, and psychological therapy, exercise, and pain intervention. The variables evaluated were based on a patient's global pain assessments, which were made using the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) and Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), modified by patient self-report, and were taken within days to months of commencing our multimodal pain regime.

**Results:** A total of 169 patients were enrolled in this study. Out of this number, 102 (60.4%) were seen at the pain clinic, and 67 (39.6%) were referred while they were inpatients. About one-third of the patients had chronic pain due to cancer. Our data showed that 128 (75.7%) of our chronic pain patients were successfully managed when  $\geq$ 50% of pain relief (as measured by their VAS score) was achieved at any point during the course of the study period. In addition, 104 patients (61.5%) showed improvement in their modified ODI by 50% or more.

*Conclusion:* A multimodal chronic pain service plays a significant role in managing chronic pain patients in a major hospital, as it is capable of delivering comprehensive and attainable care to manage refractory and intractable chronic pain.

**Keywords:** chronic pain service, visual analogue scale, modified Oswestry Disability Index, multimodal pain therapy, multidisciplinary pain management, medical sciences

#### Introduction

Chronic pain is defined as pain that persists beyond three to six months after tissue injury. Nonmalignant chronic pain is a condition in which pain continues despite completed healing of damaged tissue and for which no biologic cause has been demonstrated (1,2). Musculoskeletal pain is most common and includes arthritis, low back pain, myofascial pain syndrome, neuropathic pain, and chronic headache (3). The most common malignant chronic pain (cancer pain) is from tumours that metastasize to the bone (4).

The prevalence of chronic pain has been reported to be high in many studies. A World Health Organization (WHO) cross-continental survey, conducted in 26 000 primary care patients in 15 centres in Asia, Africa, Europe, and the Americas, indicated that one in five adults suffers from chronic pain (range, 6–33%) (5). This agrees with epidemiological studies that have estimated similar ranges of chronic pain prevalence in the general adult population to be about one in six (range 2–40%) (6). Another prevalence study

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, JIn Raja Perempuan Zainab II, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Community Medicine, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Jln Raja Perempuan Zainab II, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Department of Neurosciences, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Jln Raja Perempuan Zainab II, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

found that severe or significant chronic pain occurs in 6–14% of the general population of Scotland (7).

Chronic pain is a multidimensional problem that can detrimentally affect physical and psychological aspects of an afflicted individual's life, daily activities, and work (5,7) and may greatly impact healthcare expenditures (8). These in turn, lead to enormous social costs in the form of lost productivity and unrelenting, needless suffering. Internationally, pain is recognized as an impediment to health and dignity, and hence, alleviating pain and maintaining dignity even through the terminal phases of an illness is recognized as a necessity (9,10). Despite its widespread occurrence and measures to improve pain management, the current evidence indicates that pain continues to be under-treated and under-diagnosed for a variety of reasons, even in major service hospitals (1,11). With regards to this issue, the International Association Study Of Pain (IASP) and the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO) now encourages hospitals to develop comprehensive programmes for assessment, treatment, and documentation of pain, as well as the institution of quality improvement efforts related to pain management (10).

The primary goal in chronic pain treatment is to improve the patient's level of function and capacity for return to work (RTW), while decreasing as much as possible the frequency and intensity of pain while simultaneously reducing medication consumption (12,13). The multimodal or comprehensive pain management approach in a biopsychosocial model has been accepted as a standard chronic pain management strategy. It is an integrated multidisciplinary treatment for groups with a closely coordinated therapeutic approach (1). Numerous meta-analyses and critical reviews of integrated multidisciplinary chronic pain management programmes offer clear evidence that this treatment approach can offer relief of suffering and return to a functional lifestyle (12,14). The multimodal regimen is superior to unimodal pain treatments (including surgery, pharmacologic intervention, spinal stimulators and intrathecal opioid pumps) in terms of pain reduction, improved physical functioning, and returning patients to the workforce (15). Nevertheless, implementation of the concept of multimodal and multidisciplinary chronic pain management is still beginning in various Asian countries (16). This study evaluates our preliminary experience and overall achievements one year after commencing this service in our institution.

#### Materials and methods

This retrospective review evaluates the outcomes of our one-year-old chronic pain service, from May 2007 to May 2008 in Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia (HUSM). All new referrals for chronic pain management of cancer pain and non-cancer pain that came from either the pain clinic or inpatient wards were enrolled into this study. Patient data were obtained from the pain management unit registry. The cohort was divided by source (pain clinic or ward referral) of the patients entering multimodal (combined) chronic pain therapy. All chronic pain patients were subjected to standard multimodal pain therapy as appropriate, which consisted of physical, exercise, occupational, pharmacological, and psychological therapy, as well as interventional pain management.

Physical therapy mainly consisted of heat therapy (hot packs, ultrasound or short wave), transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), massage, and myofascial release, whereas therapeutic exercise involved active and passive stretching, as well as strengthening exercises in suitable cases. Oral medications consisted of paracetamol, nonsteroidal anti inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), muscle relaxants, antineuropathic agents, antiresorptive agents, steroids, and opioids (OxyContin or slow-release morphine) when appropriate. The parenteral analgesic agent of choice was either intravenous parecoxib (Dynastat) or morphine sulphate, which was only given to inpatients. A fentanyl patch was advocated when a switch to a slow-release opioid was considered. Counselling and cognitive behaviour therapy was performed informally by one pain physician during each consultation, due to a shortage of staff. Patients with significant psychological disorders such as psychosomatic and somatisation disorders were referred to a psychiatrist for expert treatment. Pain intervention was defined as an injection performed under fluoroscopic guidance and was indicated when patients failed to respond to conservative treatment (physical therapy, exercise and oral medication). The number of patients were then compared and analyzed by variables such as demographic characteristics and patient responses to intervention, including measuring pain intensity by the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) and functional disability by the modified Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), version 2.0 (17).

As an objective measurement of pain, a linear 100 mm VAS was routinely used in all patients at the first visit and upon improvements in pain if they occurred within the year. Similarly, assessment of the modified ODI was routinely carried out using a questionnaire that consisted of ten questions. Patients were required to choose the best answer for each section to describe their pain and limitation. The maximum points possible for each question was five, and the maximum score for ten questions was fifty. The total modified ODI score from each patient was expressed as a percent. The modified ODI scoring and relevant level of disability is summarized in Table 1.

For outcomes measurement, improvement in pain (measured by the VAS) and functional/ physical activity (assessed by the modified ODI) were measured within the year-long study period after commencing our multimodal pain regimes, regardless of the total number of follow-up examinations and pain interventions done. Reevaluation of the VAS and modified ODI were done during follow-up appointments for pain clinic patients, whereas ward referral patients were evaluated on a daily basis at the pain clinic upon discharge from the ward. To measure the overall effectiveness of the multimodal pain management strategy, the VAS and modified ODI were categorized into two groups: the first group; patients who exhibited a reduction by  $\geq 50\%$  in both variables, the second group; patient who showed a reduction of less than 50%. Reassessment of the modified ODI was performed regardless of the patients' VAS score throughout the study period. Fifty percent was taken as a standard figure when quick and brief assessments for improvement in pain and disability status were made. This figure has been widely used as a simple assessment tool in many pain studies and practices. The number and percentage of variables in pain management outcomes were then compared between the two groups of chronic pain patients.

 Table 1: The modified Oswestry Disability Index (ODI)

Modified ODI score (%)	Level of disability
0-20	Minimal disability
21–40	Moderate disability
41–60	Severe disability
61-80	Cripple, pain impinges on all aspects of patient's life
81–100	Patients are bed-bound or exaggerating their symptoms

#### Results

A total of 169 new chronic pain patients were managed by the HUSM chronic pain service between May 2007 and May 2008. Of this figure, 57 (33.7%) were male, and 112 (66.3%) were female (Table 2). Of these new cases, 102 (60.4%) were seen in the pain clinic, and 67 (39.6%) belonged to the ward referral group. The proportion of orthopaedic patients was the highest, with 106 (62.7%) patients, followed by 18 (10.7%) neurosurgical patients (Table 3). The subgroups divided by aetiology showed that non cancer-related chronic pain and chronic back pain patients were the highest in proportion, accounting for 102 (60.3%) and 101 (59.7%) patients, respectively (Table 3). Patients with cancer-related pain dominated the ward referral group, accounting for 55 (84.6%) of these patients, whereas chronic back pain were more

Table 2:	Sociodemographic characteristics of
	169 new patients treated by the HUSM
	chronic pain service (from pain clinic
	and ward referral) from May 2007 to
	May 2008.

May 2000.			
Patient distribution	Numbers		
( <i>n</i> =169)	n(%)		
Age			
Years (means ±SD)	$44.7 \pm 15.5$		
Gender			
Male	57 (33.7)		
Female	112 (66.3)		
BMI			
Under weight	30 (17.8)		
Normal	42 (24.9)		
Overweight	75 (44.4)		
Obese	22 (13.0)		
Ethnicity			
Malay	144 (85.2)		
Chinese	20 (11.8)		
Indian	5 (3.0)		
Marital status			
Married	109 (64.5)		
Not married	60 (35.5)		
Occupational status			
Employed	121 (71.6)		
Unemployed	73 (28.4)		

Data are presented as n (%) or mean ± standard deviation

common in the pain clinic group, accounting for 80 (79.8%) of patients.

Our data also showed that modified ODI and VAS scores were higher in the ward referral group as compared to the pain clinic group (48±5.0 vs. 24±4.2 [ODI] and 8.2±1.3 vs. 6.5±1.4 [VAS], respectively). Patients who belonged to the ward referral group were more likely to be severely disabled, whereas patients from the pain clinic were moderately disabled. Our data showed that 128 (75.7%) of our chronic pain patients were successfully managed by achieving a reduction in the VAS  $\geq$  50% at any point during the study period (Table 4). Between groups, a reduction of the VAS  $\geq$ 50% was more often observed in the ward referral group compared to the pain clinic group (91% vs. 65.7%). Evidence for functional/physical restoration was also apparent, as 104 (61.5%) patients showed improvement in their modified ODI by  $\geq 50\%$ ; this effect was predominantly noted in the pain clinic group (67.6%) (Table 4). The total number of pain intervention procedures performed under fluoroscopy was 111 cases, which were done on a total of 76 new chronic pain patients (45%) (Table 5).

#### Discussion

Chronic pain is a common experience and is costly for both the individual and the health service. International prevalence rates of chronic pain (IASP criteria specifies duration of at least three months) range from 11.5–55.2%, with a weighted mean prevalence of 35.5% across the nation (18). Chronic pain, especially if left untreated, is associated with general physical, psychological, and social distress. Employment, daily activities, and measured dimensions of

**Table 3:**Demographic characteristics of new chronic pain patients from the pain clinic and<br/>from inpatient ward referral who were managed by the HUSM chronic pain service<br/>from May 2007 to May 2008.

Patient distribution	Pain clinic n=102	Ward referral n=67	Total n=169
Relevant disciplines			
Orthopaedic surgery	81	25	106
Neuroscience	10	8	18
Surgery	5	9	14
Medicine	3	4	7
Oncology	5	8	13
Family medicine clinic	4	0	4
ENT	0	4	4
Obstetrics and gynaecology	2	0	2
Cancer/non cancer in origin			
Cancer-related pain	12 (11.5)	55 (84.6)	67 (39.6)
Non cancer-related pain	90 (88.5)	12 (15.3)	102 (60.3)
Spine in origin			
Back pain	80 (79.8)	18 (27.7)	101 (59.7)
Non back pain	22 (20.2)	49 (72.3)	68 (40.3)
Pain duration			
Years, average ± SD	$4.3 \pm 2.4$	$2.5 \pm 1.8$	
VAS* at first visit			
(0-10 cm scale, average $\pm$ SD)	$6.5 \pm 1.4$	$8.2 \pm 1.3$	
Modified Oswestry Disability Index at first visit			
(% ± SD)	$24 \pm 4.2$	$48 \pm 5.0$	

Data are presented as n (%) or mean ± standard deviation

\* VAS= Visual analogue scale

ward referral and pain clinic group	08		
	Patient group		Total n(%)
Patient responses	Pain clinic Ward referral n(%) n(%)		
Reduced VAS by $\geq 50\%$			
Yes	67 (65.7)	61 (91)	128 (75.7)
No	35 (34.3)	6 (9.0)	41 (24.3)
Improvement in modified ODI by ≥50%			
Yes	69 (67.6)	35 (52.2)	104 (61.5)
No	33 (32.4)	32 (47.8)	65 (38.5)

**Table 4:** Pain score based on Visual Analog Scale (VAS) and general improvement in functional/physical activity score based on modified Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) among new chronic pain patients following multimodal pain therapy, divided into ward referral and pain clinic groups

general health are increasingly and negatively affected by the presence of chronic pain (7). These patients have typically lost their independence and are reliant upon medications and the aid of others, contributing to the development of behavioural patterns of general passivity. Thus, due to these inter-related biopsychosocial distresses, chronic pain patients are finally subjected to disability (19).

In addition to the negative psychological and physiological effects, undermanaged pain imposes a heavy economic burden. In the United States, lost productive time (measured in terms of absenteeism as well as reduced productivity while at work) due to common pain conditions such as arthritis, back pain, headache, and other musculoskeletal pain cost \$61 billion a year (in 2002 US\$) (20). In addition to lost productive time, chronic pain increases healthcare utilization due to more frequent primary care visits and hospital admissions (a 2-fold increase) as well as emergency department visits (a 5-fold increase), compared with no chronic pain (8).

The primary goal in the treatment of chronic pain is to improve the patient's level of function and capacity to RTW by decreasing as much as possible the frequency and intensity of pain while simultaneously reducing medication consumption and additional use of health care resources (12,13). Unfortunately, chronic pain has a low rate of recovery. The average annual recovery rate from chronic pain was reported to be 5.4% after a fouryear follow-up period in a study that examined the course of chronic pain in a community study population (13). Nevertheless, other data from a 30-year experience suggested that treatment of patients with chronic pain is best achieved via a multimodal and multidisciplinary team approach (12). Numerous meta-analyses and critical reviews

of integrated multidisciplinary chronic pain management programmes offer clear evidence of opportunities to relieve suffering and allow patients' return to functional lifestyles (12,14). In a review of 13 multidisciplinary chronic pain management centres, multimodal therapy was found to be superior to unimodal pain treatments (including surgery, pharmacologic intervention, spinal stimulators and intrathecal opioid pumps) in terms of pain reduction, improved physical functioning, and ability to return patients to the workforce (15). Furthermore, multidisciplinary treatment of chronic pain has been associated with reduced utilization of medical services compared to chronic pain patients treated with other approaches, even in countries with national health insurance (15). In terms of longevity of the benefits of integrated multidisciplinary programs, a followup study of patients seen 13 years after treatment supported maintenance of gains from therapy (12,14). Cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) is a well-known, important subset that is incorporated into multidisciplinary pain management programmes. This structured programme requires active participation from patients and is based on intensive mental, emotional, and physical rehabilitation in order to improve coping skills and health-related quality of life (12).

We would like to emphasize that our subject population of 169 patients is an underestimation of the actual number of new chronic pain patients seen in our hospital over the course of a year. For example, referral rates of chronic pain patients from the family medicine clinic were still low (2.3%), despite its potential for eventually becoming the main source of chronic pain patients. In addition, many neuropathic pain patients were successfully managed by the neurological team and

2007 to May 2008				
Pain procedure	Frequency (n)	Percent (%)		
Epidural steroid	28	25.2		
Epiduroplasty	12	10.8		
Sacroiliac joint injection	11	9.9		
Piriformis injection	10	9.0		
Facet joint injection				
Lumbar	11	9.9		
Cervical	3	2.7		
Paravertebral block	3	2.7		
Radiofrequency ablation				
Sacroiliac joint	5	4.5		
Lumbar facet	3	2.7		
Neuroma	1			
Large-joint injection (triamcinolone or hyaluronic acid)	8	7.2		
Discogram	2	1.8		
Subscapularis muscle injection	3	2.7		
Prolotherapy	2	1.8		
Brachial plexus block	2	1.8		
Others	7	6.3		
Total	111	100		

**Table 5:**List of pain intervention procedures done under fluoroscopic<br/>guidance on a total of 76 chronic pain patients from May<br/>2007 to May 2008

were only referred to pain clinic if the physician was unable to manage refractory or intractable pain cases. From our observations, we believe that some clinicians were still unaware of the new chronic pain service. HUSM is a tertiary-care hospital that serves a population of five million in northeast Malaysia. Obviously our figures are underestimated, if comparisons are made with previous epidemiological studies in US that have estimated the chronic pain prevalence in the general adult population at about one in six (range 2-40%) (6), whereas severe or significant chronic pain occurs in 6-14% of the general population (7). Nevertheless, data describing the prevalence of chronic pain in Asian countries are limited. The prevalence of chronic pain in the Hong Kong population has been reported to be 10.8%, which is comparable to rates in western countries (16). However, we report that our 169 new chronic pain patients should be taken as clinically significant, as they had refractory and/or intractable chronic pain that required expert management from pain specialists. Presumably, prior to the establishment

of chronic pain service, the number of chronic pain patients remained high, with these cases likely being under-treated, which led to persistent pain and disability.

#### Chronic pain is undertreated

Current evidence indicates that chronic pain continues to be undertreated. A recent nationwide survey of the general population showed that 75% of subjects who had experienced moderate to very severe pain within the previous two weeks had sought medical attention, but 44% of those who did so had not had significant pain relief (21). Likewise, in a European survey of more than 46,000 respondents, 40% of adults with chronic pain were found to be inadequately managed (22). A similar issue was observed in our study, in which the mean VAS in the pain clinic and ward referral groups at the first visit was quite high, at 6.5±1.4 and 8.2±1.3, respectively. The VAS was exceptionally high in the ward referral group, as most patients (84.6%) had pain from advanced cancer. This finding is consistent with previous studies that

have shown that 90% of patients with advanced cancer experience severe pain. In addition, as many as 50% of patients may be undertreated for cancer pain (23,24). A paucity of knowledge and skill pertaining to pain management among clinicians was identified as the main reason contributing to inadequate pain management, especially for cases of intractable and refractory pain (11,25,26). This fact is consistent with our observation that most patients had already been treated with analgesics (single or multiple-drug regimens) by the time of referral by their primary physician, and yet their pain was still uncontrolled. Conversely, a study performed by Vallerand et al. (11) showed that caregivers with greater knowledge of pain management had significantly fewer barriers to treatment, supporting the importance of increasing caregiver's understanding of cancer pain management (11).

Other factors in the undertreatment of pain may arise from inadequacies and restrictions in healthcare systems, attitudes, beliefs, and fear on the part of physicians, patients, families, and society, all of which may contribute to the widespread undertreatment of pain in our society (11,23,25). With respect to attitudes and beliefs, Fishbain et al. (17) has mentioned two possible reasons why treatment at a pain facility was not considered. First, the attending orthopaedic physician did not know or did not believe that treatment in a multidisciplinary pain facility would be of value. Second, the patient's insurance may not have covered such treatment. Such a situation would have forced the attending orthopaedic physician to proceed with an alternative treatment (27).

Our sociodemographic data revealed that rates of increased age, gender (female), weight and obesity remained high with high incidences of chronic pain (Table 2). Studies have reported that overweight or obesity early in life is a risk factor for pain and that both pain and overweight or obesity negatively affect quality of life (28). The prevalence of chronic pain has been reported to be higher among women than men (20% versus 16%) and was increased with age; these results were consistent with our findings (29). Our data also showed that 71.6% of chronic pain patients were employed civilians. We agree that this data should be correlated with the specific nature of the job in order to be more meaningful. A more recent survey in Spain found that the most important workrelated pain problems derived from maintaining the same posture and carrying out repetitive tasks (30).

Our data showed that orthopaedic patients comprised the largest proportion (62.7%) among the subgroups. The pain clinic was noticeably and predominantly attended by chronic back pain patients (79.8%), whereas the ward referral group was mostly composed of cancer-related chronic pain patients (84.6%) (Table 3). This finding agrees with the fact that low back pain is a worldwide major health and socioeconomic problem. Over 26 million adults experience frequent back pain, and two-third of Americans will have back pain during their lifetime (30). Meanwhile, other studies have reported that approximately 80% of Americans experience low back pain during their lifetime (3,30).

# Improvement of VAS and modified ODI: the explanation

The VAS is recommended by the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) as a pain assessment tool and is widely used in pain research (31), whereas the ODI is currently considered the "gold standard" for researchers to measure permanent functional disability, especially among chronic back pain patients (17). Improvement by 50% or more on the VAS and ODI is taken as an indicator of significant improvement, and this simple assessment tool is commonly used in clinical practice and researches. Most pain researchers have reported using the "pain reduced by  $\geq 50\%$ " metric to denote significant pain relief following intervention (32). Our study showed that 75.7% of our patients had  $\geq$ 50% reductions in VAS score, which might be considered to be an overestimated value. Chronic pain is reported to have a low rate of recovery without intervention. For example, the average annual recovery rate from chronic pain was 5.4% after a follow-up period of 4 years in a study that examined the course of chronic pain in the community (13). Turk et al. (12) found that pain reduction across studies following multidisciplinary pain therapy was 37%, which was comparable to other pain treatment modalities; however the rate of return to functional work ranged from 48-65%, a significant improvement beyond pain reduction itself (15).

The high success rate in our multimodal pain treatment (75.7%) was strongly increased by a reduction in the VAS by  $\geq$ 50% among the ward referral group (91.0%) which was dominated by cancer-related pain patients. We believe that our cancer-related pain patients responded much better to our pain treatment regime than non-cancer-related pain patients did for several reasons. Patients underwent proper assessment of pain in terms of severity, type, and cause of pain, resulting

in correct goals and direction of treatment regimes. We also noticed that most patients did well with slow-release opioid analgesics (OxyContin, slowrelease morphine, fentanyl patches) and antineuropathic agents (gabapentin, amitriptyline, carbamazepine, clonazepam). Our finding is consistent with a longitudinal follow-up study done by Meuser T et al. (33), who reported that efficacy of pain treatment was good in 70%, satisfactory in 16%, and inadequate in 14% of patients, after the WHO guidelines for cancer pain relief were Conversely, non-cancer-pain followed (33). patients (chronic benign pain patients) tolerated both groups of medications poorly, as most of them suffered from adverse effects of the medications. We also noticed that some of our cancer patients benefited from regional nerve blocks while undergoing titration of opioid or antineuropathic agents to therapeutic levels. This technique was often employed for an intractable and mixed type of cancer pain. Another factor that also may play a role in our high success rate was the existence of a well-established oncology and radiotherapy department at HUSM, in which most of our cancer patients underwent complimentary radiotherapy or chemotherapy as part of our multimodal chronic pain therapy. None of our cancer patients required intrathecal catheterization for neuraxial opioid therapy.

Nevertheless, ≥50% reduction in VAS is a rather rough assessment of quantity of pain relief and is less specific. Previous pain studies often incorporated functional or physical activity scores along with the pain score in order to evaluate outcomes in a more meaningful way (15). Thus, we concluded that restoration of patients' functional or physical activity was an important complement to our overall assessment of patient responses. In our study, the degree of patient disability was measured by the modified ODI, which reported moderate  $(24\pm4.2)$  and severe  $(48\pm5.0)$  disability in the pain clinic and ward referral groups, respectively. This finding correlates with VAS scores, which yielded higher scores in ward referral group. Our data showed that overall improvement in the modified ODI by ≥50% was recorded in 61.5% of the patients and was more often observed in the pain clinic group (67.6%) (Table 4). Although improvement in pain score was greater in the ward referral group, improvement in their modified ODI was subtle (52.2%). We conclude that this was due to the characteristics of patients in the ward referral group because most of them had significant comorbidities and debility due to their status as advanced cancer patients. Nevertheless, it is known that level of activity does not necessarily correlate with pain intensity (34).

# MJMS 16(4): 62

# The psychosocial assessment of chronic pain

Even though functional measurements of pain such as the ODI have gained popularity, selfreports of some functional measurements may still be unreliable. Ideally, a single-dimension metric is not the best pain assessment tool, as chronic pain can have a significant psychosocial impact. Compared to people without chronic pain, those with chronic pain have a 4-fold increased risk for depression or anxiety (7). Estimates of the prevalence of depression among patients with chronic pain range from 31% to 100%, while pain complaints in depressed individuals range from 34% to 66% (35,36). In our work, counselling and cognitive behaviour therapy were done informally by a single pain physician during consultation, due to a shortage of staff. Patients who presented with significant psychological disorders such as psychosomatic and somatisation disorders were referred to a psychiatrist for expert treatment. Other more realistic psychosocial inventories such as the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) or Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS) would be a better option for the variables measured in this kind of study. Alternatively, other multiple-dimensional methods for reporting pain, such as the McGill Pain Questionnaire (MGPQ) or Short Form Health Survey (SF-36), will be valuable if incorporated into the assessment of chronic pain patients in future studies (37). The SF-36 is a comprehensive pain measurement tool that is frequently used for measuring Health Related Quality Of Life (HRQL) and for following changes in HRQL after clinical treatments. It consists of eight scales that measure physical functioning, physical role (limitations in daily activities), bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning, emotional role (limitations in daily activities), and mental health.

## Interventional pain management

Pain intervention procedures under fluoroscopic guidance were indicated when patients failed to respond to conservative treatment (refractory) and had persistently high VAS (VAS 7-10). This step is in accordance with the WHO fourth analgesic ladder recommendation, which states that interventional pain procedures are called for when the third analgesic ladder of pain management strategy has failed (12,14). The total number of pain interventions performed under fluoroscopy was 111 cases in 76 patients, who comprised 45% of our new chronic pain patients (Table 5). This high pain intervention rate can be attributed to several reasons. Some patients underwent multiple pain procedures at one time, as they presented with multiple pain diagnoses.

In addition, most pain procedures required repetition, either as recommended by protocol or as pain recurred. The list of intervention procedures is given in Table 5. Epidural steroid injection was the most common pain intervention procedure performed (25.2%), followed by lumbar and cervical facet joint injection (12.6%), epiduroplasty (10.8%), sacroiliac joint injection (9.9%), and piriformis injection (9.0%). However, no analysis was done to define the efficacy of the pain interventions employed, as this requires a randomized, double-blinded controlled trial. The improvement in our patients' pain and disability actually reflected the overall multimodal treatment regimens used in the biopsychosocial approach, rather than unimodal therapy. We conclude that vast skill and knowledge in pain management, the presence of up-to-date techniques, and drugs relevant to pain management that are delivered through multimodal pain therapy approaches are the main keys for success in chronic pain management.

#### Study Limitations

Because this survey based was on respondents' self-report, the quality and accuracy of the data cannot be determined, particularly for the extremely subjective disability score. In future studies, the modified ODI should also be administered during the pre- and post-treatment course so that outcomes can be compared. As another option, more objective tools for measuring disability may be utilized, such as the Short Form Health Survey (SF-36). In addition, our survey documented only two specific symptoms (pain intensity and physical disability), which are known to be associated in chronic pain. Clearly, many other conditions which have not been explored, such as psychological status, may interfere with the total picture of chronic pain.

The documentation of dependent variables (VAS and ODI) was completed serially. Patients who developed recurrent pain over the course of the study period were not re-entered into the study sample. On the other hand, patients who initiated treatment later in the study period probably did not have enough time to respond to the comprehensive biopsychosocial model of pain treatment; this clearly will affect the study outcome.

#### Implications for health care authorities

Despite the demonstrated effectiveness of multidisciplinary approaches for the treatment of chronic pain, only a small group of patients took advantage of the multidisciplinary pain clinics. Extra effort must be applied to promote awareness of this relatively new service among caregivers and chronic pain sufferers. In addition, although specialty pain clinics may be perceived as expensive ventures, their treatment outcomes can result in lower levels of patient disability. They are thus likely to impact on health care utilization and the economics of health care such that high front-end investments may result in long-term health care savings for the system as a whole.

#### Conclusion

A chronic pain service plays a significant role in managing chronic pain patients in a major hospital, as it is capable of delivering comprehensive care and management of refractory and intractable chronic pain. More patients will benefit from this novel service if referrals for pain management can be made early and often.

#### Author's contributions

Conception and design, drafting of article, critical revision of article: NAJ Data analysis and interpretation; statistical expertise: ZS Provision of patients; administrative support: MSA Administrative, technical and logistic support: MO

#### Correspondence

Dr Nizar Abd. Jalil Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care School of Medical Sciences Universiti Sains Malaysia 16150 Kubang Kerian Kelantan, Malaysia Tel: +609-767 6095 Fax: +609-765 3370 Email: nizar@kb.usm.my

#### References

- 1. Arnold B, Brinkschmidt T, Casser HR, Gralow I, Irnich D, Klimczyk K et al. Multimodal pain therapy: principles and indications. *Schmerz* 2009;**23(2)**:112–120.
- Paris PM, Yealy DM. Pain management. In Marx J, Adams J, Rosen P et al. editors. Rosen's Emergency Medicine: Concepts and Clinical Practice, 6th ed (Chapter 187). Philadelphia, PA: Mosby.2006.
- 3. Katz WA. Musculoskeletal pain and its socioeconomic implications. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2002;**21**(suppl 1):S2-S4.
- 4. Cleeland CS, Gonin R, Hatfield AK, Wagler KS, Pandya KJ. Pain and its treatment in out patients with metastatic cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 1994;**330**:592–596.

- Verhaak PF, Kerssens JJ, Dekker J, Sorbi MJ, Bensing JM. Prevalence of chronic benign pain disorder among adults: a review of the literature. *Pain*. 1998;37:215– 222.
- 6. Smith BH, Elliott AM, Chambers WA, Smith WC, Hannaford PC, Penny K. The impact of chronic pain in the community. *Fam. Pract.* 2001;**18**:292–299.
- 7. Gureje O, Von Korff M, Simon GE, Gater R. Persistent pain and well-being: a World Health Organization Study in Primary Care. *JAMA*. 1998;**280**:147–151.
- Blyth FM, March LM, Brnabic AJ, Cousins MJ. Chronic pain and frequent use of health care. *Pain*. 2004;111:51– 58.
- Paul H. The Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health..The Lancet article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), General Comment, 2000. [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2009 Apr 20]. Available from: http://www. doctordeluca.com/Library/Pain/NoReliefInSight97-C. html.
- Berry PH, Dahl JL. The new JCAHO pain standards: Implications for pain management nurses. *Pain Mgmt Nurs*. 2000;1:3–12.
- 11. Vallerand AH, Collins-Bohler D, Templin T, Hasenau SM. Knowledge of and barriers to pain management in caregivers of cancer patients receiving homecare. *Cancer Nurs*. 2007;**30(1)**:31–37.
- Turk, D. Efficacy of multidisciplinary pain centers in the treatment of chronic pain. In :C.J.e. Cohen MJM, editor. Pain treatment centers at a crossroads: A practical and conceptual reappraisal. Seattle: IASP Press. 1996.
- Elliott AM, Smith BH, Hannaford PC, Smith WC, Chambers WA. The course of chronic pain in the community: results of a four-year follow-up study. *Pain*. 2002;99:297–307.
- 14. Phillips DM. JCAHO pain management standards are unveiled. *JAMA*. 2000;**284**:428–429.
- Turk DC Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of treatments for patients with chronic pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2002;**18**:355–365.
- Ng KF, Tsui SL, Chan WS. Prevalence of common chronic pain in Hong Kong adults. *Clin J Pain*. 2002;18:275– 281.
- 17. Fairbank JC, Pynsent, PB. The Oswestry Disability Index. *Spine*. 2000;**25(22)**:2940–2953.
- Harstall C, Ospina M; Systematic review of prevalence studies on chronic pain International Society of Technology Assessment in Health Care. Meeting (19th :2003:Canmore, Alta.). Annu Meet Int Soc Technol Assess Health Care Int Soc Technol Assess Health Care Meet. 2003; 19: abstract no. 130.

- Blyth FM, March LM, Cousins MJ. Chronic pain-related disability and use of analgesia and health services in a Sydney community. *MJA*. 2003;179:84–87.
- 20. Stewart WF, Ricci JA, Chee, E, Morganstein D, Lipton R. Lost productive time and cost due to common pain conditions in the US workforce. *JAMA*. 2003;**290**:2443–2454.
- 21. Shi Q, Langer G, Cohen J, Cleeland CS. People in pain: how do they seek relief? *J Pain*. 2007;**8**:624–636.
- Breivik H, Collett B, Ventafridda V, Cohen R, Gallacher D. Survey of chronic pain in Europe: prevalence, impact on daily life, and treatment. *Eur J Pain*. 2006;**10**:287– 333.
- 23. Von Roenn JH, Cleeland CS, Gonin R, Hatfield AK, Pandya KJ. Physician Attitudes and Practice in Cancer Pain Management. *Ann Intern Med.* 1993;**119**:121–126.
- 24. Weinstein SM, Thoruby JI, Lorimor RJ, JR Hill CS, Throvpe DM, Merrill JM, et al. Medical Students" Attitudes Toward Pain and the Use of Opioid Analgesics: Implications for Changing Medical School Curriculum. *South Med J.* 2000;**93(5)**:472–478.
- Drayer RA, Henderson J, Reidenberg M. Barriers to better pain control in hospitalized patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1999;17:434–440.
- 26. Sullum J. No Relief in Sight. ReasonOnline (January 1997). [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2009 Apr 5]. Available from: http://www.doctordeluca.com/Library/Pain/ NoReliefInSight97-C.html.
- 27. Fishbain D, Cutler RB, Rosomoff HL, Steele Rosomoff RS: What is the quality of the implemented metaanalytic procedures in chronic pain treatment metaanalyses? *Clin J Pain*. 2000;**16**:73–85.
- 28. Janke EA, Collins A, Kozak AT. Overview of the relationship between pain and obesity; what do we know? Where do we go next? Adapted from *J Rehabil Res Dev.* 2007;**44(2)**:245–262.
- 29. Millar WJ. Chronic pain. Health Rep. 1996;7(4):47-53.
- 30. Dionne CE. Low back pain. In: Crombie IK, Croft PR, Linton SJ, et al. editors. Epidemiology of pain. Seattle: IASP Press. 1999.
- 31. Dexter F, Chestnut DH. Analysis of statistical tests to compare visual analog scale measurement among groups. *Anaesthesiology*. 1995;**82**:896–902.
- 32. Olcott C, Eltherington LG, Wilcosky BR, Shoorr PM, Zimmerman JJ, Fogarty TJ. Reflex sympathetic dystrophy-the surgeon's role in management. J Vasc Surg. 1991;14:488-492; discussion 492-495.
- 33. Meuser T, Pietruck C, Radbruch, Stute P. Symptoms during cancer pain treatment following WHO-guidelines: a longitudinal follow-up study of symptom prevalence, severity and etiology. *Pain*. 2001; **93(3)**:247–257.
- 34. Linon SJ. The relationship between activity and chronic back pain. *Pain*. 1985;**21**:289–294.
- Romano JM, Turner JA. Chronic pain and depression: Does the evidence support a relationship? *Psychol Bull*. 1985;97:18–34.
- 36. Smith GR. The epidemiology and treatment of depression when it co-exists with somatoform disorders, somatization, or pain. *Gen Hosp Psychiat*. 1992;14:265–272.
- 37. Pateman JA. Measurement of pain. In: Dolin SP, Nicholas PJ. Pain Clinic Manual.1st edition. New York: Butter Worth-Heinemann. 1996; p. 12–13.

# CASE REPORT

# Alum Irrigation for the Treatment of Intractable Haematuria

Christopher Chee Kong Ho, Zulkifli Md ZAINUDDIN

Urology Unit, Department of Surgery, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre, Jalan Yaakob Latif, Bandar Tun Razak, 56000 Cheras, Kuala Lumpur

Submitted: 26 Jun 2009 Accepted: 18 Aug 2009

### Abstract

Managing intractable haematuria is a daunting task. One cause of this condition is radiationinduced haemorrhagic cystitis. Several treatments for the condition have been proposed and one non-invasive option is alum irrigation. Here, we report on a 65-year-old woman with intractable haematuria secondary to radiation cystitis who was successfully treated with alum irrigation. Alum irrigation is safe, well tolerated and relatively cheap. A review of the literature and a comprehensive discussion on alum irrigation as treatment for haematuria is discussed here to create an awareness regarding this treatment option.

Keywords: intractable haematuria, radiation cystitis, alum irrigation, medical sciences

## Introduction

Intractable haematuria from the bladder can be life threatening and its management is challenging. Haemorrhagic cystitis is a condition that can cause intractable haematuria and has several causes, including pelvic radiation and systemic treatment with oxazophosphorine alkylating agents like cyclophosphamide. The incidence of radiation cystitis in general is between 3-15% (1). For the management of haemorrhagic cystitis, several different treatment modalities remain in use with varying degrees of success; one such treatment is alum irrigation. Here, we present a case of radiation-induced haemorrhagic cystitis that was successfully treated with alum irrigation. This case report will increase awareness among Malaysian medical practitioners regarding alum irrigation as a safe and effective option for the treatment of intractable haematuria.

# **Case Report**

A 65-year-old Chinese woman was diagnosed with ovarian carcinoma 20 years ago and underwent a total abdominal hysterectomy and bilateral oophorectomy (TAHBSO) followed by external beam radiotherapy (1.5 Gy/fractions, 5 days/week for 4 weeks). Her postoperative and post-radiation course was uneventful until she presented with a 2 day history of frank haematuria, 20 years after TAHBSO. Laboratory investigations revealed normal renal function and coagulation profile. Ultrasound of the abdomen showed no evidence of calculi or focal renal lesions.

Cystoscopy was performed and demonstrated Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) Grade 4 bladder telangiectasia, likely from radiation cystitis. No tumour or calculi were seen. Areas of bleeding were diathermized and bladder washout performed, however the haematuria persisted. This was repeated a number of times, nevertheless the haematuria continued. The patient was started on 1% alum irrigation at 250 mL/hr (6 L over 24 hours). She tolerated the treatment well, and after 24 hours the haematuria had stopped completely. Serum aluminium levels were normal and there were no signs or symptoms of aluminium toxicity. Before initiation of the alum irrigation, her serum aluminium level was 1.71 µmol/L and International Normalised Ratio (INR) was 1.02. After alum irrigation, her serum aluminium level was 3.07 µmol/L and INR was 1.34. She was discharged home the following day, after a period of clear urine was observed. At 3 months of follow-up, she had experienced no recurrence of haematuria.

# Discussion

Complications of pelvic radiation include both acute and chronic bladder injuries. One sequela of chronic radiation-induced bladder insults is haemorrhagic cystitis. The incidence of haemorrhagic cystitis for cervical carcinoma treated with both intracavitary and external beam radiotherapy is reported at 6.5%. The median interval to developing haematuria following the completion of therapy was 35.5 months (2). Chronic radiation therapy can cause damage to the bladder submucosa, leading to necrosis of the vascular endothelium, vessel wall thickening and obliterative endarteritis. All of these changes result in hypoxia, hypovascularity and ischaemia, which can ultimately induce neovascularisation of vessels that are fragile and prone to bleeding.

There are many different treatments for haemorrhagic cystitis. Among these treatments are clot evacuation, continuous bladder irrigation, oral aminocaproic acid, oestrogens, endoscopic laser coagulation, intramural orgotein (free radical scavenger), alum irrigation, formalin, placental extract or prostaglandin administration, embolisation of iliac arteries, Helmstein's hydrostatic distension, hyperbaric oxygen, sodium pentosan polysulphate, silver nitrate, vasopressin, phenol, urinary diversion and cystectomy.

Alum irrigation for the treatment of haemorrhagic cystitis was first introduced by Floyd Csir to Ostroff and Chenault in 1982. Success rates are high with most reports placing rates at 75-100% (3-5). Alum is composed of either aluminium ammonium sulphate or aluminium potassium sulphate. As an astringent, aluminium acts by precipitating protein over bleeding surfaces. Its action is limited to the cell surface and interstitial spaces due to its low cell permeability. Hardening of the capillary endothelium occurs leading to decreased capillary permeability, contraction of intercellular space and vasoconstriction. As a result, local oedema, inflammation and exudation are also reduced.

There are two protocols for 1% alum irrigation. The first is to dissolve 400 g of potash of alum (McCarthy's) in 4 L of hot, sterile water. 300 mL of this stock solution is added to 3 L of 0.9% saline through a sterilizing filter and the bladder irrigated with up to 30 L of this solution in 24 hours. The second method is to dissolve 50 g of alum in 5 L of sterile water and irrigate the bladder at 250–300mL/h (5). Schootstra et al. used 0.5% alum by dissolving 300 g of alum (aluminium potassium sulphate) and 480 g of sodium chloride in 60 L of water, with the advantages of decreased aluminium toxicity and minimisation of colloidlike precipitation that can block the catheter (6).

The advantage of alum irrigation compared to other treatment methods for haemorrhagic cystitis is that it is generally safe, effective, well tolerated and cost effective. There is no need for regional or general anaesthesia unlike when using formalin, phenol, silver nitrate or hydrostatic bladder distension. It is a simple procedure that does not require open surgery or elaborate radiological procedures. In addition, local tissue histology is not distorted. The side effects of 1 % alum irrigation include suprapubic pain and bladder spasms. These side effects may be due to the fact that a 1% alum solution has a concentration of 1.05 g/L and a pH of 4.5. Normally, serum aluminium is excreted rapidly by the kidneys, with a potential excretion reserve of up to 30 times normal values. Renal insufficiency, accumulative absorption or massive absorption due to large absorptive surfaces, like a large bladder tumour, may cause aluminium toxicity. Aluminium toxicity causes neurofibrillary degeneration in the central nervous system which can lead to encephalopathy, malaise, speech disorders, dementia, convulsions and vomiting. It can also cause severe allergic reaction in susceptible individuals.

In summary, alum irrigation is a simple, safe, effective and well-tolerated, non-invasive option for the treatment of haemorrhagic cystitis. However, vigilance is still needed to avoid aluminium toxicity.

### Author's contributions

Conception and design, drafting of the article, provision of study materials or patients, collection and assembly of data: CCKH Critical revision and final approval of the article: CCKH, ZZ Administrative, technical or logistic support: ZZ

### Correspondence:

Christopher Ho Chee Kong Department of Surgery Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre Jalan Yaakob Latif, Bandar Tun Razak 56000 Cheras Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Tel: +603-9173 3333 ext 2316 Fax: +603-9173 7831 Email: chrisckho2002@yahoo.com Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences, Vol. 16, No. 4, October - December 2009

- 1. Perez CA. Principles and practice of radiation oncology. Philadelphia:Lippincott-Raven; 1998.
- Levenback C, Eifel PJ, Burke TW, Morris M, Gershenson DM. Hemorrhagic cystitis following radiotherapy for stage 1b cancer of the cervix. *Gynecologic Oncol* 1994; 55: 206–210.
- 3. Goel AK, Rao MS, Bhagwat AG, Vaidyanathan S, Goswami AK, Sen TK. Intravesical irrigation with alum for the control of massive bladder haemorrhage. *J Urol.* 1985;**133**:956–957.
- 4. Arrizabalaga M, Extramiana J, Parra JL, Ramos C, Diaz Gonzalez R, Leiva O. Treatment of massive haematuria with aluminium salts. *Br J Urol*. 1987;**60**:223–226.
- 5. Choong SKS, Walkden M, Kirby R. The management of intractable haematuria. *BJU Int*. 2000;**86**:951–959.
- Schoostra R, Driel MFV, Hassankhan R, Werff RVD, Oremus ETHGJ, Uges DRA, et al. The use of alum irrigation in the treatment of massive bladder haemorrhage. *Pharm Weekbl (Sci)* 1989;11(5):175–178.

# **CASE REPORT**

# Calcification of the Alar Ligament Mimics Fracture of the Craniovertebral Junction (CVJ): An Incidental Finding from Computerised Tomography of the Cervical Spine Following Trauma

# Siti Kamariah CHE MOHAMED, Azian ABD. Aziz

Department of Radiology, Kulliyyah of Medicine, International Islamic University Malaysia, 25710 Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia

Submitted: 2 Jul 2009 Accepted: 25 Aug 2009

## Abstract

When performing a radiological assessment for a trauma case with associated head injury, a fragment of dense tissue detected near the craniovertebral junction would rapidly be assessed as a fractured bone fragment. However, if further imaging and evaluation of the cervical spine with computerised tomography (CT) did not demonstrate an obvious fracture, then the possibility of ligament calcification would be considered. We present a case involving a previously healthy 44-year-old man who was admitted following a severe head injury from a road traffic accident. CT scans of the head showed multiple intracranial haemorrhages, while scans of the cervical spine revealed a small, well-defined, ovoid calcification in the right alar ligament. This was initially thought to be a fracture fragment. Although such calcification is uncommon, accident and emergency physicians and radiologists may find this useful as a differential diagnosis in patients presenting with neck pain or traumatic head injury.

Keywords: cervical spine, calcification, computerised tomography, injury, medical sciences

# Introduction

Calcification in the region of the upper cervical spine is rare, although a few cases have been reported involving calcification of the alar or transverse ligament of the atlas. The calcification usually develops as a result of traumatic injury or inflammatory disease and is especially prominent in the elderly (1–3). In patients with a history of trauma, alar ligament calcification can mimic a fracture of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ). As an uncommon normal variant, it is important for accident and emergency physicians; and radiologists, to be able to distinguish such calcification from a fracture. We present a head injury case where the calcification was only incidentally detected and was initially thought to be a fracture fragment.

# **Case Report**

A 44-year-old man who was involved in a road traffic accident (RTA) was admitted for deterioration in his level of consciousness. An urgent cranial computerised tomography (CT) scan showed a large right temporoparietal extradural haemorrhage (EDH), a left temporal hemorrhagic contusion and multiple skull vault fractures. Due to the severity of the head injuries, a CT scan of the cervical spine was also performed. A small, well-defined region of calcified tissue was detected between the odontoid tip and the right occipital condyle (Figure 1). The pre-vertebral soft tissue at the upper cervical spine was not thickened (measuring about 4.6 mm at the C2 level on the mid sagittal multiplanar reformat [MPR]). There was no indication of occipito-atlanto dissociation (the basion-dental interval measured 4.3 mm, which is within the accepted normal range) (Figure 2). The rest of the cervical spine seemed undisrupted.



**Figure 1:** Axial CT scan of the cervical spine showing a small, well-defined, high-density region located between the odontoid tip and the right occipital condyle



**Figure 2:** CT scan of the cervical spine (mid sagittal MPR) showing the basion-dens interval, which measures about 4.3 mm

In view of the RTA and severity of the head injuries, a fracture at the CVJ was initially suspected. However the origin of the fractured fragment could not be determined. On comparison with sagittal and coronal MPR images (Figure 3a & 3b), a well corticated structure (measuring about 6.5 x 3.8 x 4.0 mm) was identified between the right occipital condyle and odontoid tip. This indicated that the anomaly was a calcified structure rather than a fragment of bone. The adjacent occipital condyle, odontoid process and neural arch of the atlas showed smooth and well defined outlines. The soft tissue window (Figure 4a and 4b) showed the calcification was within the right alar ligament. Unfortunately, due to the severity of the head injuries, and despite evacuation of the intracranial haemorrhages, the patient succumbed ten days later.

# Discussion

The alar ligaments originate bilaterally from the odontoid process and run cephalad and laterally to reach the medial aspect of the occipital condyle. They are strong, rounded structures that play an important role in stabilising the head during rotary motion of the CVJ. These ligaments can be easily studied using high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) that includes a proton attenuationweighted sequence. The orientation of the alar ligaments is highly variable and asymmetry is common in asymptomatic individuals (3,4).

Calcification in the alar ligament is very rare. It usually develops with increasing prevalence after the age of 40 and tends to occur following minor trauma or as a consequence of inflammatory disease (1-3). In our case, the calcification was observed in the right alar ligament, which is similar to the findings of Sim and Park (1). They detected a nodular calcification in the periodontoid area on the initial axial CT scan performed on their patient following a severe head injury. They had also considered the possibility of a fracture involving the odontoid process (type I fracture), the occipital condyle (type III fracture) or the neural arch of the atlas at the CVJ. MPR, MRI and a 3D-CT scan of the cervical spine were performed for further evaluation of the anatomy of the calcified structure. Serial, open-mouth views and dynamic radiographs of the cervical spine demonstrated a stable cervical spine and a persistent, constant crosssection calcification. On the basis of this series of examinations, they concluded that the nodular calcification occurred in the right alar ligament and was unrelated to trauma or inflammation and, therefore, was an incidental finding (1).



**Figure 3:** MPR images (bone window) from coronal (A) and sagittal (B) CT scans depict a well-defined, calcified structure located between the right occipital condyle and tip of the odontoid process. A slight atlanto-occipital subluxation can be seen. The rest of bony structures at the craniovertebral junction are normal.



**Figure 4:** MPR images (soft tissue window) from coronal (A) and sagittal (B) CT scans show calcification along the right alar ligament. There is no evidence of surrounding soft tissue injury.

Kobayashi et al. (2) also reported calcification of the alar and transverse ligaments of the odontoid process in two patients presenting neck pain. Both patients had pharyngodynia and prior nuchal pain without previous history of trauma, and their symptoms had improved gradually with an anti-inflammatory drug therapy and neck immobilisation. CT scans revealed a nodular calcification in one patient and a poorly delineated calcified lesion surrounding the odontoid process in the other patient. Serial CT scans demonstrated that the calcifications shrank and disappeared with time. The authors assumed that the patients' symptoms could be related to an inflammatory reaction induced by deposition of calcium since secondary arthritis was not observed, and the symptoms subsided as the lesions decreased in size (2).

In our case, a cervical CT scan, performed to assess head injury, revealed a small, well-defined, ovoid of high-density tissue in the right periodontoid area along the course of the alar ligament. Initially, we also considered the possibility of it being a bone fragment, but comparison with the MPR images was helpful in ruling this out. The calcified fragment was well corticated and the surrounding bones of the CVJ were well defined. There was no convincing evidence to show that the tiny fragment originated from any of the bones of the CVJ. No cervical fracture was identified. Furthermore, there was no evidence of soft tissue injury or indications of inflammation or arthritic changes accompanying the calcification. In view of this, we concluded that there was a calcification in the right alar ligament that was unrelated to the current trauma (making it an incidental finding). Unfortunately, the patient's conditions worsened and we were not able to perform other imaging such as MRI.

From our extensive literature review, there are few case reports of focal or nodular calcification of the alar ligament; only those reported by Sim and Park (1) and Kobayashi et al. (2) were found. A condition called crowned dens syndrome, describing neck pain due to calcifications surrounding the odontoid process, has previously been reported in conjunction with calcium hydroxyapatite (HA) and calcium pyrophosphate dehydrate (CPPD) crystal deposition diseases. In CT scans, the calcifications in these instances are seen to surround the top and sides of the odontoid process in a crown or halo-like distribution and commonly affect the transverse ligament (5,6). In our case, the calcification was focal and nodular and lay along the anatomical location of the alar ligament.

In conclusion, calcification of the alar ligament should be considered as a differential diagnosis in a traumatic craniovertebral injury, and this is especially true when the origin of a fracture is not clearly identified. Proper diagnosis is important because the treatment, which is beyond the scope of this paper, differs from fracture treatment and prevents unnecessary, prolonged, external immobilisation of the neck. Having said this, fracture of odontoid process (type I) and the occipital condyle (type III) should be carefully assessed and excluded if a bony fragment is detected, particularly in of the case of trauma.

# Author's contributions

Conception and design, analysis and interpretation of data: SKCM, AAA Data collection, drafting of the article, provision of study materials and patients: SKCM

Critical revision, and final approval of the article: AAA

## Correspondence

Dr Azian Abd. Aziz MD (USM) MMed (Radiology) Department of Radiology, Kulliyyah of Medicine International Islamic University Malaysia P.O. Box 141 25710 Kuantan Pahang, Malaysia Tel: +609-571 6408 Fax: +609-514 6090 Email: drazianaziz@gmail.com

- 1. Sim KB, Park JK. A nodular calcification of the alar ligament simulating a fracture in the craniovertebral junction. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. 2006;**27(9)**:1962–1963.
- Kobayashi Y, Mochida J, Saito I, Matui S, Toh E. Calcification of the alar ligament of the cervical spine: imaging findings and clinical course. *Skeletal Radiol.* 2001;**30(5)**:295–297.
- 3. Krakenes J, Kaale BR, Rorvik J, Gilhus NE. MRI assessment of normal ligamentous structures in the craniovertebral junction. *Neuroradiology*. 2001;**43(12)**:1089–1097.
- 4. Pfirrmann CW, Binkert CA, Zanetti M, Boos N, Hodler J. MR morphology of alar ligaments and occipitoatlantoaxial joints: study in 50 asymptomatic subjects. *Radiology*. 2001;**218(1)**:133–137.
- Sato T, Hagiwara K, Sasaki M, Matsuno H, Akiyama O. Crowned dens syndrome. *Internal Med.* 2005;44 (2):160.
- 6. Wu DW, Reginato AJ, Torriani M, Robinson DR, Reginato AM. The Crowned Dens Syndrome as a Cause of Neck Pain: Report of Two New Cases and Review of the literature. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2005;**53(1)**:133–137.

# CASE REPORT

# Acute Tonsillitis With Concurrent Kikuchi's Disease as a Cause of Persistent Lymphadenopathy

Halimuddin Sawali<sup>1</sup>, Primuharsa Putra Sabir Husin Athar<sup>2</sup>, Mazita Ami<sup>1</sup>, Nor Hasni Shamsudin<sup>3</sup>, Gopalan Nair<sup>4</sup>

Submitted: 18 Feb 2009 Accepted: 30 Aug 2009

#### Abstract

We present a young adult female with symptoms of acute tonsillitis and tender cervical lymphadenopathy. Despite a full course of oral antibiotics, she had persistent left lower cervical lymphadenopathy measuring 2.0 x 1.5 cm at 2 weeks post-treatment. Rigid and flexible scope examinations did not reveal any abnormalities in the nasopharynx, oropharynx or hypopharynx. Tuberculosis tests were negative and blood index results were normal. Fine needle aspiration cytology revealed a non-specific granulomatous inflammatory process. Excisional lymph node biopsy was performed, and the patient was diagnosed as having Kikuchi's Disease (KD). We would like to highlight the diagnostic challenges in detecting this condition and the importance of differentiating KD from tuberculosis and malignant lymphoma, the latter of which requires aggressive treatment.

Keywords: histiocytic necrotizing lymphadenitis, Kikuchi disease, Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease, medical sciences

#### Introduction

Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease (histiocytic necrotizing lymphadenitis) is a benign, self-limited disease of unknown cause that often manifests with persistently enlarged cervical lymph nodes that are unresponsive to antibiotic therapy (1). The disease was first identified by Kikuchi in 1972; this condition is primarily seen in young adult women, frequently of Asian origin, and is becoming increasingly recognized worldwide (2). The incidence of Kikuchi's disease (KD) ranges from 3% to 9% of all biopsy cases of neck lymph nodes (3). Approximately 30% of KD patients are mistakenly thought to have malignant lymphoma. Therefore, it is important for clinicians and pathologists to be aware of this benign, self-limiting entity and to differentiate it from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), and carcinoma.

## Case Report

A 22-year-old female presented with a fiveday history of sore throat and fever with bilateral cervical lymph lymphadenopathy. Examination revealed a high fever of 38.5 °C, mildly enlarged inflamed tonsils and bilateral tender cervical lymphadenopathy. She was treated with a course of antibiotics for a week. She recovered well except for a persistent mobile left lower cervical lymph node measuring 2.0 x 1.5 cm, which did not regress even at 2 weeks post-treatment. There were neither other lymphadenopathies nor hepatosplenomegaly.

Investigations for tuberculosis (TB) were negative. White cell counts were normal. Fine needle aspiration cytology (FNAC) of the lymph node was suggestive of an acute granulomatous inflammatory process. Rigid nasal endoscopy and flexible nasopharyngolaryngoscopy did not reveal any abnormality in the nasopharynx or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Otorhinolaryngology - Head & Neck Surgery, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre, Jalan Yaakob Latif, Bandar Tun Razak, 56000 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ear, Nose and Throat-Head and Neck Consultant Clinic, KPJ Seremban Specialist Hospital, 70200 Seremban, Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Department of Pathology, Tuanku Jaafar Hospital, Jalan Rasah, 70300 Seremban, Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ear, Nose, Throat-Head and Neck Consultant Clinic, Lam Wah Ee Hospital, 141 Jalan Tan Sri Teh Ewe Lim, 11600 Penang, Malaysia

hypopharynx. An excisional lymph node biopsy was performed and histopathological examination reported KD (Figure 1 and Figure 2). Further blood investigations for connective tissue screening (antinuclear antibody, rheumatoid factor) were negative. Levels of complements C3 and C4 were also normal. The patient recovered well after excisional biopsy of the lymph node. It has been 8 months since the surgery and there has been no recurrence.

# Discussion

Diagnosis of KD is easily missed and readily underdiagnosed. It is more common than previously thought (4). Menasce et al. (5) performed a study in UK that reported that KD is still a poorly recognized entity and is frequently confused with malignant lymphoma. They re-examined 27 lymph node biopsies from 25 patients who were diagnosed with KD. Only three cases showed that the initial pathological diagnosis was Kikuchi disease; the most common suggested diagnosis was non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (5). Diagnosis of KD is rarely made as a provisional diagnosis until all other possible causes of cervical lymphadenopathy have been ruled out, especially in South East Asia region, where tuberculosis is endemic. In most cases, persistence of lymphadenopathy after completion of antibiotics will raise suspicion of this disease, which can only be confirmed by histopathological examination.

In this case report, KD is an incidental finding. Even though both acute tonsillitis and KD can present with cervical lymphadenitis, the presence of sore throat with inflamed tonsils favour the diagnosis of acute tonsillitis during the initial presentation. Acute tonsillitis would usually respond to a course of antibiotics, which is not the case for KD. Therefore, in this case, we postulate that KD occurred concurrently with tonsillitis.

Histologically, KD must be differentiated from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, SLE and carcinoma. It is very important to differentiate between these diseases because the treatment regimen and prognosis are specific to each condition. Based on the histology of Kikuchi disease, it can be further divided into four subtypes: lymphohistiocytic type, phagocytic type, necrotic type and foamy cell type. Kikuchi et al. (2004) reported that lymphohistiocytic and phagocytic are the more common types, which constitute more than 80% of cases; the other two types are occasionally encountered. The symptom of high-grade fever greater than 39°C is commonly seen in cases of the necrotic type (6). The typical pathology of KD permits differentiation from lymphoma, SLE, and infective lymphadenopathies (7). The classic morphology of KD includes patchy lymph node involvement centred in paracortical areas, extensive fibrinoid necrosis, absence of granulomatous reaction, and foamy histiocytes at the margins of the necrotic areas. Plasma cells are rarely noted and abundant predominantly extracellular apoptosis debris is present (8). Typical features of infiltration by blasts and histiocytes with extensive necrosis or karyorrhexis are shared with other conditions, such as malignant lymphoma, tuberculosis, and SLE (9).

The features that distinguish lymphoma from KD include the presence of cytologically bland histiocytes, absence of a prominent "starrysky" appearance, presence of predominantly extracellular "nuclear dust," absence of neutrophils, eosinophils, and plasma cells in areas of necrosis and a predominance of T immunoblasts. Reed-Stenberg cells are also not a feature of KD. Pertaining to immunohistochemical studies, CD68 highlights crescentic histiocytes and plasmacytoid monocytes, unlike non-Hodgkin lymphoma, in which it shows sheets of B or T cells. In KD, immunoblasts are negative for CD15 and positive for LCA (CD45) (8).

Histologic features of SLE lymphadenopathy may not be distinguishable on a morphologic or immunophenotypic basis alone. Presence of numerous plasma cells, DNA deposition on vessel walls and extensive areas of acellular coagulative necrosis devoid of karyorrhectic material would favour the diagnosis of SLE (8). Even though KD is rarely associated with SLE, but its diagnosis can precede, postdate or coincide with SLE because lymphadenopathy is a common presentation in both conditions and histologically may be indistinguishable between them (10).

Although the aetiology of KD is unknown at present, it has long been speculated to be of autoimmune or infectious origin (2). Possible links between KD and systemic lupus erythematosus and a nonspecific hyperimmune reaction to a variety of infections, chemical, physical, and neoplastic agents has also been proposed for its pathogenesis. As in this case, the young female patient had presented with typical symptoms of an upper respiratory tract infection that resolved with oral antibiotics; however, the left lower cervical lymph node remained persistent. Further investigations, which included FNAC of the node, TB work-up and flexible scope examination of the nasopharynx and hypopharynx did not lead to any conclusion. Excision biopsy of the node had to be carried out to



**Figure 1:** Area of focal necrosis admixed with karyorrhectic debris (Hematoxylin & Eosin, 40x magnification)



**Figure 2:** Higher magnification of karyorrhectic area composed of apoptotic bodies, foamy histiocytes and phagocytic histiocytes (Hematoxylin & Eosin, 300x magnification)

establish a KD diagnosis for this patient.

KD is a self-limiting disease; the lymphadenopathy slowly resolves after a few months. Prognosis is excellent, but about 3% of patients show recurrence of the disease within several years; one study reports this number to be 2% to 5% of cases (3). Some authors advocate the use of corticosteroids and reported faster healing responses in terms of lymphadenopathy disappearance. Meanwhile, other conditions that share similar clinical presentations, such as malignant lymphoma, SLE and tuberculosis, have specific, aggressive and prolonged treatments.

# Conclusion

KD, although rare, has become a more recognized condition since it has been reported not only in Asia, but around the world as well. This diagnosis should be seriously considered, especially in patients presenting with fever and persistent cervical lymphadenopathy. Including this disease as a differential diagnosis when histopathological examination is requested will improve early detection. By identifying KD early, expensive and extensive investigations that may lead to unnecessary treatments can be avoided.

### Author's contributions

Conception and design: MA Provision of study materials or patients: GN Collection and assembly of data, drafting of the article: HS Data analysis and interpretation: NHS Critical revision of the article: MA, PPSHA Final approval of the article: PPSHA

# Correspondence

Dr Primuharsa Putra Bin Sabir Husin Athar MD (UKM), MSurg ORL-HNS (UKM), AM (Mal) Consultant ENT-Head & Neck Surgeon KPJ Seremban Specialist Hospital Jalan Toman 1, Kemayan Square Seremban, Negeri Sembilan Malaysia Tel: 06-767 7800 ext 139 Fax: 06-765 3406 Email: putrani@yahoo.co.uk

- Norris AH, Krasinskas AM, Salhany KE, Gluckman SJ. Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease: a benign cause of fever and lymphadenopathy. *Am J Med.* 1996;101:401– 405.
- Pileri S, Kikuchi M, Helbron D, Lennert K. Histiocytic necrotizing lymphadenitis without granulocytic infiltration. *Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol.* 1982;395:257-271.
- 3. Kikuchi M, Takeshita M, Eimoto T, Iwasaki H, Minamishima Y, Maeda Y. Histiocytic necrotizing lymphadenitis: clinicopathologic, immunologic, and HLA typing study. In: Hanaoka M, Kadin ME, Mikata A, et al. editors. Lymphoid Malignancy: Immunology and Cytogenetics. New York: Field & Wood; 1990. p.251– 257.
- Ahmad Z. More on diagnosis and management of Kikuchi disease. J Clin Rheumatol. 2006;12(3):158– 159.
- 5. Menasce LP, Benarjee SS, Edmondson D, Harris M. Histiocytic necrotizing lymphadenitis (Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease): continuing diagnostic difficulties. *Histopathology*. 1998;**33(3)**:248–254.
- Kikuchi M, Ohshima K. Cervical Lymphadenopathy, Fever and Leukopenia (Histiocytic-Necrotizing Lymphadenitis or Kikuchi Disease). *Pathol Case Rev.* 2004;9(5):199–205.
- 7. Klinger M, Danter J, Siegert R, Moubayed P. Kikuchi lymphadenitis. A contribution to the differential diagnosis of cervical lymph node swelling of unknown origin. *HNO*. 1995;**43**:253–256.
- 8. Onciu M, Medeiros LJ. Kikuchi-Fujimoto Lymphadenitis. *Adv Anat Pathol*. 2003:10(4);204–211.
- Mahadeva U, Allport T, Bain B, Chan WK. Haemophagocytic syndrome and histiocytic necrotising lymphadenitis (Kikuchi's disease). *J Clin Pathol.* 2000; 58(8):636–638.
- 10. Martinez-Vazquez C, Hughes G, Bordon J, Alonso-Alonso J, Anibarro-Garcia J, Redondo-Martinez E et al. Histiocytic necrotizing lymphadenitis, Kikuchi-Fujimoto's disease, associated with systemic lupus erythemotosus. *QJM*. 1997;**90(8)**:531–533.

# LETTER TO THE EDITOR

# Non-detection of Acute Angiography-induced Cerebral Vasospasm by Transcranial Doppler Sonography amongst Patients with Subarachnoid Haemorrhage in Kelantan

#### Rozaimah JAMAL<sup>1</sup>, Mohd Shafie Abdullah<sup>2</sup>, Nik Azhar Nik Jit<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Diagnostic Imaging, Hospital Kajang, Jalan Semenyih, 43000 Kajang, Selangor, Malaysia

<sup>2</sup> Department of Radiology, School of Medical Sciences/ Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

<sup>3</sup> Department of Neurosciences, School of Medical Sciences/ Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

*Keywords:* neurosciences, neuroradiology, angiography, vasospasm

#### Dear Editor,

We conducted a study to determine the proportion of patients with spontaneous subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH) who developed cerebral vasospasm (CVS) following cerebral intraarterial digital subtraction angiography (IADSA) and to identify the angiography related risk factors that cause acute CVS following cerebral IADSA by using transcranial Doppler (TCD). A prospective study was conducted over an 18-month period from May 2007 until October 2008 at the Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia (HUSM). A total of 8 patients above 12 years of age (5 males and 3 females, mean age  $\pm$  SD: 54.1  $\pm$  13.1) who presented with spontaneous SAH and fulfilled the inclusion criteria were enrolled into this study. Intra-arterial cerebral catheter angiography, even though it is the gold standard modality for assessment of the cause of SAH, is an invasive test with potentially significant neurological complications, with 0.07% to 0.3% risk of permanent stroke and an overall 1.8% risk of systemic complication (1). In patients intracranial haemorrhage, particularly with SAH, it is very difficult to determine whether the development of the neurological complications is part of the natural course of the disease or if it is caused by the diagnostic angiographic examination, which was performed before or during the time when CVS commonly occurs. This raises the question whether cerebral angiography itself could be one of the multiple factors causing the development of CVS among patients with SAH.

This study was undertaken to evaluate whether cerebral IADSA itself is the triggering mechanism for developing CVS in patients with SAH. The TCD was done according to the technique of Aaslid (2). The patients underwent IADSA examinations and the mean blood flow velocity (mBFV) values of the bilateral middle cerebral arteries (MCA) were obtained from the non-invasive TCD examinationwhich were performed within 6 hours before ( the first TCD exam) and after (the second TCD exam) cerebral IADSA. Iso-osmolar non-ionic watersoluble iodinated contrast medium was used during the cerebral IADSA. A mBFV measurement of more than 120 cm/s during the second TCD examination was taken as indicator of angiographyinduced CVS development. None of the subjects in this study developed angiography-induced CVS based on the TCD criteria, giving the rate of 0% for CVS. When the patients were compared according to changes in mBFV before and after IADSA, there was no statistical difference in mBFV (P = 0.95and P = 0.07 for left and right MCA respectively). This study suggests that with the use of isoosmolar non-ionic contrast medium, combined with improved catheterization techniques and the application of digital technology, cerebral IADSA can be performed with a zero rate of angiographyinduced vasospasm in patients with SAH in HUSM. Thus the patients were not put at risk from the diagnostic procedures. Cerebral IADSA will continue to be an important diagnostic imaging modality in managing patients with SAH in the years to come.

To the authors' best knowledge, there is only one study with a similar methodology by Arslantas et al. (3) that has been published in the Englishlanguage literature. In that study, which was conducted in Turkey, the authors compared the changes in cerebral blood flow velocity before and after cerebral angiography by using TCD in patients with SAH undergoing IADSA. They used lowosmolar non-ionic contrast medium (CM). In that study, 30 patients underwent TCD examination immediately before and after an angiography using continuous TCD monitoring in the angiography suite. They included only SAH patients with good clinical Hunt and Hess grades (grade I, Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) 14 – 15 and grade II, GCS 12 – 13). However, they could not find a statistically significant difference between pre- and postangiography mBFV of the MCA. Also, they found no significant difference in the clinical course before and after cerebral angiography as seen by changes in GCS (4).

In our study, we used iso-osmolar non-ionic CM and performed TCD of bilateral MCA in the neurology intensive care ward within 6 hours before and after cerebral IADSA to detect any possible angiography-induced CVS. All the clinical World Federation of Neurological Surgeon Scale (WFNSS) grades were included in this study. None of the patients in this study developed CVS after IADSA within the interval between IADSA and the second TCD examination. Similarly, we also could not find significant difference between mBFV before and after IADSA in this study.

Despite its wide acceptance, TCD ultrasonography can be affected by many variables, including a hyperdynamic state on the part of the patient. It is operator-dependent and the cerebral circulation is very complex (2,5). It may be more useful to follow trends than absolute numerical results. Generally, increases of 25 to 50 cm/s/ day are considered ominous (5,6). Therefore, in future study of this kind, studying the difference in the TCD readings before and after IADSA would provide more accurate identification of acute angiography-induced CVS by TCD in patients with spontaneous SAH. The small sample size was another limitation of this study, which was due to strict patient selection criteria. A larger sample size is required for future study in order to gain a stronger degree of statistical significance. Based on the prevalence of post-angiography neurological complication of 0.3% reported by Cloft et al. (1), the sample size should include at least 30 subjects.

# Author's contributions

Conception and design, darfting of the article: RJ, MSA Data collection: NANJ Data analysis and interpretation: RJ All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

# Correspondence

Dr Rozaimah Jamal MBBS (Man), MMed (Radiology) Department of Diagnostic Imaging Hospital Kajang, Jalan Semenyih 43000 Kajang Selangor, Malaysia Tel: +603-8736 3333 (109) Fax: +603-8733 4600 Email: rozajamal@yahoo.com

- 1. Cloft HJ, Joseph GJ, Dion JE. Risk of cerebral angiography in patients with subarachnoid haemorrhage, cerebral aneurysm, and arteriovenous malformation: a meta analysis. *Stroke.* 1999;**30**:317–320.
- 2. Aaslid R. Transcranial Doppler assessment of cerebral vasospasm. *Eur J Ultrasound*. 2002;**16(1-2)**:3–10.
- 3. Arslantas A, Gucuyener D, Uzuner N, Cosan ER, Durmaz, Atasoy MA, Ozdemir G, Tel E. Assessment of cerebral blood flow velocities in pre and post angiographic states with Transcranial Doppler. *Neurol India*. 2002;**50**:459–461.
- Dawkins AA, Evans AL, Wattam J, Romanowski CAJ, Conolly DJA, Hodgson TJ, et al. Complications of cerebral angiography : a prospective analysis of 2,924 consecutive procedures. *Neuroradiology*. 2007;**49**(suppl 9):753–759.
- 5. Sorrell K, Harris B, Carpenter J, Lugo A, Wills S, Tuvell N. The role of transcranial color duplex ultrasound in endovascular treatment of cerebral vasospasm. *J Vasc Ultrasound*. 2003;**27(4)**:211–218.
- 6. Treggiari-Venzi M, Suter P, Romand J. Review of medical prevention of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a problem of neurointensive care. *Neurosurgery*. 2001;**48(2)**:249–262.

# THE MALAYSIAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

#### **Guidelines for authors**

The MJMS welcomes manuscripts on all aspects of medicine/health science from any part of the world. We are members of World Association of Medical Editors (WAME) and Council of Science Editors (CSE).

Manuscripts must be submitted in English. Manuscripts are considered for publication in MJMS with the understanding that they have not been published or submitted for publication elsewhere. The manuscript should be submitted to the Editor, Professor Jafri Malin Abdullah via Manuscript Central http:// mc.manuscriptcentral.com/maljms. Please note that at the moment, we do not accept Miscrosoft Word 2007 documents (\*.docx). Please use Ms Word's "Save As" option to save your document as an older (.doc) file type The guidelines listed below are in accordance with the Uniform Requirement for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals (October 2008 revision) of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors.

#### Forms

When submitting manuscripts, authors are required to sign the Authorship Agreement Form, Patient Consent Form (if the manuscript includes identifiable patients) and the Publication Agreement Form.

### **Types of Manuscripts**

MJMS publishes the following types of manuscripts.

Editorials (E): Brief, substantiated commentary on subjects of topical interest. Abstracts: Not required Text: Not more than 1200 words (excluding references and figure/table legends) Tables and figures: not more than 1.

References: Not more than 20

Original Article (OA): Reports of original clinical or investigative laboratory research. Abstract: Not more than 275 words

Not more than 3500 words. (excluding Text: references and figure/table legends).

Review Article (RA): A review article aims to give an overview of a particular subject suitable for a wide audience. Review articles should be recent rather than a historical review of the article on the topic.

Abstract: Unstructured Abstract not more than 275 words Not more than 4500 words (excluding Text: references and figure/table legends)

References: Not more than 80

Case Report (CR): Brief case reports of unusual interest.

Abstract:	Unstructured abstract, not more than
	175 words
Text:	Not more than 2000 words,
References:	Not more than 10
Figures and to	blas. Loss than a figures and tables

Figures and tables: Less than 3 figures and tables

Brief Communications (BC): A Brief Communication is suitable for recording the results of complete small investigations or giving details of new models or hypotheses, innovative methods, techniques or apparatus.

Abstract: Not more than 175 words Not more than 1500 words Text: Figures and tables: Not more than 3 Less than 20 References:

Special communications (SC): These manuscripts describe an important issue in clinical medicine, public health, health policy, or medical research in a scholarly, thorough, well-referenced, systematic or evidence-based manner.

Abstract:	A narrative (unstructured) abstract of
	200 words or fewer is required.
Text:	Not more than 3000 words (excluding
	tables, figures, or reference
References:	Less than 80

Letter to the Editor (LE): Comments on articles published within 6 months in MJMS or a short letter on clinical relevant findings.

Text:	Should not exceed 500 words
References:	Not more than 6 references.

Letters in reply (LR): Replies by authors

Text:	should not exceed 500 words
References:	Not more than 6

Extended abstracts (EA): Only published as supplementary issues during conferences. Extended abstracts are also peer reviewed. Authors who intend to submit extended abstracts should contact directly via e-mail at mjms.usm@gmail.com

### **Ethical requirements**

In experiments on human subjects, authors should mention whether the methods followed were in agreement with the ethical standards of the responsible committee (institutional and national) and the Declaration of Helsinki (October 2008 revision). Similarly, the use of animals in research must conform to the institutional and national guidelines.

#### Patient consent

The author must provide the Malavsian Journal of Medical Sciences with a written consent signed by the patient, or the patient's parents/legal guardian, when submitting a patient video or photograph in which a patient is identifiable (See Patient Consent Form). This form can be downloaded from our website.

#### **Style and Format**

Manuscript

Text: Use subheadings for long articles and doublespace all portions of the manuscript.

Title page

The title page should have the following information:

- i. Article title without abbreviation
- ii. Authors' names and institutional affiliations: Full names are required, indicate last name with SMALL CAPS. For example, Mohammed Ali JAMALUDDIN.
- iii. Contact information for corresponding authors. The name, address, e-mail of one author who is responsible for all communication concerning the manuscript are required.

#### Abstract

The length of abstract depends on the type of manuscript submitted. The abstract should state the purpose of the study, a brief description of the procedures employed, main findings and principal conclusions. Abbreviations, foot notes, references and subheadings should be avoided. For original articles, the abstract format is structured as background, methods, results, and conclusion. For other articles, the abstract format is unstructured.

**Keywords:** Authors must provide between three and six keywords that characterize the main topics of the article. Use recognized vocabularies related to the discipline discussed, such as the MeSH thesaurus http://www.nlm. nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html. We encourage the use of synonyms for terms provided in the article title, this is to aid database searches.

#### Tables

Tables must be numbered sequentially and in the order in which they are mentioned in the text. Tables must have brief descriptive title. Preferably, tables must be prepared according to the guides in Chicago Manual of Style.

## Figures

Figures must be numbered sequentially and in the order in which they are mentioned in the text. Figure legends are needed for all figures. Grayscale and color artwork should have a minimum resolution of 300 dpi.

#### Videos

We also welcome submission of short videos as supplementary file. Videos may be useful for demonstrating complex laboratory, surgical or medical procedures. The demonstration of the experiment must be shown in orderly fashion, including a demonstration of quipment and reagent. Researchers should be properly attired when handling animals, reagents and chemicals. Each video file must be under 5 minutes. We accept .mov, .avi, .swf formats.

The video should make a specific point; particularly, it should demonstrate the features described in the text of the manuscript.

Special effects or text are not permitted to be inserted in the video. Unfortunately, we do not do video editing and production.

#### Reference

References should be numbered consecutively in the order in which they are first mentioned in the text (citation-sequence)—the Vancouver style. Identify references in text, tables and legends by Arabic numerals in parentheses. For formatting end references, we recommend following the guidelines of the Council of Science Editors (CSE) which can be accessed through http://library.duke.edu/research/citing/workscited/

#### Journal article

The titles of journal should be abbreviated according to the style used in http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/ent rez?Db=journals&Cmd=DetailsSearch&Term=currently indexed[All] or http://www.efm.leeds.ac.uk/~mark/ ISIabbr/A\_abrvjt.html

Theriault A, Caao JT, Gapor A. Tocotrienol is the most effective vitamin E for reducing endothelial expression of adhesion molecule and adhesion to monocytes. *Atherosclerosis.* 2002; **160**:21-30.

If there are more than six authors, list the first six authors and use "et al." for the subsequent authors.

#### Books

Author surname Initials. Title of book. # ed. [if not 1st]. Place of publication. Publisher's name; Year of publication.

Carlson BM. Human embryology and developmental biology. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. St Louis: Mosby; 2004.

### **Online article**

Journal articles in electronic format: Author(s) suname Initials. Title of article. Abbreviated title of journal. Year of publication

Reid R, Bulusu R, Buckels J, Carroll N, Eatock M, Geh I et al. Guidelines for the management of gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs). Sept 2005. [Internet]. Available from:http://www.augis. org/news/articles/gist%20mngmnt%20gdlns%20 071205%20final.pdf

For other forms of reference, please refer to the National Library of Medicine http://www.nlm.nih.gov/pubs/ formats/recommendedformats.html

### Editing

A manuscript may be corrected for length, grammatical correctness, sentence structure and journal style Accepted manuscripts are edited in accordance with the CSE Manual of Style, 7th edition and Chicago Manual of Style 15th edition.

The final proof of the manuscript will be sent to the corresponding author for final checking. The author

should not make any changes to the contents of the manuscript at this stage.

#### **Editorial policies for authors**

Authors are required to sign the Authorship Form when submitting a manuscript to MJMS. In addition, authors are required to identify their contributions to the work described in the manuscript. If requested to see the original data, authors must provide the data and must cooperate in obtaining and providing the data on which the manuscript is based.

#### **Conflicts of Interest and Financial Disclosures**

A conflict of interest may arise when an author (or the author's institution or employer) has financial or personal relationships that could influence the author's decisions, work, or manuscript. All authors are required to disclose all potential conflicts of interest, including specific financial interests and relationships and affiliations (other than those affiliations listed in the title page of the manuscript) relevant to the subject of their manuscript. Please refer to the Authorship Agreement Form.

Authors are expected to provide detailed information about all relevant financial interests and relationships or financial conflicts within the past 5 years and for the foreseeable future, particularly those present at the time the research was conducted and through publication, as well as other financial interests (such as patent applications in preparation), that represent potential future financial gain. Authors may do so in the covering letter submitted via Manuscript Central.

#### Funding/Support and Role of Sponsor

All financial and material support for the research and the work should be clearly and completely identified in an Acknowledgment section of the manuscript. The specific role of the funding organization or sponsor in each of the following should be specified: "design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; and preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript.

- 1. Council of Science Editors, Scientific Style and Format. The CSE Manual for Authors, Editors and Publishers. 7th ed. Reston (VA): The Council; 2006.
- 2. The Chicago Manual of Style. 15th ed. 2003.
- 3. ICMJE Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals: Writing and Editing for Biomedical Publication [Internet] Available from: http://www.icmje.org/

THE MALAYSIAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

### **AUTHORSHIP AGREEMENT FORM**

Date :\_\_\_\_\_ Manuscript title :\_\_\_\_\_

The completed forms must be mailed to the Editor, Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences, USM Press, c/o School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Kubang Kerian, 16150 Kota Bharu, Malaysia or faxed to +609 7656532.

# ETHICAL REQUIREMENT

The authors attest that full and informed consent was obtained from human subjects and that the work was performed in accordance with the humane and ethical principles of research outlined in the Helsinki guidelines. In countries where institutional review is established, this statement also attests to the approval of that institution of the protocol for all aspects of the investigation presented in a manuscript involving humans or animals.

## CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND FINANCIAL SUPPORT

The undersigned authors agree that any financial interests that exist for individual contributors in connection with this manuscript have been disclosed in the covering letter submitted through Manuscript Central. Sources of financial support of the project are named in the covering letter as well as in the Acknowledgements.

# **DUPLICATE PUBLICATIONS**

The undersigned Author(s) certify that neither this manuscript nor one with substantially similar content under their authorship has been published or being considered for publication elsewhere in any language. They also certify that any previous presentations of this paper in meetings are mentioned in the covering letter.

### AUTHORSHIP

Author(s) attest that all persons designated as authors qualify for authorship and all those who qualify are listed. All others who contributed to the work but are not authors (if any) are named in the Acknowledgements of the manuscript.

In the space marked "Contribution Codes", authors should mark those code letters from the box that designate their own substantive contribution(s) to the paper.

Names of all authors

Contribution codes*	Author's Name	Signature

# **Contribution codes**

- A: Conception and design
- B: Analysis and interpretation of the data
- C: Drafting of the article
- D: Critical revision of the article for important intellectual content
- E: Final approval of the article
- F: Provision of study materials or patients
- G: Statistical expertise
- H: Obtaining of funding
- I: Administrative, technical, or logistic support
- J: Collection and assembly of data

Volume 16, No. 4

# THE MALAYSIAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

### PATIENT CONSENT FORM

I give my permission for the following material to appear in the print and online versions of the Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences. The completed forms must be mailed to the Editor, Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences, USM Press, c/o School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Kubang Kerian, 16150 Kota Bharu, Malaysia or faxed to +609 7656532

Title or subject of article, photograph or video:

I understand that my name will not be published but that complete anonymity cannot be guaranteed.

Please check the appropriate box below after reading each statement.

I have read the manuscript or a general description of what the manuscript contains and reviewed all photographs, illustrations, or video files (if included) in which I am included that will be published. or I have been offered the opportunity to read the manuscript and to see all photographs, illustrations,

I have been offered the opportunity to read the manuscript and to see all photographs, illustrations, or video files (if included) in which I am included, but I waive my right to do so.

Signature of patient or guardian	:	
Name	:	
Date	:	



#### **Copyright Transfer Form**

The Universiti Sains Malaysia Press ("USM Press") is pleased to undertake the publication of your work tentatively entitled

	(the "Contribution")
in its publication	(the "Publication").

You, the undersigned individual(s), will retain copyright to the Contribution as author(s); and you grant us, as publisher, the limited rights detailed below, which are expressly conditioned on the terms of this agreement.

We both acknowledge that a static agreement may not be able to contemplate all possible licensing arrangements, technologies or future developments, and therefore we both agree to cooperate in good faith to achieve our mutual goals of maximizing dissemination of your Contribution while ensuring the sustainability of scholarly publishing.

Accordingly, we submit the following terms of publication for your consideration.

#### 1. License grant.

You grant to USM Press a worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive license to:

(i) reproduce, publicly display, publicly perform and distribute the Contribution in the Publication; (ii) authorise third party users of the Publication in electronic or digital (or other intangible) form to download and print out copies of the Contribution for their personal or internal institutional use; (iii) authorize others to reproduce, publicly display, publicly perform and distribute the Contribution as part of the Publication through any distribution channels and in any media or format through which USM Press may distribute or make available substantially all the contents of the Publication; and (iv) deposit with or otherwise make the Contribution available to digital repositories as required by your funding sources upon your request.

The above rights may be exercised in all media and formats, whether now known or hereafter devised, [and in all languages] in which the Publication as a whole (or substantially all its contents) may be distributed, whether or not the Contribution may be individually or partially accessed or retrieved. The above rights include the right to edit [and translate] the Contribution and to make such modifications as are technically necessary or desirable to exercise these rights in differing media and formats.

#### 2. Exclusive rights.

You grant to USM Press the worldwide, royalty-free, exclusive right to first publish the Contribution.

#### 3. Author Rights.

You retain the rights to (i) reproduce and distribute a reasonable number of copies of any version of the Contribution, including but not limited to the published version, or portions or derivative works thereof, in the course of your teaching, research, conference presentations and similar professional, scientific, or academic activities (but not permit commercial publication or widespread distribution of the Contribution or any significant portion or derivative work thereof); (ii) post or otherwise make any version of the Contribution, or portions or derivative works thereof, available on your personal web site; and (iii) [if and as required by your employing institution(s) or your funding source(s),] make any version of the Contribution available on digital repositories; provided in each case [acronym/abbreviation] (and Publication) is cited as the first/forthcoming publisher of the Contribution and you accurately distinguish any modified version of the Contribution from that published or to be published by us.

#### 4. Editing.

USM Press will make no material modification to the content of the Contribution without your consent. The Contribution will also be subjected to editing for language clarity and conciseness, should we deemed it necessary. However, if you fail to return the edited manuscript or proofs of the Contribution by the reasonable deadline set by us, you will be deemed to have consented to that modified version.

#### 5. Credit.

USM Press agrees to make commercially reasonable efforts to include (and require its sublicensees to include) appropriate credit to the author(s) in customary placement with every copy or use of the Contribution as described in Sections 1 and 2.

#### 6. Warranties.

You warrant that (i) you are the creator of the Contribution or otherwise have the rights necessary to grant the licenses granted to USM Press herein; and (ii) the Contribution contains no material that infringes or violates any intellectual property or contractual rights of others or that constitutes defamation or invasion of privacy. The foregoing warranties apply only to the Contribution in the form submitted by you to USM Press, and not to any modifications or additions made by USM Press, reviewers or other third parties.

#### 7. Termination.

If we do not publish the Contribution in the Publication within [twelve (12)] months following submission of the Contribution, extended to the extent of any delays caused by you, you may terminate this agreement and the licenses granted to us hereunder by providing us with written notice of termination, unless we publish the Contribution within [three (3)] months following receipt of such notice. Such termination of this agreement will be your exclusive remedy for any failure by us to publish the Contribution.

#### 8. Miscellaneous.

This agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties and will be governed by the laws of the State of [state], without reference to its conflicts of laws principles. This agreement can only be modified by an agreement in writing signed by the parties. This agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including, without limitation, by facsimile or .pdf signature) each of which will be deemed an original and all of which will be taken together and deemed to be one instrument. USM Press may assign this agreement in connection with a sale of the Publication or a sale, merger or reorganization of our organization.

If the foregoing terms are acceptable, please sign and date this agreement. All joint authors must sign. Please return the original to USM Press immediately and retain a copy for your records.

Corresponding author name (print or type):Author signature:	Date:	
Address:		
Joint author name (print or type):		
Author signature:	Date:	
Joint author name (print or type):		
Author signature:	Date:	
Joint author name (print or type):		
Author signature:	Date:	
Joint author name (print or type):		
Author signature:	Date:	
Joint author name (print or type):		
Author signature:	Date:	
Joint author name (print or type):		
Authorsignature:	Date:	